

RESEARCH PROGRAMME 2030



Riga 2025

FOREWORD

The global society faces environmental, social and economic challenges such as tackling climate change, efficient health systems, assessing the new alleys and inherent risks posed by the explosive development of artificial intelligence, the well-being and security problems, strengthening economic competitiveness, and creating jobs.

2024 was a year full of upheavals. The continuing war in Ukraine, the Middle East conflicts, China-Taiwan tensions, the outcome of the United States election, natural disasters remind us every day that our world is increasingly unstable and that predicting the future is becoming more and more difficult.

An increased focus on research in different defence-related technologies is expected in multiple technologies related to artificial intelligence and the rising dominance of drone warfare: sensors, secure communications, lasers, computer control, robotics, artificial intelligence etc. Research and development of dual-use technologies for both military and civilian security will be intensified.

This puts an additional focus on research fields, helping to reduce the dependence on fossil fuel energy and different raw materials (like rare earths, lithium etc.) imported from non-reliable or belligerent foreign suppliers. With a rapid development of solar and wind energy, energy storage diversity, like batteries and hydrogen-based technologies, become increasingly important.

New materials are the key to many global challenges. To tackle them, researchers must be able to develop advanced and sustainable materials with the required properties, to improve the recyclability of materials, reduce their carbon and environmental footprint and make sure that a wide community of users will be able to capitalize on them. The materials development cycle ending with components used in real applications is long and entails steps such as theory and modelling, the appropriate technology for obtaining them, characterization, up-scaling and engineering, including industrial environments, and driving cross-sectorial industrial innovation by supporting new applications in all industry sectors. To succeed, there is a need for research-innovation ecosystem with advanced research infrastructure and modern technological facilities.

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
FOREWORD	2
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
General information about ISSP UL	4
Strategic research areas	4
I. MATERIALS FOR PHOTONIC DEVICES	4
III. MICROFLUIDICS AND BIOMEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES.	7
RESEARCH PROGRAMME	8
Materials for photonics and electronics	8
Polymer photonics integrated platform and quantum photonics	8
Non-linear optical effects, materials and devices	12
Oplically active delects in silicon dioxide	20
Electroluminescence and organic light-emitting diodes	20
Light amplification and organic solid-state lasers	29
Novel materials for luminescence dosimetry	33
Electronic processes and charge transfer mechanisms in luminescent materials	38
X-ray absorption spectroscopy using synchrotron lightsources	42
Novel lead-free and low-dimensional ferroelectric materials	46
Persistent Luminescence Materials	51
Ultra-wide bandgap semiconductor technologies	54
Analysis of paramagnetic defect structure in functional materials	58 62
Phase retrieval methods for adaptive optics, imaging and photonics	67
Advanced materials for energy	72
Materials for batteries	72
Hydrogen energy	77
Organic and hybrid photovoltaics	81
Novel Thermoelectric Materials	84
Microfluidics and biomedical technologies	89
Microfluidic devices	89
Centres targeting excellence	95
Open-access research infrastructure	95
I heoretical material science and modelling	96
Spectroscopy techniques for advanced materials research	101
Morphology and structure	100
	109

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Motto: Thinking together is a progress and working together is a success

GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT ISSP UL

The Institute of Solid-State Physics University of Latvia (ISSP UL) is an internationally recognized leader in material sciences and cross- disciplinary topics in Baltic Sea Region. Its scientific capacity and the research and innovation ecosystem are currently being further developed through EC Teaming project "The Centre of Advanced and Material Research and Technology Transfer" (CAMART²) – (2017-2025). ISSP UL aims to transfer excellence in materials science and solid-state physics into innovative products, processes and services.

ISSP UL **Vision** is to be a world-class recognized Excellence Centre – an outstanding place for research and innovation.

ISSP UL **Mission** is to create a dynamic environment for solutions of global societal and technological challenges, strengthening the role of Latvian and European science in the world.

STRATEGIC RESEARCH AREAS

The main efforts in future advanced material studies at ISSP UL are specified in **three Strategic Research Areas**:

- Materials for photonic devices,
- Advanced materials for energy,
- Microfluidics and biomedical technologies

I. MATERIALS FOR PHOTONIC DEVICES

Polymer photonics integrated platform and quantum photonics.

Focus on:

- To create a set of standard modules that can be used to design and fabricate sensors, light sources/emitters, modulators, processors with high reproducibility.
- To develop integration of photonic platform with electronic and microfluidic devices to provide applications needed in most of the societal challenges: health, wellbeing, security, ICT, environment.
- To develop structures for edge and grating couplers.

Nonlinear optical (NLO) materials. Focus on:

- Basic understanding of third order and second-order NLO effects in organic materials.
- Development of Kerr effect evaluation through Quantum Chemical Calculations (QCC).
- Innovative approaches for development of materials for advanced All -Optica Devices.

Materials for low-loss optical fiber waveguides.

Focus on:

- The studies of factors limiting transparency of SiO₂ glass in ultraviolet, deep-ultraviolet and vacuum-ultraviolet spectral regions. This research is especially important in the context of developing wide spectral range and radiation/solarization-resistant optical fibers, which are required for analytical, medical, nuclear energy-fusion diagnostics and space applications.
- The studies of the effects of densification of silica on defect creation.

0D, 1D, 2D and mixed-dimensional nanomaterials.

Focus on:

- Photochromic, thermochromic, electrochromic advanced materials; technologies for fabrication of low_cost thin-film SW and chromogenic devices.
- Integrated over robot body discreate miniaturized proximity sensors together with tactile sensors.
- Development of 1D core-shell nanowire heterostructures with superconducting shell for quantum/optoelectronic applications.
- Nanomechanical experiment on smart actuation materials like pure VO2 and core-shell NWs.

Luminescent materials.

Focus on:

- The radio- and photoluminescence research of prospective scintillator materials as ZnO:In and ZnO:Ga..
- The research of materials for the luminescence dosimetry will be concentrate on Al₂O₃ based materials, AlN and wide gap dielectrics.

X-Ray Absorption Spectroscopy.

Focus on:

- The development of novel methodologies based on machine learning methods, enabling faster material simulations, decision-making, and real-time experiment control and their application to the study of smart and high-entropy materials.
- Combined with theoretical structure prediction tools based on ab initio quantum chemistry, such EXAFS experiments will accelerate exploring materials, such as thermochromic, electrochromic, photocatalytic and others for photonics applications, and discovery and enhance understanding of their properties.
- The study of materials under extreme conditions, such as ultra-high pressures and temperatures, what offers a path to discovering new materials not possible with conventional methods.
- The VUV excitation spectroscopy under synchrotron radiation is a powerful toll for the study of optical and luminescence properties of wide bandgap materials.

Surface-enhanced Raman Scattering (SERS).

Focus on:

- Replacing traditional FIB technology for production nanostructured SERS substrates by introducing sample under test into hollow core optical fiber.
- Application of SERS in other domains like microfluidic devices for targeted measurements of specific contaminants.

Ultra-wide bandgap semiconductors.

Focus on:

• The development of novel solar-blind far-UV light photodetector based on amorphous Aluminium Gallium Oxide (AlGaO).

Organic solid-state lasers and organic light- emitting diodes.

Focus on:

- Influence of metal nanoparticle surface plasmon resonance on amplified spontaneous emission (ASE) threshold values in organic materials.
- Investigation of organic NIR emitters with advanced characteristics, thus such properties could increase the applications of lasers in telecommunication, bioimaging and lab-on-chip.
- Developing the methods of depositing OLED on flexible substrate to broaden OLED applications.

Phase retrieval methods for adaptive optics, imaging and photonics.

Focus on:

- Development of computationally effective phase retrieval algorithms for optical applications, including holography, vision research and photonics.
- Implementation of novel type of wavefront sensors foreseen for biomedicine and astronomy.

II. ADVANCED MATERIALS FOR ENERGY

Theoretical material science and modelling.

Focus on:

- Modelling materials for renewable energetics.
- Nanomaterials for water splitting and hydrogen production.
- Heterojunction photocatalysts for green hydrogen production by means of DFT supportedgenerative machine learning.
- Cathode materials and proton conductors for fuel cells transforming chemical energy into electricity. Modelling functional materials for the fusion reactors exposed to an intensive radiation and high temperatures.
- Dynamic self-sssembly of materials under harsh radiation conditions.

Materials for batteries.

Focus on:

- Electrodes for Li-ion /Na-ion batteries and supercapacitors.
- Active electrode materials; Inert protective coatings;
- Conductive additives and Ionic liquid-based electrolytes.
- Low temperature Ionic-liquid-based Li-ion battery cells.
- Commercial battery cells (performance vs. temperature, C-rate, etc.).

Hydrogen.

Focus on:

- Innovative catalyst and its regeneration for clean hydrogen production via methane pyrolysis.
- Aluminum recycling and related hydrogen production.
- Hydrogen sensing and quantification, Polymer membranes.

Organic and hybrid photovoltaics.

Focus on:

- Development of ternary organic solar cells.
- Development of hybrid chalcogenide/ organic tandem solar cells

Novel Thermoelectric Materials.

Focus on:

- Development of organic-inorganic hybrid system thin films for thermoelectricity;
- Development of Thermoelectric generators on a flexible substrate.

Thin film and coating technologies.

Focus on:

- Development of industrially scalable technologies for fabrication of low-cost thin film "smart windows (SW)" and chromogenic devices.
- electrochromic, photochromic, thermochromic, transparent conducting materials roll-to-roll (R2R) magnetron sputtering system.
- Study the photochromic mechanism with the aim to optimize photochromic parameters, and to reduce degradation of material caused by humidity.
- Producing and study of RE-doped YHO films and multilayer coatings, including large-area coatings on polymer substrates produced using the R2R process.
- Testing of large area photochromic films in different geographical locations across Europe.

Ultra-wide bandgap semiconductors.

Focus on:

- Development the first spinel rear earth-abundant and non-critical oxide materials power electronics technology platform.
- Elaboration of UWBG ZnGa2O4, MgGa2O4 and MgAl2O4 spinel epilayers with electronic properties required for their application in beyond the state-of-the-art high-power (> 6-10 kV) rectifiers and metal oxide semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOSFET) devices.
- Development of vacuum thin film deposition technologies for the stable deposition of gallium oxide (Ga₂O₃) and ZnGa₂O₄ thin films by reactive pulsed-DC magnetron sputtering from a liquid Ga target.

Novel lead-free and low-dimensional ferroelectric materials.

Focus on:

- Development of novel functional ferroelectrics and low-dimensional structures for flexible sensors, and energy harvesting.
- Study of zero-, one-, and two-dimensional ferroelectrics, such as $CuInP_2S_6$ thin films and nanoflakes, aiming to optimize polarization switching and piezoelectric properties.
- Analysis of influence of core-shell structure on physical properties (impedance, domain structure, resistance to electrical breakdown, and fatigue.
- Advancements in both high-tech and biomedical sectors while promoting innovation in ecofriendly, lead-free ferroelectrics.

III. MICROFLUIDICS AND BIOMEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES.

Prototyping of microfluidic devices.

Focus on:

• State Research Programme "Innovation Fund Long-Term Research Programme" Project "Biomedical and Photonics Research Platform for Creating Innovative Products" (**BioPhotT**).

- Development an Organ-on-Chip (OoC) a microfluidic device that can model the biology of human organs to advance biomedical research and drug development.
- Development of multiple models supporting necessary design changes, including sensor integration (TEER, O₂, CO₂, pH) and membrane engineering to support 3D cell arrangements.
- Dedvelopment of TEER sensors correlating TEER values with tight junction protein expression in gut-on-chip models and a novel biomaterial test bed recapitulating a rodent calvarial critical-size defect model in an OoC platform.

Materials for biomedical applications.

Focus on:

- Biomarker research of extracelluar vesicle (EV) technology for cancer diagnostics and treatment.
- Development of new low temperature synthesis methods for doped carbonate/phosphate materials for biomedical applications and comprehensive characterization of the obtained materials, based on persistent luminescence observed under different types of excitations (UV visible light, X-rays etc.).
- Evolve studies of transprent conducting coatings with antimicrobial properties: W03/Cu/W03, Zn0/Cu/Zn0.

RESEARCH PROGRAMME

We are making progress

Research Programme is a dynamic, regularly updated document which serves as a supporting roadmap for the Intstitutes **Research Strategy**.

The current **Research Programme 2030** includes updates of a few **Research domains** to explore new innovative and interdisciplinary fields of science, defined at **national level** as **RIS3** areas:

- "Photonics, smart materials, innovative products and technologies".
- "Biomedicine and biotechnology".

At **international level**, the **Research Programme**, and the corresponding **Domains** within it, addresses the scientific, research and innovation challenges aligning with **Horizon Europe** and **EURATOM Programme**, and in sustainable outlook with **FP10 Programme 2028-2034**.

The outline of each **Research Domain** is organized according to the progress in each of the subsections - "State of the art", "Our position", "Future activities", "Networking", and "References".

The following sections provide description of the 24 research domains.

MATERIALS FOR PHOTONICS AND ELECTRONICS

POLYMER PHOTONICS INTEGRATED PLATFORM AND QUANTUM PHOTONICS

State of the art

Integrated circuits are essential parts of almost all modern technologies from personal computers, medical devices to cars and spacecrafts. Much of the functionality of these electrical components can be replaced with photonic components to create photonic integrated circuits, which use light instead of electrons. Higher speed, lower energy consumption and greater bandwidth are just a few advantages as compared to conventional circuits.

In the last couple of decades, huge effort has been put into the development of photonics platforms based on various materials such as Si, Si₃N₄, InP, LiNbO₃, GaAs and others. Only few of them (Si, Si₃N₄, InP) have

turned into eco-systems resembling semiconductors industry of design house, foundries, fabless companies and multi project wafer (MPW) services of photonics integrated circuits (PICs). Silicon photonics is the dominant mostly due to compatibility with CMOS process and MPW services are offered by multiple parties: IMEC, CEA-LETI, IHP, AIM Photonics and others. Silicon nitride photonics is gaining ground owing to the broad wavelength range starting from visible wavelengths allowing applications also in biophotonics among tele/Datacom and optical signal processing. MPW services of silicon nitride photonics are provided by IMEC, CEA-LETI, LionX, IMB-CNM and others [1]. InP allows possibility to implement both active and passive devices on a single chip. MPW services of InP PICs are provided by Smart Photonics and Fraunhofer HHI [2]. While various photonic platforms have matured to industrial level, they still have numerous challenges including limits set by material properties, expensive fabrication and complicated hybrid integration.

Polymer materials provide numerous advantages over semiconductor and oxide/nitride platforms:

- 1) Combination of passive and active elements [3];
- 2) Integration of other elements for hybrid and heterogeneous platform;
- 3) Losses;
- 4) Wide wavelength range [6];
- 5) Multilayer structure [7];
- 6) Applications [8-10].

Polymer Photonics Technology Platform offers standardized polymer photonic device preparation methods to academia and industry. This system is based on three main parts: computational simulations of optical devices, materials and element fabrication workflow, and producible photonic elements.

Fabrication methods are separated into three groups: passive element fabrication, active element fabrication, and optical coupling elements. Since all waveguides are in size over one micron, conventional photolithography will be used to define structures. Both direct development and dry etching is used to produce passive elements. Straight sidewalls are offered to minimize losses.

Photonic elements (waveguides, power splitters, directional couplers, frequency filters, MMI couplers, passive cladding, active cladding, resonators, photonic crystals, grating couplers, edge couplers) are based on selected materials and fabrication workflows a library of basic photonic elements has been compiled including specific design rules for each element.



Passive elements and active elements

Single-photon and correlated photon pair sources are critical components in quantum technologies, such as quantum cryptography, quantum computing, and quantum communication. These sources enable secure data transmission and computational processes that rely on the properties of individual photons, such as superposition and entanglement. The search for efficient, tunable, and scalable single-photon sources has brought organic materials to the forefront, thanks to their unique optical properties, ease of synthesis, and tunability.

Organic molecules have shown significant promise in single-photon and correlated photon pair generation due to their high quantum efficiency, tunable emission wavelengths, and ease of integration into diverse platforms. Organic molecules such as fluorescent dyes like, DBT, TBT, TDI etc. [14] are particularly promising for single-photon emission due to their well-defined excited states and ability to emit photons

upon excitation. When a single organic molecule is excited by a laser, it can undergo radiative decay, resulting in the emission of a single photon. This property makes organic molecules ideal candidates for single-photon sources that can operate at room temperature, a significant advantage over other systems such as quantum dots and color centers in diamond, which often require cryogenic conditions for efficient operation.

Correlated photon pair sources are essential for generating entangled photon pairs, a key resource in quantum cryptography and quantum teleportation. Entangled photons exhibit non-classical correlations, meaning that the measurement of one photon's state directly influences the state of its entangled partner, no matter how far apart the two photons are. Organic materials have shown potential in generating correlated photon pairs through processes such as spontaneous parametric down-conversion (SPDC) and four-wave mixing (FWM). Polymers like poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) and polycarbonate have been used in waveguides and microcavities to enhance the efficiency of SPDC. These polymers are often doped with nonlinear organic dyes to increase their optical nonlinearity. Additionally, organic crystals like DAST (4-N,N-dimethylamino-4'-N'-methyl-stilbazolium tosylate) [15] have been utilized for their strong nonlinear coefficients, allowing for efficient photon pair generation in compact devices. The use of organic materials in SPDC-based photon pair sources has the potential to make entangled photon sources more scalable and integrable into quantum communication systems.

Our position

Laboratory of Organic Materials has vast experience regarding third-order nonlinear optical organic material studies [16,17], optical gain materials as well as the expertise in polymer thin-film fabrication. In last year's research has also shifted towards photonic device designing and fabrication leading to demonstration of organic electro-optical switches [18] and all-optical gas sensor [19].

Standard workflows for optical lithography and mask aligner have been established allowing to create SU-8 structures down to 1 um. Further look in collaborations with chemists and biologists regarding polymer sensor development for specific applications will be performed.

COMSOL software packets are available and a team responsible for simulations is being established. First works regarding simulations of polymer waveguide sensors based on lossy-mode resonance have been published.

We are also working on photonic device fabrication using dry etching, EBL, and trench structures.

In parallel to element fabrication composite photoresists were developed which consisted of photoresist and nanoparticles to improve photonic element fabrication with organic materials. [20]

Recently Laboratory of Organic materials has started quantum photonic s scientific direction. Previously investigation nonlinear optical organic compounds and organic laser compounds could be used in quantum photonics. Moreover, quantum photonics could be combined with the Polymer Photonic Platform. One of the strong positions is collaboration with chemist groups that allow to design and synthesise new materials for single photon and entangled photon sources.

Future activities

The aim of the photonics platform is to offer a modular set of elements, repeatable technologies and materials needed to create photonic elements for wide range of applications. Ultimate goal is to create a set of standard modules that can be used to design and fabricate sensors, light sources/emitters, modulators, processors with high reproducibility, predictable budget and time. Photonic platform should be integrated with electronics and microfluidics to provide applications needed in most of the societal challenges: health, wellbeing, bioeconomy, security, ICT, environment.

Special attention will be given to structures for edge and grating couplers. In case of edge coupling, light is coupled in and out from the waveguide from its facet using a fibre. This technique usually requires optical quality facets for high coupling efficiencies. This technique not only allows high efficiency, but also broad bandwidth and polarization independence. Disadvantages include larger footprint than grating couplers, fixed coupling positions, and requirement for edge polishing [21]. To increase coupling efficiency facet couplers our team can offer facet polishing, specific taper designing, on-chip groove etching for fibre alignment and optimal coupling angle calculations. We have developed a procedure for waveguide polishing and fiber attachment to waveguide facets, but this procedure needs further optimization to yield lower coupling losses.

Networking

Latvia:

- Riga Technical University, prof. Valdis Kokars, assoc. prof. Kaspars Traskovskis, prof. Sandis Spolitis;
- University of Latvia, assoc. prof. Jānis Alnis.

Abroad:

- Italy: University of Trento, prof. Lorenzo Pavezi;
- France: University of Technology of Troyes, prof. Christophe Couteau.

References

- 1. P. Muñoz, G. Micó, L. A. B. Id, D. Pastor, D. Pérez, J. D. Doménech, J. Fernández, R. Baños, B. G. Id, R. Alemany, A. M. Sánchez, J. M. Cirera, R. Mas, and C. Domínguez, "Silicon Nitride Photonic Integration Platforms for Visible, Near-Infrared and Mid-Infrared Applications," Sensors 2017, **17**(9), 2088.
- 2. R. Doerr, "Silicon photonic integration in telecommunications," Front. Phys. **3**, 1–16 (2015).
- 3. Arivuoli, "Fundamentals of nonlinear optical materials," Pramana J. Phys. 57, 871–883 (2001).
- 4. T. C. Sum, A. A. Bettiol, J. A. Van Kan, F. Watt, E. Y. B. Pun, K. K. Tung, T. C. Sum, A. A. Bettiol, J. A. Van Kan, and F. Watt, "Proton beam writing of low-loss polymer optical waveguides Proton beam writing of low-loss polymer optical waveguides," **1707**, 2001–2004 (2014).
- 5. Yeniay, R. Gao, K. Takayama, R. Gao, A. F. Garito, and A. Single-mode, "Ultra-Low-Loss Polymer Waveguides," 22, 154–158 (2004).
- 6. Y. Zhao, W. Lu, Y. Ma, S. Kim, S. T. Ho, Y. Zhao, W. Lu, Y. Ma, S. Kim, and S. T. Ho, "Polymer waveguides useful over a very wide wavelength range from the ultraviolet to infrared," **2961**, 1–4 (2000).
- M. Kleinert, M. Nuck, H. Conradi, D. De Felipe, M. Kresse, W. Brinker, C. Zawadzki, N. Keil, and M. Schell, "A platform approach towards hybrid photonic integration and assembly for communications, sensing, and quantum technologies based on a polymer waveguide technology," 2019 IEEE CPMT Symp. Japan, ICSJ 2019 25–30 (2019).
- 8. Marinins, O. Ozolins, X. Pang, A. Udalcovs, J. R. Navarro, A. Kakkar, R. Schatz, G. Jacobsen, and S. Popov, "Thermal Reflow Engineered Cylindrical Polymer Waveguides for Optical Interconnects," IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. **30**, 447–450 (2018).
- 9. Hu, L. Li, H. Lin, P. Zhang, W. Zhou, and Z. Ma, "Flexible integrated photonics: where materials, mechanics and optics meet [Invited]," Opt. Mater. Express **3**, 1313 (2013).
- 10. M. H. M. Salleh, A. Glidle, M. Sorel, J. Reboud, and J. M. Cooper, "Polymer dual ring resonators for label-free optical biosensing using microfluidics," Chem. Commun. **49**, 3095–3097 (2013).
- 11. S. M. Garner, J. S. Cites, M. He, and J. Wang, "Polysulfone as an electro-optic polymer host material," Appl. Phys. Lett. **84**, 1049–1051 (2004).

- 12. G. Woyessa, A. Fasano, C. Markos, H. K. Rasmussen, and O. Bang, "Low Loss Polycarbonate Polymer Optical Fiber for High Temperature FBG Humidity Sensing," IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. **29**, 575–578 (2017).
- 13. Burratti, F. De Matteis, M. Casalboni, R. Francini, R. Pizzoferrato, and P. Prosposito, "Polystyrene photonic crystals as optical sensors for volatile organic compounds," Mater. Chem. Phys. **212**, 274–281 (2018).
- 14. Moses B. Gaither-Ganim, Scott A. Newlon, Michael G. Anderson, Bumsu Lee, Organic molecule singlephoton sources, Oxford Open Materials Science, 2023, 3(1), itac017
- 15. Xiangdong Xu, Long Huang, Kai Fan, Yadong Jiang, Ziqiang Sun, Qiong He, Tianhong Ao, Rui Huang, Yuejiang Wen, Chunqiang Ma, Electrical and optical properties of 4-N,N-dimethylamino-4'-N'-methyl-stilbazolium tosylate (DAST) modified by carbon nanotubes, J. Mater. Chem. C, 2014,2, 2394-2403
- 16. A.Bundulis, E. Nitiss, I. Mihailovs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "Study of Structure–Third-Order Susceptibility Relation of Indandione Derivatives," J. Phys. Chem. C **120**, 27515–27522 (2016).
- 17. D. Gudeika, **A. Bundulis**, S. Benhattab, M. Ben Manaa, N. Berton, J. Bouclé, F. T. Van, B. Schmaltz, D. Volyniuk, **M. Rutkis**, and J. V. Grazulevicius, "Multifunctional derivatives of dimethoxy-substituted triphenylamine containing different acceptor moieties," SN Appl. Sci. **2**, (2020).
- 18. E. Nitiss, A. Tokmakovs, K. Pudzs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "All-organic electro-optic waveguide modulator comprising SU-8 and nonlinear optical polymer," Opt. Express 25, 31036 (2017).
- 19. E. Nitiss, A. Bundulis, A. Tokmakovs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "All-Organic Waveguide Sensor for Volatile Solvent Sensing," Photonic Sensors 9, 356–366 (2019).
- 20. J. Pervenecka, J. Teterovskis, A. Vembris, K. Vītols, E. Tropiņš, V-T. Vīksna, J. Butikova, J. Grūbe, "An innovative approach to photolithography for optical recording of high-resolution two-dimensional structures in a negative SU8 photoresist by activation of up-conversion luminescence in Yb3+ and Tm3+ doped NaYF4" Nano-Structures and Nano-Objects 33 (2023)
- 21. X. Mu, S. Wu, L. Cheng, and H. Y. Fu, "Edge Couplers in Silicon Photonic Integrated Circuits: A Review," Appl. Sci. **10**, 1538 (2020).

NON-LINEAR OPTICAL EFFECTS, MATERIALS AND DEVICES

State of the art

In the last years third-order nonlinear optical materials have seen a new rise in interest due to the development of soliton microresonators [1] for microwave applications, telecommunications, and optical sensors as well as for quantum photonics [2] with the main focus on entangled photon sources and non-destructive photon interaction. In all of these technologies materials with a strong Kerr effect play a key role [3]. One of the main limitations for this technology transition from laboratory tests to commercial applications is the lack of efficient materials with strong Kerr effect and low optical losses. On the other hand, materials with high optical loses due to strong Two-photon absorption (TPA) can be used in optical limiting applications. In case of developing slow thermo-optical switches materials with a strong thermo-optical effect is desirable. At same time for ultra-fast all-optical switches pure electronic part of the Kerr effect is essential and the interference from other effects must be limited. Although there are plenty of published papers about Kerr effect estimation [4–5], distinguishing between thermo-optical and Kerr effects, separating Kerr effect into fast electronic response and slower molecular effects and evaluation of relaxation time for each effect are among important methodological problems in investigations of third-order nonlinear optical materials [6].

For practical application mainly two third-order NLO effects have been considered – Kerr effect and Twophoton absorption. The main issue with third-order NLO studies is the correct interpretation of nonlinear refractive index changes – are they induced by thermo-optical or Kerr effect and how large are each of the Kerr effect components – electronic, vibrational and reorientational. To study these effects, the term Optical Kerr spectroscopy has been present in the scientific literature for a while [3]. Most of these works are mainly based on Beam-Deflection or specific Pump-probe measurement methods to study temporal and some spectral aspects of Kerr effect. At the same time, many publications have already indicated that pulse repetition rate [5], polarization resolved Z-scan [7] and other measurement methods can give significant information about nonlinear refractive index of material absent from the previously mentioned Optical Kerr spectroscopy works. Recently much attention has been given to application of Laguerre–Gaussian vortex beams in NLO studies [8]. While most of literature has been focused on third-harmonic generation studies scientists are slowly exploring possibility to use vortex beams in Kerr studies [9].

For practical all-optical device implementation, it is necessary to achieve a high confinement of light. To realize such confinement, typically waveguide and photonic crystal devices are considered. Despite that the subject of all-optical devices is growing in popularity, only some experimentally validated examples have been demonstrated as summarized in the review article [10]. Current state-of-the-art includes few examples of devices using graphene for optical switching [11] or polariton opto-optical devices using organic materials [12]; even so, these devices are still in early development phase. Due to the low efficiency of available third-order materials, just a limited amount of waveguide devices have been experimentally validated and reported. The most common include whispering gallery mode (WGM) resonators and photonic crystal cavities [13-14] which have been used in sensing, communications, spectrometry and other applications.

Our position

The competence of Laboratory of Organic Materials allows dealing with the main issues related to studying properties and assessing applications of NLO materials. We have broad experience in structure-property relation studies of second- [15–17] and third-order[18,19] NLO organic materials. Along with these studies, we have gained experience in performing Quantum Chemical Calculations (QCC) to obtain first and second-order hyperpolarizabilities of organic materials.

Great attention has been given to development of experimental methodology for investigation secondorder [20,21] and third-order NLO [18,22,23] properties. Development of polarization-resolved Z-scan measurements [24] allows us to study in more detail the origin of Kerr effect in specific media. This is especially essential as only the electronic part of Kerr effect is applicable for high-bandwidth all optical processing.

Laboratory of Organic materials has conducted research to create photonic devices based on SU-8, PMMA and active NLO organic materials. By combining SU-8 as passive material for optical waveguides with guest-host system of active NLO chromophores and PMMA as active materials, we have been able to demonstrate functioning electro-optical switch [25] as well as all-optical gas sensor [26]. Recently we have begun to study NLO properties of nanoparticles and quantum dots. This includes both silver nanoparticles [23] as well as more complex materials such as HgTe [27], HgS [28], Bi₂Te₃ [29] and ReSe₂ [30]. These researches have also extended to studies about silver nanoparticle influence on reorientation Kerr effect of organic chromophores have been published [24]. Recently we have also started to study near-zero-epsilon materials with main focus on ITO nanoparticles and their usage for NLO applications [31].

Future activities

The important goal of future activities will be acquiring new knowledge that will contribute: a) to basic understanding of third-order NLO effects in organic materials; b) to develop correct measurement methodology to characterize their NLO properties. This could lead to new structure-property studies and third-order NLO organic materials designs. Moreover, the planned development and verification of Quantum Chemical Calculations (QCC) methods for third-order NLO material property calculations could lead to faster molecule screening. To work on better fundamental understanding of nonlinear optical effects

we have started work on fifth-order Kerr effect studies focusing on solvents and novel organic dyes that exhibits this response in 600-800 nm spectral window. Parallel to that we study strong Kerr response in mediums that has their absorption saturated for low-loss nonlinear optical mediums.

Development of measurement methodology

Measurement methodology developments include:

- Polarization-resolved Z-scan measurements;
- Beam-deflection method;
- Fluorescence anisotropy measurements.

We have established both Polarization-resolved Z-scan method for spectral measurements and Beamdeflection method. First experimental results regarding spectral Z-scan measurements have been published [21,22]. Next planned measurement methods are:

- Third-harmonic generation.
- Vortex beam application in measurements.

Development of Kerr effect evaluation through Quantum Chemical Calculations (QCC)

Use of reliable QCC for predicting and/or describing non-linear optical properties of materials allows to improve significantly the efficiency of the structure screening through rationalizing the structure–property relationships. By means of QCC we plan to obtain:

- Linear polarizability values, which allows us to estimate reorientation contribution;
- Raman scattering intensities and frequency, to calculate the vibration contribution;
- Second-order hyperpolarizability values, which allows us to calculate the electronic contribution.

For reorientation and vibration effects additional attention will be given to time constant calculations [7].

Second-order NLO materials

Parallel to study of third-order materials, we also do part of research in second-order material studies that includes ferroelectric materials [32] as well as study of novel organic dyes for electro-optical applications.

Networking

Latvia:

- Riga Technical University Institute of Applied Chemistry;
- Ceram Optec optical fiber company;
- Laboratory of Nonlinear Optics, UL, Rashid Ganeev;
- Quantum Optics Laboratory, Janis Alnis;
- Latvian Institute of Organic Synthesis, Kaspars Leduskrasts;

Abroad:

- Lithuania: Kaunas University of Technology Faculty of Chemical Technology;
- Switzerland: Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Lausanne Photonic Systems Laboratory;
- Taiwan: National Sun Yat-sen University;

References

1. X. Shen, R. C. Beltran, V. M. Diep, S. Soltani, and A. M. Armani, "Low-threshold parametric oscillation in organically modified microcavities," Sci. Adv. 4, eaao4507 (2018).

- 2. A. W. Elshaari, W. Pernice, K. Srinivasan, O. Benson, and V. Zwiller, "Hybrid integrated quantum photonic circuits," Nat. Photonics **14**, 285–298 (2020).
- 3. S. R. Vigil and M. G. Kuzyk, "Absolute molecular optical Kerr effect spectroscopy of dilute organic solutions and neat organic liquids," J. Opt. Soc. Am. B **18**, 679 (2001).
- 4. P. Zhao, M. Reichert, S. Benis, D. J. Hagan, and E. W. Van Stryland, "Temporal and polarization dependence of the nonlinear optical response of solvents," Optica **5**, 583 (2018).
- 5. N. Wickremasinghe, X. Wang, H. Schmitzer, and H. P. Wagner, "Eliminating thermal effects in z-scan measurements of thin PTCDA films," Opt. Express **22**, 23955 (2014).
- 6. D. Mcmorrow, W. T. Lotshaw, and G. A. Kenney-Wallace, "Femtosecond Optical Kerr Studies on the Origin of the Nonlinear Responses in Simple Liquids," IEEE J. Quantum Electron. **24**, 443–454 (1988).
- 7. M. S. Melhado, T. G. B. de Souza, S. C. Zilio, E. C. Barbano, and L. Misoguti, "Discrimination between two distinct nonlinear effects by polarization-resolved Z-scan measurements," Opt. Express **28**, 3352 (2020).
- 8. M. Singh, M. A. Fareed, A. Laramee, E. Isgandarov, and T. Ozaki, "Intense vortex high-order harmonics generated from laser-ablated plume". Appl. Phys. Lett. **115**, 231105 (2019).
- 9. S. Sirohi, S. Dey, T. Agrawal, S. Singh, P. B. Bishet, "Laguerre–Gaussian vortex beam for reduced thermal effects in nonlinear optical studies" Optics Communications **537**, 129468 (2023).
- 10. B. Gu, C. Zhao, A. Baev, K.-T. Yong, S. Wen, and P. N. Prasad, "Molecular nonlinear optics: recent advances and applications," Adv. Opt. Photonics **8**, 328 (2016).
- 11. M. Ono, M. Hata, M. Tsunekawa, K. Nozaki, H. Sumikura, H. Chiba, and M. Notomi, "Ultrafast and energyefficient all-optical switching with graphene-loaded deep-subwavelength plasmonic waveguides," Nat. Photonics **14**, 37–43 (2020).
- 12. A. V. Zasedatelev, A. V. Baranikov, D. Urbonas, F. Scafirimuto, U. Scherf, T. Stöferle, R. F. Mahrt, and P. G. Lagoudakis, "A room-temperature organic polariton transistor," Nat. Photonics **13**, 378–383 (2019).
- 13. M. R. Foreman, J. D. Swaim, and F. Vollmer, "Whispering gallery mode sensors," Adv. Opt. Photonics 7, 168 (2015).
- 14. T. Ozawa, H. M. Price, A. Amo, N. Goldman, M. Hafezi, L. Lu, M. C. Rechtsman, D. Schuster, J. Simon, O. Zilberberg, and I. Carusotto, "Topological photonics," Rev. Mod. Phys. **91**, 015006 (2019).
- 15. **M. Rutkis** and K. Traskovskis, "Triphenylmethyl and triphenylsilyl based molecular glasses for photonic applications," in C. E. Tabor, F. Kajzar, T. Kaino, and Y. Koike, eds. (2015), p. 93600H.
- 16. K. Traskovskis, V. Kokars, A. Tokmakovs, I. Mihailovs, E. Nitiss, M. Petrova, S. Belyakov, and M. Rutkis, "Stereoselective synthesis and properties of 1,3-bis(dicyanomethylidene)indane-5-carboxylic acid acceptor fragment containing nonlinear optical chromophores," J. Mater. Chem. C 4, 5019–5030 (2016).
- 17. L. Laipniece, V. Kampars, S. Belyakov, A. Tokmakovs, E. Nitiss, and M. Rutkis, "Dendronized azochromophores with aromatic and perfluoroaromatic fragments: Synthesis and properties demonstrating Ar ArF interactions," Dye. Pigment. 162, 394–404 (2019).
- A. Bundulis, E. Nitiss, I. Mihailovs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "Study of Structure–Third-Order Susceptibility Relation of Indandione Derivatives," J. Phys. Chem. C 120, 27515–27522 (2016).
- 19. D. Gudeika, **A. Bundulis**, S. Benhattab, M. Ben Manaa, N. Berton, J. Bouclé, F. T. Van, B. Schmaltz, D. Volyniuk, **M. Rutkis**, and J. V. Grazulevicius, "Multifunctional derivatives of dimethoxy-substituted triphenylamine containing different acceptor moieties," SN Appl. Sci. **2**, (2020).
- E. Nitiss, M. Rutkis, and M. Svilans, "Electrooptic coefficient measurements by Mach Zehnder interferometric method: Application of Abelès matrix formalism for thin film polymeric sample description," Opt. Commun. 286, 357–362 (2013).
- E. Nitiss, A. Bundulis, A. Tokmakov, J. Busenbergs, E. Linina, and M. Rutkis, "Review and comparison of experimental techniques used for determination of thin film electro-optic coefficients," Phys. Status Solidi Appl. Mater. Sci. 212, 1867–1879 (2015).
- 22. A. Bundulis, V. V. Kim, J. Grube, and R. A. Ganeev, "Nonlinear refraction and absorption of spectrally tuneable picosecond pulses in carbon disulfide," Opt. Mater. (Amst). **122**, 111778 (2021).

- 23. A. Bundulis, J. Mikelsone, and M. Rutkis, "Impact of silver nanoparticles two-photon resonance on Kerr effect of organic dye solutions," J. Opt. Soc. Am. B (2021).
- 24. A. Bundulis, I. Mihailovs, and M. Rutkis, "Origin of the Kerr effect: investigation of solutions by polarization-dependent Z-scan," J. Opt. Soc. Am. B **37**, 1806 (2020).
- 25. E. Nitiss, A. Tokmakovs, K. Pudzs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "All-organic electro-optic waveguide modulator comprising SU-8 and nonlinear optical polymer," Opt. Express 25, 31036 (2017).
- 26. E. Nitiss, A. Bundulis, A. Tokmakovs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "All-Organic Waveguide Sensor for Volatile Solvent Sensing," Photonic Sensors 9, 356–366 (2019).
- 27. **A. Bundulis,** I. A. Shuklov, V. V. Kim, A. A. Mardini, **J. Grube**, J. Alnis, A. A. Lizunova, V. F. Razumov, and R. A. Ganeev, "Nonlinear Absorption and Refraction of Picosecond and Femtosecond Pulses in HgTe Quantum Dot Films", Nanomaterials, **11**, (2021).
- 28. V. V. Kim, I. A. Shuklov, A. A. Mardini, A. Bundulis, A. I. Zvyagin, R. Kholany, A. A. Lizunova, J. Grube, A. Sarakovskis, O. V. Ovchinnikov, R. A. Ganeev, "Investigation of Nonlinear Optical Processes in Mercury Sulfide Quantum Dots", Nanomaterials, 12, (2022).
- 29. V. V. Kim, A. Bundulis, V. S. Popov, N. A. Lavrentyev, A. A. Lizunova, I. A. Shuklov, V. P. Ponomarenko, J. Grube, R. A. Ganeev, "Third-order optical nonlinearities of exfoliated Bi₂Te₃ nanoparticle films in UV, visible and near-infrared ranges measured by tunable femtosecond pulses," Opt. Express, **30**, (2022).
- 30. K. Kadiwala, L. Dipane, E. Dipans, A. Bundulis, M. Zubkins, A. Ogurcovs, J. Gabrusenoks, D. Bocharov, E. Butanovs, B. Polyakov, "Synthesis and Investigation of ReSe₂ Thin Films Obtained from Magnetron Sputtered Re and ReOx" Crystals, 14, 690, (2024).
- 31. A. Bundulis, A. Berzina, V. V. Kim, B. Polyakov, A. Novikovs, Rashid A. Ganeev, "Variation of Nonlinear Refraction and Three-Photon Absorption of Indium-Tin Oxide Quantum Dot Thin Films and Solutions in Near Infrared Range", Nanomaterials, 13, 2320, (2023).
- 32. M. Dunce, A. Plyushch, E. Birks, Š. Svirskas, J. Banys, P. Jankauskas, L. Bikse, A. Atvars, O. Freimanis, M.Leimane, A. Bundulis, "Free-standing 0.9Na0.5Bi0.5Ti03-0.1Sr0.7Bi0.2Ti03 thick films produced by water-based tape-casting method", JACS, 107, 6532-6543, (2024)

OPTICALY ACTIVE DEFECTS IN SILICON DIOXIDE

State of the art.

A wide range of optical and photonics applications demand low-loss optical fiber waveguides, deepultraviolet (UV) transmitting optics, optical components capable of operating in ionizing or particle radiation environments, and elements that can transmit high-power laser light. In most cases, the optimal material for these purposes is pure or doped glassy SiO₂ (silica glass). With a wide band gap of approximately 9 eV—the largest among all glassy materials—silica is the preferred choice for three important groups of applications:

- Optical components and devices operating in the ultraviolet (UV) spectral range, such as windows, lenses, filter and grating substrates, thin-film coatings, and UV fiber waveguides [1];
- High-power optical applications, ranging from fibers used in laser surgery or metal welding [2] to femtosecond laser writing [3], and to lenses for laser-ignited nuclear fusion [2];
- Photonics devices made from glassy SiO₂, which are highly resistant to radiation damage and are extensively studied for use in nuclear energy and space applications [3,4]. The development of hollow-core fibers [5] holds promise for even higher power transmission and greater resistance to radiation. In 2021, an ultra-stable, high-density "5D" data storage—achieving multi-terabyte capacity—was demonstrated through femtosecond laser writing in silica glass [11].

A critical phenomenon underpinning all these applications is the presence or formation of optically active point defects in the material. This issue has been extensively studied, and a significant level of understanding has been reached (see, for example, reviews [3,4,6]). However, several challenges remain unresolved. These include identifying the exact origins of defect-related absorption in the deep UV region, understanding the influence of technological impurities such as chlorine and carbon, examining the incorporation of fluorine and related defects in highly fluorine-doped SiO₂ glasses, and assessing the impact of internal surfaces in the amorphous structure of SiO₂ on its optical and photochemical properties.

Recently, several research and review papers [14-17] highlighted a new trend focused on densifying silicabased glasses and engineering the size of nanovoids inherent to their structure. This has become a prominent area of research aimed at further enhancing the transparency of optical fibers used in longrange communication. At the currently achieved level of glass purity, Rayleigh scattering caused by density fluctuations in the glass is the primary source of signal attenuation in optical fibers. It has been found that these density fluctuations can be minimized by hot-pressing silica glasses [14], a method now being explored by multiple research groups. In addition to this emerging trend, there is continued strong interest in femtosecond laser writing in silica glass, particularly for Bragg gratings and data storage applications [17-21].

Our position

Researchers of the Laboratory of Optical Materials have detailed knowledge and long experience with SiO₂based optical materials. Their past work has been crucial for identification and establishing of optical properties and radiochemical transformations of a number of basic defects in glassy SiO₂, like oxygen dangling bond ("non-bridging oxygen hole center", NBOHC), divalent Si ("silicon oxygen deficiency center", SiODC), interstitial hydrogen H₂, oxygen O₂ and O₃ (ozone) molecules in SiO₂. They have authored several well-cited reviews on this field (see, e.g., ref. [6] and references therein).

More recently, this group has tackled the problems of chlorine, a widespread and detrimental technological impurity in synthetic SiO_2 made from $SiCl_4$ [7,12], the dynamic properties of O_2 molecular interstitials in SiO_2 [8] and the similarities and differences of defects in crystalline and glassy SiO_2 [9]. The group has

identified a number of up-to now not understood carbon-related defects in silica, demonstrating that they are due to interstitial polycyclic hydrocarbons [13]. A PhD student now works on closely related topics. Most recently, in 2023, this group identified the first paramagnetic defect in fluorine-doped silica, directly linked to fluorine [25].

The group possesses strong expertise in optical, vibrational, and magnetic spectroscopies. They utilize both custom-built equipment, such as vacuum-UV spectrometry, thermally stimulated luminescence, and radioluminescence, as well as the recently upgraded general-use equipment at ISSP UL. Additionally, the group has recently added in-laboratory sol-gel synthesis of silica glasses to its capabilities.

Future activities

- Studies of factors limiting transparency of SiO₂ glass in ultraviolet, deep-ultraviolet and vacuumultraviolet spectral regions. This problem is most important in the context of developing wide spectral range and radiation/solarization-resistant optical fibers, which are required for analytical, medical, nuclear energy-fusion diagnostics and space applications.
- Studies of chlorine- and carbon- related defects in SiO₂ based glasses. Presently, a transformation from chlorine-related to carbon-related technology in the synthesis of SiO₂ glasses is gradually taking place. This is caused in part by ecological considerations and in part by the detrimental effect of Cl trace impurities on optical properties and solarization resistance of SiO₂ glass and optical fibers. While the properties of Cl impurities are known to some extent [7,12], the nature and optical properties of carbon dopants are much less understood.
- Based the results of the recent work [13], particular activity will be focused on polycyclic hydrocarbons as optically active dopants in silica glass and on their possible role as precursors to other carbon-related defects and carbon nanodots.
- Studies of fluorine-related defects in glass. Fluorine is widely used in optical fiber technology to decrease the refraction coefficient and/or to reduce the fictive temperature of glassy SiO₂. Fluorine doping is presently studied as a way to further reduce the Rayleigh scattering in ultra-low loss optical fiber waveguides [10]. It generally increases the radiation resistance of the glass [2]; however, this effect decreases at large F concentrations. Relying on the recently discovered electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) evidence for fluorine-related defects [25], their optical properties and the nature of their precursors will be studied. This knowledge is needed in order to optimize the optical fiber technology.
- Studies of the effects of SiO₂ glass morphology on the optical and photochemical properties of the material. Amorphous SiO₂ can be obtained in a large number of different forms with different morphologies (nanoparticles, nanofibers, nanoporous, micro- and mesoporous materials, porous crystalline (zeolite-like) structures. These materials possess large internal surfaces facilitating their use in chemical and biomedical applications.
- Developing of experimental capabilities supportive to the R&D needs of Latvian fiber optics industry. Performing of contract works on optical fiber spectroscopy. Joint ERDF projects.
- In view of the perspective of using nanoscale defect structures in silica for long-term information storage [11], it is planned to focus on studies of the properties of defects in silica induced within internal nanovoids, created by laser damage or high energy nuclear irradiation.
- Defects created by ion implantation of silica (in collaboration with KTH, Sweden).
- The studies of the effects of densification of silica on defect creation, in collaboration with Ecole Politechnique, France [20] will be continued.

Networking

• Collaboration with industrial partner in Latvia, Ceram Optec. A joint paper has been published in 2023 and an ERDF collaboration project has been submitted for 2025.

Internationally, the group has long-standing active collaborations with research groups in:

- France: Prof. Sylvain Girard, Youcef Ouerdane (Univ. Saint-Etienne), Dr. Nadege Ollier (Ecole Polytechnique, University of Paris-Saclay);
- Japan: Prof. Koichi Kajihara (Tokyo Metropolitan University), prof. Hideo Hosono (Tokyo Institute of Technology);
- Italy: Prof. Marco Cannas, Simonpietro Agnello (Palermo University);
- United Kingdom: Prof. Peter Kazansky (Southampton University);
- Sweden: Prof. Andres Hallén (KTH).

References

- 1. D. Ehrt, Deep-UV materials, Advanced Optical Technologies. 7 (2018) 225.
- 2. M.N. Zervas, C.A. Codemard, High Power Fiber Lasers: A Review, IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics. 20 (2014) 219.
- 3. M. Beresna, M. Gecevičius, P.G. Kazansky, Ultrafast laser direct writing and nanostructuring in transparent materials, Adv. Opt. Photon., AOP. 6 (2014) 293.
- 4. F. Nürnberg, B. Kühn, A. Langner, M. Altwein, G. Schötz, R. Takke, S. Thomas, J. Vydra, Bulk damage and absorption in fused silica due to high-power laser applications, in: Laser-Induced Damage in Optical Materials, Proc. SPIE, International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2015: p. 96321R.
- 3. S. Girard, A. Alessi, N. Richard *et al.*, Overview of radiation induced point defects in silica-based optical fibers, Reviews in Physics. 4 (2019) 100032.
- 4. S. Girard, A. Morana, A. Ladaci, T. Robin, L. Mescia, J.-J. Bonnefois, M. Boutillier, J. Mekki, A. Paveau, B. Cadier, E. Marin, Y. Ouerdane, A. Boukenter, Recent advances in radiation-hardened fiber-based technologies for space applications, Journal of Optics (United Kingdom). 20 (2018) 093001.
- 5. F. Yu, M. Cann, A. Brunton, W. Wadsworth, J. Knight, Single-mode solarization-free hollow-core fiber for ultraviolet pulse delivery, Opt. Express, OE. 26 (2018) 10879.
- 6. L. Skuja, K. Kajihara, M. Hirano, H. Hosono, Oxygen-excess-related point defects in glassy/amorphous SiO₂ and related materials, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms. 286 (2012) 159.
- L. Skuja, K. Kajihara, K. Smits, A. Silins, H. Hosono, Luminescence and Raman Detection of Molecular Cl₂ and ClClO Molecules in Amorphous SiO₂ Matrix, J. Phys. Chem. C. 121 (2017) 5261.
- L. Skuja, K. Smits, A. Trukhin, F. Gahbauer, R. Ferber, M. Auzinsh, L. Busaite, L. Razinkovas, M. Mackoit-Sinkevičienė, A. Alkauskas, Dynamics of Singlet Oxygen Molecule Trapped in Silica Glass Studied by Luminescence Polarization Anisotropy and Density Functional Theory, J. Phys. Chem. C. 124 (2020) 7244.
- 9. L. Skuja, N. Ollier, K. Kajihara, K. Smits, Creation of glass-characteristic point defects in crystalline SiO₂ by 2.5 MeV electrons and by fast neutrons, J. Non-Crystalline Solids. 505 (2019) 252.
- S. Urata, N. Nakamura, K. Aiba, T. Tada, H. Hosono, How fluorine minimizes density fluctuations of silica glass: Molecular dynamics study with machine-learning assisted force-matching potential, Materials & Design. 197 (2021) 109210.
- 11. Y. Lei, M. Sakakura, L. Wang, Y. Yu, H. Wang, G. Shayeganrad, P.G. Kazansky, High speed ultrafast laser anisotropic nanostructuring by energy deposition control via near-field enhancement, Optica 8 (2021) 1365.

- 12.L. Skuja, N. Ollier, K. Kajihara, I. Bite, M. Leimane, K. Smits, A. Silins, Optical Absorption of Excimer Laser-Induced Dichlorine Monoxide in Silica Glass and Excitation of Singlet Oxygen Luminescence by Energy Transfer from Chlorine Molecules, Phys. Status Solidi A. 218 (2021).
- L. Skuja, M. Leimane, I. Bite, D. Millers, A. Zolotarjovs, V. Vitola, K. Smits, Ultraviolet luminescence of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in partially consolidated sol-gel silica glasses., Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids. 577 (2022) 121325.
- 14. M. Ono, Void Engineering in Silica Glass for Ultralow Optical Scattering Loss, J. Lightwave Technol., JLT. 39 (2021) 5258.
- 15. S. Urata, N. Nakamura, T. Tada, A.R. Tan, R. Gómez-Bombarelli, H. Hosono, Suppression of Rayleigh Scattering in Silica Glass by Codoping Boron and Fluorine: Molecular Dynamics Simulations with Force-Matching and Neural Network Potentials, J. Phys. Chem. C. 126 (2022) 2264.
- 16. T. Du, S.S. Sørensen, T. To, M.M. Smedskjaer, Oxide glasses under pressure: Recent insights from experiments and simulations, Journal of Applied Physics. 131 (2022) 170901.
- 17. L.A. Moore, C.M. Smith, Fused silica as an optical material [Invited], Opt. Mater. Express, OME. 12 (2022) 3043.
- 18. Y. Lei, H. Wang, G. Shayeganrad, P.G. Kazansky, Ultrafast laser nanostructuring in transparent materials for beam shaping and data storage [Invited], Opt. Mater. Express, OME. 12 (2022) 3327.
- H. Wang, Y. Lei, L. Wang, M. Sakakura, Y. Yu, G. Shayeganrad, P.G. Kazansky, 100-Layer Error-Free 5D Optical Data Storage by Ultrafast Laser Nanostructuring in Glass, Laser & Photonics Reviews. 16 (2022) 2100563.
- 20. H. Yao, Q. Xie, M. Cavillon, Y. Dai, M. Lancry, Materials roadmap for inscription of nanogratings inside transparent dielectrics using ultrafast lasers, Progress in Materials Science. 142 (2024)101226.
- 21. Q. Xie, N. Shchedrina, M. Cavillon, B. Poumellec, M. Lancry, Nanoscale investigations of femtosecond laser induced nanogratings in optical glasses, Nanoscale Advances. 6 (2024) 489.
- 22. N. Ollier, I. Reghioua, O. Cavani, M. Mobasher, A. Alessi, S. le Floch, **L. Skuja**, Probing densified silica glass structure by molecular oxygen and E' center formation under electron irradiation, Sci Rep. 13 (2023) 13657.
- 23. Y. Lei, H. Wang, L. Skuja, B. Kühn, B. Franz, Y. Svirko, Peter. G. Kazansky, Ultrafast Laser Writing in Different Types of Silica Glass, Laser & Photonics Reviews. 17 (2023) 2200978.
- 24. Y. Lei, G. Shayeganrad, H. Wang, M. Sakakura, Y. Yu, L. Wang, D. Kliukin, **L. Skuja**, Y. Svirko, P.G. Kazansky, Efficient ultrafast laser writing with elliptical polarization, Light Sci Appl. 12 (2023) 74.
- 25. L. Skuja, M. Leimane, N. Ollier, A. Griscenko, Paramagnetic point-defect in fluorine-doped silica glass: The E'(F)-center, Phys. Rev. Letters 131 (2023) 256903.

0D, 1D, 2D AND MIXED-DIMENSIONAL NANOMATERIALS

State of the art

Nanomaterials are defined as materials with at least one spatial dimension in the scale of 10⁻⁹ m, or usually below 100 nm [1]. They exhibit physical and chemical properties different from their bulk counterparts due to the large surface/volume ratio and, thus, the important contribution of surface atoms, as well as quantum confinement and other quantum phenomena [1]. Nanomaterials are classified by the number of dimensions in the nanoscale. 2D materials have one dimension below 100 nm, 1D and 0D materials have 2 and 3 dimensions in nanoscale, respectively. Examples are nanoparticles and quantum dots (0D), nanowires and nanotubes (1D), layered van der Waals materials (2D).

Zero-dimensional (0D) nanomaterials are the cornerstone of nanotechnology. Due to the inherent structural properties of 0D nanomaterials, such as ultra-small sizes and high surface-to-volume ratios, they have more surface area per unit mass. The high surface-to-volume ratio and quantum confinement effects of 0D nanomaterials provide improved or novel properties such as, for example, high photoluminescence (PL) quantum efficiency and enhanced catalytic activity. Various 0D nanomaterials have been extensively explored: carbon-based quantum inorganic quantum dots (QDs), magnetic nanoparticles, noble metal nanoparticles, upconversion nanoparticles. 0D nanomaterials have numerous potential applications in materials science, photovoltaic science, catalysis, energy, sensing, biomedicine and ink-jet printed devices [2].

1D nanostructures - nanowires (NWs) and nanotubes (NTs) – are being explored as promising materials for applications in electronics, optoelectronics, photonics and microelectromechanical systems (MEMS) [3]. Two different approaches of NW integration in devices are used – single-NW devices consist of individual separate NWs, whereas "bulk" devices contain periodic NW arrays or randomly dispersed NWs. The challenge is to develop a scalable device fabrication process that could compete with current technologies, such as silicon microfabrication. This is an active research field. Several concepts have been proposed, for instance, controlled printing of NWs with roll-to-roll technology that uses microfluidics to align the NWs [4]. Besides upscaling problems, the current 1D materials research focuses on finding new NW-based materials and studying their fundamental properties for novel applications [5]. NW characteristics can be engineered by creating core-shell heterostructures – modifying NW by a thin (compared to the diameter of the NW) coating of a different material [6]. Surface of NWs has a significantly reduced lattice mismatch restriction compared to conventional semiconductor thin film growth thus enabling greater flexibility in choosing the materials to produce heterostructures and in engineering their properties [7,8].

2D layered van der Waals (vdW) materials have attracted great interest since the isolation of monolayer graphene in 2004, due to their unique structure and the promising physical properties that appear when the thickness of the material is reduced to one atomic layer. These materials have an atomic structure similar to well-known graphite - strong in-plane bonds and weak interlayer bonding [9]. Bulk materials of this group have been widely studied in the last century, as most of these materials are quite abundant and have been used in different technological fields, however until 2004 it was believed that it is not possible to obtain an only one separate stable layer [10]. There was some research done in 1960s that showed that electrical conductivity in a few-layer graphite is higher when measured laterally in-plane rather than between the planes, but it was still assumed and assumptions justified by experimental and theoretical research that stable two-dimensional (2D) atomic crystals cannot exist separately in nature, as all attempts to obtain such were unsuccessful - with the used methods the layers tended to curl, roll or deform in other ways [11–13]. The ground-breaking discovery by K. Novoselov and A. Geim in 2004 proved otherwise – by mechanically exfoliating highly crystalline graphite with a Scotch tape they were able to obtain one atomic layer of graphite (graphene) on an oxidized silicon substrate and measure its electrical properties [10]. Graphene exhibits extraordinary electrical and mechanical properties [14]. For their contribution, Geim and Novoselov were awarded The Nobel Prize in Physics in 2010. Afterwards, 2D materials became one of the "hottest" topics in modern physics – in 2011 an intensive research started on layered transition metal dichalcogenide (TMD) semiconductors, mainly MoS₂ and WS₂ [15–17], and around 2015 more exotic compounds were started to be studied, such as NbS₂ and ReS₂ [18,19].

TMDs are described by a general chemical formula MX₂, where M is a periodic table Group 4 – 7 transition metal and X is a chalcogen, and have a potentially useful property of thickness-dependent bandgap [20]. TMDs layers have terminated surfaces without dangling bonds, bound together by weak vdW forces, therefore, they can be sequentially stacked unstrained without any covalent interlayer bonding and even if materials are slightly lattice-mismatched [21]. Large-scale synthesis methods of TMDs on different substrates need to be developed, before any practical applications could be realized.

The family of 2D materials includes several subgroups, classified by materials chemical formula and atomic structure: (1) transition metal dichalcogenides (i.e. MoS₂, WSe₂) and their related compounds (2) group IIIA chalcogenides (i.e. GaS, InSe) and (3) Group IVA dichalcogenides (i.e. SnS₂), most of these compounds

are semiconductors, semi-metals or metals; (4) insulator hexagonal boron nitride (h-BN); (5) black phosphorus; (6) X-enes (i.e. graphene, germanene); (7) MX-enes (transition metal carbides and nitrides); and other compounds, such as few oxides, halides etc. [22–24] Some of these materials are naturally occurring, however some are only synthesized chemically, h-BN for example.

Combining NWs and TMDs in core-shell heterostructures could lead to new knowledge about the interface formation between different materials and solid-state reactions in such systems, to novel nanostructures with enhanced properties, and development of new TMDs synthesis methods as NWs are a convenient template to study materials growth.

Our position

One of our research topics is synthesis and investigation of mechanical and tribological properties of 0D and 1D nanomaterials (nanoparticles, nanodumbbells, nanowires, nanotubes) using Scanning Probe Microscopy and in situ nanomanipulations inside SEM [25-30].

As an example of unusual behaviour of nanomaterials, can be mentioned stress induced reversible plastic deformation or kink formation in CuO nanowires, published this year [26]. This work reports for the first time the post-synthesis formation of such defects, achieved by exploiting a peculiar plasticity that may occur in nanosized covalent materials. Specifically, in this work the authors found that single-crystal CuO NWs can form double kinks when subjected to external mechanical loading. Both the microscopy and atomistic modelling suggest that deformation-induced twinning along the (110) plane is the mechanism behind this effect. In a single case the authors were able to unkink a NW back to its initial straight profile, indicating the possibility of reversible plasticity in CuO NWs, which is supported by the atomistic simulations. The phenomenon reported here provides novel insights into the mechanisms of plastic deformation in covalent NWs and offers potential avenues for developing techniques to customize the shape of NWs post-synthesis and introduce new functionalities.

Another research topic is 2D materials and 1D-2D mixed-dimensional materials or core-shell NWs, there the shell is made of layered 2D materials (WS₂, MoS₂, ReS₂, PbI₂, TaSe₂, etc.). We found that the combination of properly chosen materials can bring improved and advanced properties of these NWs [31]. TMDs like WX₂, MoX₂, ReX₂ (X=S or Se) can be synthesized from metal oxide precursors (WO₃, MoO₃, ReO₃), however some transition metal oxides have too high chemical stability to use them as precursor (e.g., Ta_2O_5 and TiO_2). We developed a method of TMDs synthesis from metal precursors [32-35]. However, properties of metal oxide and metal precursor derived TMDs films may differ significantly. For example, ReSe₂ thin films can be produced from magnetron sputtering of Re and ReO_x on flat substrates with subsequent selenization via atmospheric pressure chemical vapor transport (CVT) [32]. Some metals like Ta, Ti, V can be converted into TMDs in vacuum sealed ampoules only (conversion at atmospheric pressure is not efficient). TiSe2 and VSe₂ thin films can be prepared in vacuum sealed ampoules from Ti and V metal film precursors in temperature range 650-750 °C [33]. They temperature-dependent local structure and lattice dynamics was also probed by X-ray absorption spectroscopy [34]. Last but not least study was performed on metallic Ta shell selenization of core-shell ZnS/Al_2O_3 nanowires [35]. Thin alumina shell coated by ALD help to encapsulate and stabilize ZnS nanowires from unwanted morphological changes during selenization of Ta coating at 650 °C inside a vacuum-sealed quartz ampoule and to produce high quality ZnS/Al₂O₃ TaSe₂ core-shell NWs.

Future activities

There are three main activities of ISSP UL in field of nanomaterials are planned in near future:

• Synthesis and application of 0D nanomaterials for ink-jet functional printing, Functional ink-jet printing is a promising new technology, cheap and environmentally friendly, and creates a new paradigm in digital manufacturing where electronic devices and circuits can be printed on demand. Our main goal is a development and demonstration of the ink-jet technology, able to print flexible functional electronic devices. A complex "kit" of functional inks based on 0D nanomaterials (electroconductive, luminescent,

thermochromic, semiconducting nanoparticles and others) will be developed to implement this technology. Printing of electronic components and simple electronic devices (connecting wiring, resistors, capacitors, transistors) will be used to develop printing and post-processing protocols for each ink type. Another important application of functional inkjet printing is chromogenic coatings for smart windows.

- Development of 1D core-shell nanowire heterostructures with superconducting shell for quantum/optoelectronic applications. We are developing technology of superconducting coatings based on MgB₂ material and hybrid superconducting nanowire synthesis with goal to create nanomaterial suitable for photodetection in broad wavelength range. It is planned to experimentally investigate the effect of strain in MgB₂ nanocoatings on its superconductivity transition temperature using various approaches of strain engineering in a core-shell nanowire (NW) configuration, including epitaxial mismatch strain, interstitial impurity strain and nanomechanical tensile tests of individual NWs in situ cryostat.
- Nanomechanical experiment on smart actuation materials like pure VO₂ and core-shell NWs. Smart actuation materials (SAM) able to convert external stimuli, including heat, light, electric current to mechanical motion. Metal-to-insulator or MIT materials can be scaled down to nano-dimensions without any loss of actuation properties. Investigation of 1D nanostructures MIT materials properties, and their integration into NEMS devices are of great scientific interest and will enable further actuator device miniaturization and higher operation speed. We are planning to produce and explore actuation properties of advanced MIT materials based on pure and doped VO₂ thin films and nanowires for MEMS and NEMS technologies for increased operation speed and application-defined working temperature.

Networking

Latvia:

- Riga Technical University, prof. J. Dehtjars, prof. A. Katashevs;
- Daugavpils University, Dr. V. Gerbreders;

Abroad:

- Estonia: Institute of Physics and Institute of Technology, University of Tartu, prof. V. Zadin and Dr. A. Kyritsakis;
- Sweden: Royal Institute of Technology KTH Stockholm and RISE Research Institutes of Sweden, prof. M. Toprak and Dr. Y. Mulla;
- France: Institut de Science des Matériaux de Mulhouse (IS2M- CNRS), prof. K. Mougin;
- Germany: Institute of Applied Physics, Justus-Liebig Universitat Giessen, Dr. D. Ditzel;
- Poland: Marian Smoluchowski Institute of Physics, Jagiellonian University in Krakow, prof. E. Gnecco;
- Portugal: Department of Physics & CICECO Aveiro Institute of Materials, Campus Universitario de Santiago, Dr. D. Anikin.

References

- 1. J. Ramsden. Nanotechnology: An Introduction. (Elsevier, 2016)
- 2. Z. Wang, et al. Application of Zero-Dimensional Nanomaterials in Biosensing, Front. Chem., 320 (2020)
- 3. Dasgupta, N. P. et al. 25th Anniversary Article: Semiconductor Nanowires Synthesis, Characterization, and Applications. Adv. Mater. 26, 2137–2184 (2014)
- 4. Fan, Z. et al. Toward the Development of Printable Nanowire Electronics and Sensors. Adv. Mater. 21, 3730–3743 (2009)
- 5. Yang, P., et al. Semiconductor Nanowire: What's Next? Nano Lett. 10, 1529–1536 (2010)

- 6. Sun, Y., et al. Compositional and structural engineering of inorganic nanowires toward advanced properties and applications. InfoMat 1, 496–524 (2019)
- 7. Lauhon, L., et al. Epitaxial core-shell and core-multishell nanowire heterostructures. Nature 420, 57–61 (2002)
- 8. Dong, Y., et al. Coaxial Group III-Nitride Nanowire Photovoltaics. Nano Lett. 9, 2183-2187 (2009)
- 9. Chhowalla, M. et al. The chemistry of two-dimensional layered transition metal dichalcogenide nanosheets. Nat. Chem. 5, 263–275 (2013)
- 10. Novoselov, K. S. Electric Field Effect in Atomically Thin Carbon Films. Science (80-.). 306, 666–669 (2004)
- 11. Joensen, P., et al. Single-layer MoS₂. Mater. Res. Bull. 21, 457–461 (1986)
- 12. Yang, D. et al. Li-intercalation and exfoliation of WS₂. J. Phys. Chem. Solids 57, 1113–1116 (1996)
- 13. Lu, X., et al. Patterning of highly oriented pyrolytic graphite by oxygen plasma etching. Appl. Phys. Lett. 75, 193–195 (1999)
- 14. Geim, A. K. & Novoselov, K. S. The rise of graphene. Nat. Mater. 6, 183-91 (2007)
- 15. Mak, K. F., et al. Atomically thin MoS₂: A new direct-gap semiconductor. Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 2–5 (2010)
- 16. Splendiani, A. et al. Emerging Photoluminescence in Monolayer MoS₂. Nano Lett. 10, 1271–1275 (2010)
- 17. Gutiérrez, H. R. et al. Extraordinary Room-Temperature Photoluminescence in Triangular WS₂ Monolayers. Nano Lett. 13, 3447–3454 (2013)
- Duong, D. L., et al. van der Waals Layered Materials: Opportunities and Challenges. ACS Nano 11, 11803–11830 (2017)
- 19. Rahman M., at al. Advent of 2D Rhenium Disulfide (ReS2): Fundamentals to Applications. Adv. Funct. Mater. 27, 1606129 (2017)
- 20. Choi, W. et al. Recent development of two-dimensional transition metal dichalcogenides and their applications. Mater. Today 20, 116–130 (2017)
- 21. Walsh, L. A. & Hinkle, C. L. Van der Waals epitaxy: 2D materials and topological insulators. Appl. Mater. Today 9, 504–515 (2017)
- 22. Rao, C. N. R., et al. Graphene analogues of inorganic layered materials. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. 52, 13162–13185 (2013)
- 23. Anasori, B., et al. 2D metal carbides and nitrides (MXenes) for energy storage. Nat. Rev. Mater. 2, 16098 (2017)
- 24. Mannix, A. J., et al. Synthesis and chemistry of elemental 2D materials. Nat. Rev. Chem. 1, 0014 (2017)
- 25. B. Polyakov, L.Dorogin, S.Vlassov, S.Oras, R.Lohmus. Tribological Aspects of In Situ Manipulation of Nanostructures Inside Scanning Electron Microscope, Fundamentals of Friction and Wear on the Nanoscale, Chapter 18, 3rd edition Springer International Publishing, Switzerland, 2024.
- S.Vlassov, S.Oras, A.Trausa, T.Tiirats, E.Butanovs, B.Polyakov, V.Zadin, A.Kyritsakis, Reshaping Covalent Nanowires by Exploiting an Unexpected Plasticity Mediated by Deformation Twinning, Small, 2024, doi.org/10.1002/smll.202304614.
- 27. A. Trausa, S.Oras, S. Vlassov, M. Antsov, T.Tiirats, A. Kyritsakis, B. Polyakov, E. Butanovs, Elastic modulus of β -Ga2O3 nanowires measured by resonance and three-point bending techniques, Beilstein J. Nanotechnol., 15 (2024) 704.
- 28.A. Trausa, C.F.Tipaldi, L.Ignatane, B.Polyakov, S.Oras, E.Butanovs, E.Vanags, K.Smits. Heat-Induced Fragmentation and Adhesive Behaviour of Gold Nanowires for Surface-Enhanced Raman Scattering Substrates, ChemEngineering, 8(1) (2024) 15.
- 29.E. Damerchi, S.Oras, E.Butanovs, A.Liivlaid, M.Antsov, B.Polyakov, A.Trausa, V.Zadin, A.Kyritsakis, L.Vidal, K.Mougin. S. Pikker, S. Vlassov. Heat-induced morphological changes in silver nanowires deposited on a patterned silicon substrate, Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology, 15 (2024) 435.

- 30.E. Moradpur-Tari, S. Vlassov, S.Oras, M.Ernits, E.Damerchi, **B.Polyakov**, A.Kyritsakis, , V.Zadin. Nano1D: An accurate computer vision software for analysis and segmentation of low-dimensional nanostructures, Ultramicroscopy, 261 (2024) 113949.
- 31. E. Butanovs, S. Vlassov, A. Kuzmin, S. Piskunov, J. Butikova, B. Polyakov. Fast-response singlenanowire photodetector based on ZnO/WS₂ core/shell heterostructures. Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 10 (2018) 13869–13876.
- 32.K. Kadiwala, L. Dipane, E. Dipans, A. Bundulis, M. Zubkins, A. Ogurcovs, J. Gabrusenoks, D. Bocharov, E. Butanovs, B.Polyakov, Synthesis and Investigation of ReSe2 Thin Films Obtained from Magnetron Sputtered Re and ReOx, Crystals, 14 (2024) 69.
- 33. K. Kadiwala, E. Dipans, L. Dipane, E. Butanovs, B. Polyakov. Towards Scalable Synthesis of TiSe₂ and VSe2 Thin Films, Latvian Journal of Physics and Technical Sciences, 61(2) (2024) 13.
- 34.**I. Pudza, B. Polyakov, K. Pudzs**, E.Welter, **A.Kuzmin**, A., Temperature-dependent local structure and lattice dynamics of 1T-TiSe2 and 1T-VSe2 probed by X-ray absorption spectroscopy, Physica B: Condensed Matter, 685 (2024) 415995.
- 35. **B. Polyakov, K. Kadiwala, E. Butanovs, D. Bocharov**, S. Vlassov. Synthesis of ZnS/Al₂O₃/TaSe₂ Core/Shell Nanowires Using Thin Ta Metal Film Precursor, ChemEngineering, 8(1) (2024) 25.

ELECTROLUMINESCENCE AND ORGANIC LIGHT-EMITTING DIODES

State of the art

A significant portion of overall energy consumption is attributed to lighting and displays. Achieving highly efficient artificial lighting with favourable spectral characteristics remains a major challenge. Organic Light-Emitting Diodes (OLEDs) present a viable solution in these areas. Such diode systems can be integrated into Smart Cities and energy-efficient buildings. Artificial lighting could be incorporated into windows or ceilings, while smart TVs and displays could be embedded in mirrors or walls. These implementations have the potential to drastically reduce energy consumption several times over [1,2,3]. The number of publications featuring the keyword "OLED" has surged from just 6 in 1996 to 2,293 in 2023 (according to the SCOPUS database). Concurrently, OLED technology has gained a significant market share in areas like OLED displays and lighting. The projected market revenue for OLED displays is expected to reach 82 billion USD this year, with further exponential growth anticipated over the next decade (data from the 360 Research Report). However, many unresolved challenges are slowing down the accelerated growth of this technology.

Over the years, the development of suitable light-emitting organic molecules has been the primary driver behind OLED technological progress. Initially, OLEDs used fluorescent compounds, but it quickly became evident that these first-generation (G1) emitters had fundamental limitations. Due to the spin state recombination process, electric charge excitation of organic molecules produces excited states, 25% of which are singlets (S), while 75% are triplets (T) [4]. In G1 emitters, only singlet states are emissive, as the spin-forbidden T1 \rightarrow S0 transition prevents triplet states from radiatively decaying.

It wasn't until 1998 that researchers demonstrated the potential to achieve 100% internal quantum efficiency using second-generation (G2) phosphorescent emitters [5]. Structurally, G2 materials are organo-metallic compounds featuring a heavy transition metal atom. The presence of this metal atom induces a process called spin-orbit coupling (SOC), drastically altering the photophysical behavior of the molecules. Due to the fast intersystem crossing (ISC), all excited states in these compounds rapidly transition to the lowest-energy triplet state (T1) [4]. Instead of being non-emissive, radiative relaxation occurs as phosphorescence because SOC enables mixing of singlet and triplet states, making the T1 \rightarrow SO

transition possible. Phosphorescence lifetimes (τ) in G2 compounds typically range from 1.5 to 5 microseconds, compared to seconds-long lifetimes for purely organic fluorophores. This allows OLEDs based on G2 emitters to utilize all excited states, boosting the device's internal quantum efficiency from 25% to 100%. Transition metals like osmium, rhenium, rhodium, platinum, and iridium are commonly used to synthesize these materials, with iridium and platinum being the most widely applied. To date, G2 emitters remain the industry standard due to their relatively short emission lifetimes, chemical stability, and the wide range of available emission wavelengths.

The main exception is blue-light emitters. The operational stability of organic emitters is crucial for practical applications, as emitters must maintain 95% of their initial brightness (T95) after 10,000 hours of operation [6]. In contrast, state-of-the-art blue G2 emitters exhibit a T80 lifespan of less than 160 hours [6], which is why G1 emitters are still exclusively used for blue light in commercial OLEDs. As a result, blue-light generation accounts for about 50% of the power consumption in devices like modern smartphone displays [7]. The widespread use of noble metals such as iridium and platinum raises concerns among both the OLED industry and academic communities. The scarcity and high cost of these metals, combined with their negative environmental impact, pose challenges to the sustainability and scalability of the OLED industry [8].

In response, recent years have seen the development of compounds capable of triplet harvesting without the need for heavy metals. These compounds, which exhibit thermally activated delayed fluorescence (TADF), have garnered significant attention since 2012 when the first efficient OLEDs using TADF emitters were demonstrated [9]. Often referred to as third-generation (G3) emitters, these materials are purely organic and metal-free. G3 emitters can harvest triplet excited states due to the proximity between their S1 and T1 energy levels. When the energy gap (Δ ES1-T1) is smaller than about 0.12 eV, thermal energy at room temperature can raise the T1 state to the higher-lying S1 state through a process called reverse intersystem crossing (rISC). Combining G2 and G3 emitters could result in OLEDs with the highest possible efficiency and stability. Today, two additional generations of OLED materials have emerged.

The fourth generation (G4) involves combining G1 and G3 molecules, where excited states from G3 molecules are transferred to G1 molecules via Förster resonance energy transfer. This process, known as superfluorescence, enhances the efficiency of light emission. The fifth and latest generation (G5) consists of materials with inverted singlet-triplet states, allowing electrically excited triplet states to transition to the singlet state and emit light.

Another disadvantage is the high production costs of the OLED devices. During the device production stage the active light emitting organic components are usually processed using energy intensive and technologically complex vacuum deposition (sublimation) methods. To increase the competitiveness level of OLED devices the new light emitting materials need to be developed, which can be processed with inexpensive solution-based methods (spin-coating, ink-jet printing), while maintaining high efficiencies and chemical stability. At the moment this problem has not been completely solved and a considerable effort is made by research community in this direction. Recently Cu-based organic materials were used in the OLED. [10]

Our position

Laboratory of Organic Materials has a long-time experience in the investigation of original organic materials for application in an organic light emitting diode (OLED). One of the first steps is quantum chemical calculations to predict molecule applicability as efficient light emitting material with necessary semiconductor properties. The solution containing organic molecules is further investigated to determine the properties of the compounds themselves. Then, obtained thin films are studied.

The laboratory has expertise in the determination of both the optical and electrical properties of organic materials. Optical properties like photoluminescence spectrum, photoluminescence quantum yield, and fluorescence kinetics are essential to define possible organic compound applications in OLED [11].

Nevertheless, semiconductor properties are equally important. Therefore, the laboratory pays great attention to the investigation of energy structure and electrical properties of organic semiconductors [12].

Energy levels of the compounds have been studied by photoelectron emission spectroscopy (PES) and spectral dependence of intrinsic photoconductivity, which provides information about molecule ionization energy (IE). The second method gives a good estimation of the energy bandgap between IE and electron affinity (EA) energy [13]. Local trap states in the bandgap have been investigated by temperature modulated space charge limit current method. Charge carrier mobility has been obtained by Time of Flight (ToF) or Charge Carrier Extraction by Linearly Increasing Voltage (CELIV) techniques [14].

Obtaining complete information about a chemical compound can determine its potential use in the organic light emitting diode. So far, most activities have focused on the investigation of the organic compound. As the main group of compounds, molecular glasses with fluorescence, phosphorescence or thermally activated delayed fluorescence properties have been used. The laboratory has worked on light emitting organic ionic compounds [15] and has investigated carbene–metal–amide (CMA) type organic emitters for OLED[16-21].

Future activities

In the future, the activities related to the investigation of OLED will be broadened. Investigation of thin film morphology and intermixing of two thin films will be added in the research action. It will be linked to the performance and lifetime of the diode. Use of flexible substrate is one of the advantages of organic light-emitting diode, which should also be developed in the laboratory of organic material.

• Methods for preparation of OLED on flexible substrates

ITO-coated polyethylene terephthalate (PET) films fits for the preparation of a flexible organic lightemitting diode. Cleaning procedure of PET substrate will be developed to increase the wettability of organic compounds. A new type of chucks will be bought in order to perform layer deposition from solution by spin-coating method. Vacuum deposition system and measurement system will be adapted to flexible thin films. Also, new encapsulation methods will be used to maintain flexibility. At the beginning, 25×25 mm² will be used, and then they will be gradually increased to 50×50 cm². By developing the methods of depositing OLED on flexible substrate will further open new research directions of the laboratory and makes possible to broaden applications, like, wearable and biocompatible devices.

Degradation mechanism investigation by ellipsometry

Investigation physicochemical properties of the interfaces, and their dependence on the deposition conditions and their role in the performance and degradation kinetics of organic electronic devices is very important. Interfaces between thin films of different organic materials and multilayer structures should be investigated to understand the interface contribution to interfacial transport of electrons and the degradation of OLEDs, and to explore the possibilities of interfacial tuning with the aim to improve the OLEDs performance. Advanced spectroscopic ellipsometry (SE) technique can be used to study layered polymer/molecular glass systems tailored to the parameters of the film deposition and post-deposition treatments and analyse in-situ the degradation kinetics of the OLEDs device under the thermal and electrical load. Investigating OLED degradation is crucial because it directly impacts the performance, lifespan, and reliability of OLED-based devices.

Networking

Latvia:

- Institute of Organic Synthesis, prof. Edgars Suna;
- Riga Technical University, prof. Valdis Kokars and prof. Maris Turks;
- Daugavpils University, Dr.chem. Jelena Kirilova;

- EmiBLUE company;
- EVOLED company.

Abroad:

- Lithuania: Kaunas University of Technology, prof. Saulius Grigalevicius and prof. Juozas Vidas Grazulevicius;
- Lithuania: Vilnius University, prof. Vidmantas Gulbinas;
- Taiwan: National Tsing Hua University, Prof. Jwo-Huei Jou.

References

- 1. Yuge Huang, En-Lin Hsiang, Ming-Yang Deng, Shin-Tson Wu, Mini-LED, Micro-LED and OLED displays: present status and future perspectives, Light: Science & Applications 9, Article number: 105 (2020)
- 2. Ramchandra Pode, Organic light emitting diode devices: An energy efficient solid state lighting for applications, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 133, 110043 (2020)
- 3. Ho Jin Jang, Jun Yeob Lee, Progress of display performances: AR, VR, QLED, OLED, and TFT, Journal of Information Display 20 (2019)
- 4. Hartmut Yersin, Andreas F.Rausch, Rafał Czerwieniec, Thomas Hofbeck, Tobias Fischer, The triplet state of organo-transition metal compounds. Triplet harvesting and singlet harvesting for efficient OLEDs, Coord. Chem. Rev. 255, 2622 (2011)
- 5. M. A. Baldo, D. F. O'Brien, Y. You, A. Shoustikov, S. Sibley, M. E. Thompson, S. R. Forrest, Highly efficient phosphorescent emission from organic electroluminescent devices, Nature 395, 151 (1998)
- 6. Denis Jacquemin, Daniel Escudero, The short device lifetimes of blue PhOLEDs: insights into the photostability of blue Ir(III) complexes, Chem. Sci. 8, 7844 (2017)
- 7.https://www.oled-info.com/google-details-oled-power-consumption-shows-how-androids-dark-mode-can-help-extend-your-battery-life
- 8. Philip Nuss, Matthew J Eckelman, Life cycle assessment of metals: a scientific synthesis, PLoS One, 9, e101298 (2014)
- 9. Hiroki Uoyama, Kenichi Goushi, Katsuyuki Shizu, Hiroko Nomura, Chihaya Adachi, Highly efficient organic light-emitting diodes from delayed fluorescence, Nature 492, 234 (2012)
- 10. Ao Ying, Yu-Hsin Huang, Chen-Han Lu, Zhanxiang Chen, Wei-Kai Lee, Xuan Zeng, Tianhao Chen, Xiaosong Cao, Chung-Chih Wu*, Shaolong Gong*, and Chuluo Yang, High-Efficiency Red Electroluminescence Based on a Carbene–Cu(I)–Acridine Complex, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 13 13478–13486 (2021)
- 11. Armands Ruduss, Valdis Kokars, **Natalija Tetervenoka**, **Aivars Vembris**, Kaspars Traskovskis, Effects of steric encumbrance of iridium(III) complex core on performance of solutionprocessed organic light emitting diodes, RSC Adv., 10, 27552-27559, (2020)
- 12. Kaspars Traskovskis, Valdis Kokars, Sergey Belyakov, **Natalija Lesina, Igors Mihailovs, and Aivars Vembris**, Emission Enhancement by Intramolecular Stacking between Heteroleptic Iridium(III) Complex and Flexibly Bridged Aromatic Pendant Group, Inorg. Chem. 58, 7 (2019)
- 13. **Raitis Grzibovskis, Aivars Vembris**, Energy level determination in bulk heterojunction systems using photoemission yield spectroscopy: case of P3HT:PCBM, Journal of Materials Science Vol. 53, Issue 10, 7506–7515 (2018)
- Armands Ruduss, Kaspars Traskovskis, Aivars Vembris, Raitis Grzibovskis, Kaspars Pudzs, Marcis Lielbardis, Valdis Kokars, Synthesis and investigation of charge transport properties in adducts of hole transporting carbazole derivatives and push-pull azobenzenes, Journal of Physics and Chemistry of Solids 127, 178–18 (2019)
- 15. Adriana Maurucaite, Kaspars Leduskrasts, Edgars Suna, Aivars Vembris "Optical properties of carbazole with pyridinium ion for light-emitting electrochemical cells," Proc. SPIE 12149, Organic Electronics and Photonics: Fundamentals and Devices III, 121490A (2022)

- 16. Armands Ruduss, Annija Jece, **Kitija A. Stucere**, Kuan-Wei Chen, Baiba Turovska, Sergey Belyakov, **Aivars Vembris**, Chih-Hao Chang, Kaspars Traskovskis, "Sulfonyl-functionalized benzo[d]imidazo[5,1b]thiazole-based carbenes as building blocks for two-coordinate Cu(I) complexes exhibiting fast and efficient thermally activated delayed fluorescence" Journal of Materials Chemistry C 12, 2968 (2024)
- 17. Armands Ruduss, Zanis Sisojevs, Annija Jece, Sergey Belyakov, **Kitija A. Stucere, Aivars Vembris**, Yu-Hsuan Chen, Chih-Hao Chang, Kaspars Traskovskis, "Thiazoline Carbene–Au(I)–Amide complexes exhibiting dimer electroluminescence" Journal of Luminescence 264, 120197 (2023)
- 18. Armands Ruduss, Sergey Belyakov, **Kitija A. Stucere, Aivars Vembris**, Kaspars Traskovskis, " Light emission mechanism in dimers of carbene–metal–amide complexes" Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 25, 3220-3231 (2023)
- 19. Armands Ruduss, Baiba Turovska, Sergey Belyakov, **Kitija A. Stucere, Aivars Vembris**, Glib Baryshnikov, Hans Ågren, Jhao-Cheng Lu, Wei-Han Lin, Chih-Hao Chang, and Kaspars Traskovskis, "Thiazoline Carbene–Cu(I)–Amide complexes: Efficient White Electroluminescence from Combined Monomer and Excimer Emission" ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 14, 13, 15478–15493 (2022)
- 20. Armands Ruduss, Baiba Turovska, Sergey Belyakov, **Kitija A. Stucere, Aivars Vembris**, Kaspars Traskovskis "Carbene–Metal Complexes As Molecular Scaffolds for Construction of through-Space Thermally Activated Delayed Fluorescence Emitters", Inorg. Chem. 61, 2174–2185 (2022)
- 21. Kaspars Traskovskis, Armands Sebris, Irina Novosjolova, Māris Turks, Matas Guzauskas, Dmytro Volyniuk, Oleksandr Bezvikonnyi, Juozas V. Grazulevicius, Anatoly Mishnev, Raitis Grzibovskis and **Aivars Vembris**, All-organic fast intersystem crossing assisted exciplexes exhibiting sub-microsecond thermally, activated delayed fluorescence, J. Mater. Chem. C, 9 (2021),

LIGHT AMPLIFICATION AND ORGANIC SOLID-STATE LASERS

State of the art

Low-energy consumption light emitters having high energy conversion efficiency are essential for applications in fields like sensing and telecommunications. In particular, personalized medicine increasingly relies on low-cost test probes, such as Lab-on-a-Chip devices, which allow individuals to quickly obtain lab results and apply targeted treatments. One of the core mechanisms of these test probes is the detection of light variations—whether in spectrum or intensity. For such purposes, a small, highly efficient, and potentially wavelength-tunable light source is indispensable.

Organic solid-state lasers offer a promising solution because they are not only flexible and wavelengthtunable but can also be scaled to a few micrometers in size. These lasers can be integrated into both organic and inorganic photonic-integrated circuits, making them highly versatile for different applications. In the realm of telecommunications, especially for short-range communications, these lasers can be utilized within polymer fibers, with the telecommunications window operating in the near-infrared region. Organic solid-state lasers are particularly notable for their highly efficient energy conversion, especially in the infrared spectral range [1,2]. Organic compounds have long been used in dye lasers, and many of the same or similar compounds are now being utilized in organic solid-state lasers. These lasers use a wide variety of organic molecules, ranging from low molecular weight compounds to dendrimers and polymers.

The systems that exhibit the lowest amplified spontaneous emission (ASE) threshold values—below 1 μ J/cm²—are typically dye-doped matrices [3,4]. Without a matrix, molecules are too closely packed, leading to significant intermolecular interactions that quench the excited states. This issue was partially mitigated by adding bulky side groups to dye molecules, but even then, the ASE threshold value remains an

order of magnitude higher compared to guest-host systems [5,6]. ASE excitation energy also varies depending on the spectral range, with the smallest thresholds observed for blue emitters (below $1 \mu J/cm^2$) [3] and green emitters (similarly low thresholds) [4]. Yellow emitters have an ASE threshold of around 10 $\mu J/cm^2$ [7], red emitters require about 24 $\mu J/cm^2$ [8], and infrared emitters show thresholds of approximately 20 $\mu J/cm^2$ [9]. These impressively low thresholds were achieved despite the photoluminescence quantum yield (PLQY) being below 25%. It stands to reason that even lower ASE thresholds could be attained if the PLQY were higher.

One promising avenue for enhancing the luminescence of organic materials is the incorporation of metallic nanoparticles (NPs) into the organic matrix. When placed in an electromagnetic field, properly excited metal nanoparticles can generate a plasmon field, which can, in turn, amplify the luminescence of surrounding organic molecules [10]. There are, however, numerous factors that influence the enhancement of luminescence, such as the shape, size, and dimensionality of the nanoparticles [11]. Other critical factors include the orientation of the dye dipole moments relative to the nanoparticle surface normal, the distance between the dye and the metal nanoparticles, the overlap of the plasmon resonance with the organic dye's absorption and emission bands, the radiative decay rate, and the quantum yield of the luminescent molecules themselves [12]. Luminescence can be significantly increased if the appropriate conditions are met within the metal NP-organic matrix. Among metallic nanoparticles, silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs) are particularly favored due to their exceptional physical, chemical, and biological properties. Ag NPs offer several advantages over other metallic nanoparticles: they exhibit minimal optical loss during surface plasmon propagation, are non-toxic, have excellent electrical and thermal conductivity, remain stable under ambient conditions, and are relatively low-cost compared to metals like gold or platinum. Additionally, silver nanoparticles possess a primitive structure and exhibit broad absorption of both visible and far-infrared light, further adding to their utility. Moreover, their chemical stability makes them even more appealing for practical applications [13]. Several studies have already demonstrated the potential of nanoparticles to enhance ASE efficiency. For instance, nanoparticles [14] and metal nanostructures [15,16] introduced into the gain media have been shown to reduce ASE threshold values by as much as tenfold. This reduction in the ASE threshold value is a significant advancement, opening the door to a new category of organic lasers: surface plasmon amplification by stimulated emission of radiation, or "spasers" [17].

Our position

Laboratory of Organic materials has started an investigation of light amplification in 2010. During this time, investigation method for a full description of the compounds has been established. Optical properties of solution containing organic molecules have been investigated to determine the further investigated compounds. Investigation of thin film deposition parameters is investigated afterwards. Emission spectra and photoluminescence quantum yield are one of the most important parameters which are studied in thin films. Light amplification properties are obtained via amplified spontaneous emission (ASE) by line method. Specific measurement set-up was made to measure ASE excitation threshold energy, light gain and losses coefficients. More than 100 compounds were investigated during this time in close collaboration with chemists. The investigated compounds emit light in the red and infrared spectral region. All investigated compounds were molecular glasses, and ASE properties were investigated in neat films or polymer matrix. Thin-film preparation from solution and reduced photoluminescence quenching are one of the advantages of molecular glasses.

One of the first works in the field of optical amplification systems was done in 2012, where amplified spontaneous emission of molecular glasses were investigated [19]. 4-(Dicyanomethylene)-2-methyl-6-(4-dimethylaminostyryl)-4H-pyran (DCM) red-emitting molecule has served as a base of all derivatives. Glass state of thin films was archived by adding bulky trityloxyethyl groups at the electron donor side of the molecule. The neat film of DCM does not exhibit fluorescence, but the photoluminescence quantum yield (PLQY) of the systems that we have prepared was up to 3% [20]. As a result, amplified spontaneous emission excitation energy as low as 90 \mathbb{Z} J/cm2 was obtained. Further work was done to increase the synthesis yield of investigated compounds with a double increase in PLQY, but without significant changes in ASE excitation energy [21]. It was achieved by substituting methyl group with tert-butyl group (DWK-

1TB molecule). Several other modifications were done to electron donor and/or electron acceptor group to improve emission efficiency till DWK-1TB molecule was modified by changing malononitrile group as the electron acceptor to ethyl and one nitrogen group. These changes benefited in the optical properties of the neat thin film. PLQY increased up to 23%, while ASE threshold energy was decreased to 24 J/cm2 [8], which now is close to the best results for red emitters found in the literature. During the investigation of DCM derivatives, bis-DCM derivatives with the light emission in the near-infrared region were developed. The best performance of 170 <code>[2]/cm2</code> ASE threshold energy with emission at 743 nm was obtained [22,23]. Recently we have applied active matrix in the gain media that consist of Alq3 derivatives to enhance the ASE efficiency [24].

Future activities

• Influence of metal nanoparticle surface plasmon resonance on ASE properties of organic materials

Regarding optical light amplification systems, the main goal will be the development of metal layer preparation protocol and selection of plasmonic design for optical amplification of light. For chemical metal nanoparticle synthesis, metal precursor, reducing agent, and stabilizing/capping agents are needed. Reducing agent concentration determines the size and shape of metal nanoparticles. Unprotected metal nanoparticles can easily agglomerate due to their small size; therefore, stabilizing is required. It allows obtaining a stable metal nanoparticle solution. Nanoparticles will be synthesised in aqueous solution, but organic material usually cannot be dissolved in water; therefore, metal nanoparticles will be transferred to an organic solution like chloroform or toluene afterwards. For this reason, reducing agent and stabilizing should be changed to one which can disperse nanoparticles in organic solution. The transfer can be made through a chemical reaction, centrifugation, and ultrasonic treatment. The size of nanoparticles will be tuned to match absorption and/or emission spectra of organic compounds. Synthesised nanoparticles will be mixed with laser dye or laser dyes deposited on the prepared metal nanostructure.

• Investigation of NIR emitters.

Organic compounds have been widely used in dye lasers and the same or similar compounds can be found in organic solid-state lasers. Most of the compounds have emission in the visible spectral region with the amplified spontaneous emission or laser emission excitation threshold energy below $1 \mu J/cm^2$. Organic near infrared emitters have higher threshold energies, but they are more competitive compared to inorganic infrared lasers. Inorganic III-V semiconductor has low exciton binding energy (around 6 meV) which partially is the reason of low photoluminescence quantum yield of these materials. Additionally, a specific three or mostly a four-level system should be made to get population inversion. Organic materials exhibit the four-level energy system in the molecule and no additional modifications should be done. Organic compounds have higher Frenkel exciton binding energy (more than 200 meV), which increases the recombination possibility of the excitons. Organic materials that form thin films from solution would additionally benefit due to the possibility to make lasers by simple wet casting methods. Thus, such properties could increase the applications of lasers in telecommunication, bioimaging and lab-on-chip

Networking

Latvia:

- Riga Technical University (prof. Valdis Kokars and prof. Maris Turks)
- Daugavpils University (Dr.chem. Jelena Kirilova)

Abroad:

- Lithuania, Kaunas University of Technology (prof. Saulius Grigalevicius and prof. Juozas Vidas Grazulevicius)
- Lithuania, Vilnius University (prof. Vidmantas Gulbinas)
- France, Troyes Technology University (prof. Pierre Michle Adam, prof. Christophe Couteau)

References

- 1. Yi Jiang, Yuan-Yuan Liu, Xu Liu, He Lin, Kun Gao, Wen-Yong Lai, Wei Huang, Organic solid-state lasers: a materials view and future development, Chem. Soc. Rev.,49, (5885-5944 2020)
- 2. Guo-Qing Wei, Xue-Dong Wang, Liang-Sheng Liao, Recent Advances in 1D Organic Solid-State Lasers, Advance Functional Materials, 29, 1902981, (2019)
- 3. H. Nakanotani, S. Akiyama, D. Ohnishi, M. Moriwake, M. Yahiro, T. Yoshihara, S. Tobita C. Adachi, Extremely Low-Threshold Amplified Spontaneous Emission of 9,9'-Spirobifluorene Derivatives and Electroluminescence from Field-Effect Transistor Structure, Adv. Funct. Mater. 17, 2328–2335 (2007)
- 4. H. Nakanotani, T. Furukawa, C. Adachi, Light Amplification in an Organic Solid-State Film with the Aid of Triplet-to-Singlet Upconversion, Adv. Opt. Mater., 3(10), 1381–1388 (2015)
- T. Komino, H. Nomura, M. Yahiro, K. Endo, C. Adachi, J. Selectively Controlled Orientational Order in Linear-Shaped Thermally Activated Delayed Fluorescent Dopants, Phys. Chem. C 115, 19890–19896 (2011)
- J.-C. Ribierre, L. Zhao, M. Inoue, P.-O. Schwartz, J.-H. Kim, K. Yoshida, A. S. D. Sandanayaka, H. Nakanotani, L. Mager, S. Méry, C. Adachi, Low threshold amplified spontaneous emission and ambipolar charge transport in non-volatile liquid fluorene derivatives, Chem. Commun. 52, 3103–3106 (2016)
- B. H. Wallikewitz, D. Hertel, K. Meerholz, Cross-Linkable Polyspirobifluorenes: A Material Class Featuring Good OLED Performance and Low Amplified Spontaneous Emission Thresholds, Chem. Mater. 21, 2912-2919 (2009),
- 8. Elmars Zarins, Karina Siltane, **Julija Pervenecka**, **Aivars Vembris**, Valdis Kokars, Glass-forming derivatives of 2-cyano-2-(4H-pyran-4-ylidene) acetate for light-amplification systems, Dye. Pigment 163, 62–70 (2019)
- D'Aléo, M. H. Sazzad, D. H. Kim, E. Y. Choi, J. W. Wu, G. Canard, F. Fages, J.-C. Ribierre, C. Adachi, Boron difluoride hemicurcuminoid as an efficient far red to near-infrared emitter: toward OLEDs and laser dyes, Chem. Commun. 52, 7003–7006 (2017)
- Burunkova, S. Keki, A. Veniaminov, M. Nagy, L. Daroczi, S. Kokenyesi, Influence of Gold Nanoparticles on the Luminescence of an Acrylated Isocyanonaphthalene Derivative, Advances in Condensed Matter Physics ID 8084659 (2019)
- 11. Munechika, Y. Chen, A. F. Tillack, A. P. Kulkarni, I. J.-L. Plante, A. M. Munro, D. S. Ginger, Spectral Control of Plasmonic Emission Enhancement from Quantum Dots near Single Silver Nanoprisms, Nano Lett. 10, 2598–2603 (2010)
- 12. O.G. Tovmachenko, C. Graf, D.J. van den Heuvel, A. van Blaaderen, H.C. Gerritsen, Fluorescence Enhancement by Metal-Core/Silica-Shell Nanoparticles, Adv. Mater. 18, 91–95 (2006)
- 13. Chouhan, Silver Nanoparticles, IntechOpen, Chapter 2, 978-1-78923-479-4 (2018)
- 14. S. Ning, Z. Wu, N. Zhang, L. Ding, X. Hou, F. Zhang, Plasmonically enhanced lasing by different size silver nanoparticles-silver film hybrid structure, Organic Electronics 50, 403-410 (2017)
- L. Long, D. He, W. Bao, M. Feng, P. Zhang, D. Zhang, S. Chen, Localized surface plasmon resonance improved lasing performance of Ag nanoparticles/organic dye random laser, J. Alloys Compd 693, 876-881 (2017)
- 16. T. Jiang, Y. Du, Y. Ma, J. Zhou, C. Gu, S. Tang, Decrease of amplified spontaneous emission threshold achieved by core-shell Ag nanocube@ SiO₂ with ultrasmall shell thicknesses, Materials Research Express 4, 115030 (2017)
- 17. F. Koenderink, Plasmon Nanocavity Array Lasers: Cooperating over Losses and Competing for Gain, ACS Nano 13, 7377–7382 (2019)
- Kou Yoshida, Junyi Gong, Alexander L. Kanibolotsky, Peter J. Skabara, Graham A. Turnbull, Ifor D.
 W. Samuel, Electrically driven organic laser using integrated OLED pumping, Nature volume 621, pages746–752 (2023)
- 19. A. Vembris, I. Muzikante, R. Karpicz, G. Sliauzys, A. Miasojedovas, S. Jursenas, V. Gulbinas, Fluorescence and amplified spontaneous emission of glass forming compounds containing styryl-4H-pyran-4-ylidene fragment, J. Lumin. 132, 2421–2426 (2012)

- 20. A. Vembris, E. Zarins, J. Jubels, V. Kokars, I. Muzikante, A. Miasojedovas, S. Jursenas, Thermal and optical properties of red luminescent glass forming symmetric and non-symmetric styryl-4H-pyran-4-ylidene fragment containing derivatives, Opt. Mater. 34, 1501 1506 (2012)
- E. Zarins, A. Vembris, E. Misina, M. Narels, R. Grzibovskis, V. Kokars, Solution Processable 2-(Trityloxy)Ethyl and Tert-Butyl Group Containing Amorphous Molecular Glasses of Pyranylidene Derivatives with Light-Emitting and Amplified Spontaneous Emission Properties, Opt. Mater. 49, 129– 137 (2015)
- 22. Elmars Zarins, **Julija Pervenecka**, **Aivars Vembris**, Valdis Kokars, Glass-forming non-symmetric bisstyryl-DWK-type dyes for infra-red radiation amplification systems, Opt. Mater. 93, 85–92 (2019)
- 23. Elmars Zarins, **Julija Pervenecka**, Elina Misina, Oleksandr Bezvikonnyi, **Aivars Vembris**, Karlis Balodis, Dmytro Volyniuk, Juozas V. Grazulevicius, and Valdis Kokars, HAPPY Dyes as Light Amplification Media in Thin Films, J. Org. Chem., 86(4) (2021), 3213–3222 DOI: 10.1021/acs.joc.0c02574
- 24. Elmars Zarins, Deins Alksnis, **Patricija Paulsone**, Karlis Balodis, **Aivars Vembris** and Valdis Kokars , Synthesis and Spectroscopic Characteristics of Ligands Based on Quinolin-8-Ol as Useful Precursors for Alq3 Type Complexes, Key Engineering Materials, 903 (2021) 168-173, doi:10.4028/www.scientific.net/KEM.903.168

NOVEL MATERIALS FOR LUMINESCENCE DOSIMETRY

State of the art

Thermo- and optically-stimulated luminescence (TL and OSL) have been known and practically used in dosimetry for a long time. TL materials have been used in personnel, environmental and clinical dosimetry for many years. The main groups for dosimetric materials studied are fluorides (LiF:Mg,Ti; LiF:Mg, Cu,P; CaF₂:Mn; CaF₂:Dy), sulphates (CaSO₄:Mn; CaSO₄:Dy: CaSO₄:Tm), borates (Li₂B₄O₇:Mn; Li₂B₄O₇:Cu), oxides (Al₂O₃:C; Al₂O₃:Mg,Y; BeO, MgO) and others. Among the prospective materials for the new clinical dosimetry and space exploration areas the nanopowdered materials and optical fibers with different dopants are being studied [1,2]. At present, standard commercially available dosimeters are used for the needs of most radiation fields (among them the highest-sensitive are LiF:Mg,Cu,P (TL) and Al₂O₃:C (OSL)), but in some areas there is still a demand for new materials with tailored properties. The need for new TL and OSL materials exists is limited to specific applications; any new material must satisfy the requirements for those applications. Therefore, there is a need to explore more sensitive materials that show linear TL responses over a wide range, materials that are energy independent, thermally stable and have low fading. Studies on **nanomaterials** have reported high sensitivity and saturation at very high doses. Therefore, they have potential application in dosimetry of ionizing radiations for measurements of high doses, at which conventional microcrystalline phosphors saturate [3].

Novel approaches under development in dosimetry

 Novel approaches under development include dosimetry for medical needs, such as two and threedimensional dosimetry for radiotherapy applications, dosimetry for new radiotherapy modalities, such as laser-induced particle beams, FLASH radiotherapy, and magnetic resonance-guided radiotherapy. The safety and efficacy of novel theranostic agents, targeting increasingly complex targets, can be well served by comprehensive dosimetry. In this context, artificial intelligence methods, especially machine learning and deep learning algorithms, may play a crucial role. An overview of upcoming opportunities for integrating artificial intelligence methods into the field of dosimetry in nuclear medicine is given in [4].

- There is continuous demand for efficient TL dosimeters for monitoring **high-dose levels of swift heavy ion (SHI) radiation** used extensively in medical applications. Moreover, SHI-exposed phosphors can be used for high energy space dosimetry, ion beam dosimetry for personnel applications, radiotherapy, or diagnostic purposes, etc. Therefore, there is considerable scope for work on SHI dosimetry [5]
- The use of **personal neutron dosimetry** currently grows rapidly. Recently, CaSO₄:Dy and MgB₄O₇:Ce, Li [6]were synthesized to study neutron dosimetry. Moreover, materials containing Li, or Li and B simultaneously, were found to be more sensitive to neutrons. If these materials were enriched in ⁶Li and B, isotopes became sensitive to thermal neutrons [5]. Therefore, future work may be focused on developing a thermoluminescent material sensitive to neutrons.
- Another prospective area of luminescence dosimetry is OSL dosimetry for case of high energy physics (HEP). The main advantages of the OSL materials are: 1) a dynamic range that covers seven orders of magnitude; 2) a very high sensitivity (100 μGy). Application of the OSL method enables high spatial resolution 3D dose imaging [7].
- The main challenge for luminescence dosimetry is in **materials engineering**. Investigating and elucidating the roles and predominance of defect clustering and localized transitions in high-sensitivity TL/OSL materials may also play a key role towards a more guided "defect engineering" of new material. A better understanding of the influence of synthesis parameters and methods on the final luminescence and dosimetric properties is required [8,9].
- One of the most important and still actual aspects of TL and OSL application is **basic research of materials**, which together with photoluminescence, radioluminescence and photoluminescence excitation studies allows effective revealing of luminescence mechanisms in many fundamental problems. Different TLD materials in the form of glass, microcrystalline, nanocrystalline phosphors have been studied in search of new prospective TL/OSL materials. The search for new TL materials should aim for simplicity of glow curves, a high range of TL response linearity and very low fading. Furthermore, the TL mechanism is also very important and must be considered before developing new efficient materials for different applications. An example of such newly proposed dosimetric material is ZnO doped with transition metals and rare-earth elements [10].

Our position

Researchers of the dosimetry group from Laboratory of Spectroscopy and Laboratory of Optical Materials have a long-term experience in studies of dosimetric properties of various dielectric materials [11,12]. The main task of these investigations was elucidation of the luminescence mechanisms using TL/OSL methods and estimation of dosimetric properties suitable for practical application. The dosimetry group has a specific knowledge of in the field of luminescence processes and modern sophisticated equipment, such as Lexsyg Research TL/OSL reader (Freiberg Instruments) apart from other equipment for spectral measurements. At present the main direction of study is connected with luminescence and dosimetric properties of wide band dielectrics. TL/OSL investigation of wide band-gap dielectrics, including oxides single crystals, polycrystals, powders and ceramics, optical glass fibres will give new insights in luminescence mechanisms and estimate applicability of new materials for dosimetry of ionising and UV radiation in the fields of medicine, radiation safety, environment, industry and space flights.

Recent studies in the luminescence dosimetry field concerns the following materials:

• Al₂O₃ (alumina)-based dosimetry materials. The best known and widely used dosimeter material on alumina basis is carbon-doped aluminium oxide Al₂O₃:C (TLD-500) (E_g > 6 eV), used as highly sensitive TL, and OSL material for personal dosimetry. However, as a personal dosimeter, Al₂O₃:C is useful only in the dose range 10 μ Gy-10 Gy and is not suitable at higher doses. Efforts were undertaken to find other alumina-based dosimeter materials using different dopants. It was shown by us [13], that only for α phase Al₂O₃ Cr³⁺ ions give the well-pronounced luminescence bands around 690 nm in TL emission spectra. Our data, e.g. ref. [11, 14] indicate that dosimetric properties of Al₂O₃ the form of ceramics from

nanopowder produced by means of nanotechnology, can possess such advantages as high sensitivity to ionizing radiation, uniform distribution of luminescence centres, appropriateness to high radiation doses and low price compared to corresponding single crystals. In future we plan the investigation of the material using mainly the OSL method.

- AlN (aluminum nitride) has been previously studied by us for TL and OSL applications [12]. It has a number of advantages compared to Al₂O₃, a much higher sensitivity to ionizing radiation and in particular to UV radiation [12], a wider linear dynamic range, lesser dependence of TL response on the readout (heating) rate. However, on the negative side, it has much higher signal fading rate at room temperature. We have assigned the fading to tunnel recombination process between donor-acceptor pairs. Our ideas to diminish the detrimental fading phenomenon include creating deep traps by additional doping of AlN with transition metals and rare earth ions. AlN ceramics samples, pure and doped with Y₂O₃, Eu₂O₃ and GaN were studied for photoelectric effect, photoluminescence spectra and kinetics and thermoluminescence under irradiation with UV light from above- and below- bandgap spectral region [15, 16]. Properties of pure and Eu and Mn doped AlN were also studied recently [17,18] The additional studies of materials are planned using mainly the OSL method.
- Wide band gap dielectrics, on the example of LiGaO₂ (LGO). LGO is a wide band gap (E_g=5.6-6 eV) wurtzite-structure crystal, relatively recently proposed for TL/OSL dosimetry with Cu+ as dopant. Our study of nominally pure LiGaO₂ crystal [19] has shown that UV light irradiation of this material produces complicated recombination processes, which are followed by TL and OSL. The further investigations have shown that, although this material provides only a weak response to ionising radiation and UV light and hardly can be applied as a dosimetric material, the TL/OSL methods used are very useful instruments for elucidation of the energy transfer and luminescence mechanisms, which allows revealing and characterization of pyroelectrical luminescence in LGO [19,20].

The planned experimental study is relatively well-supported by the existing infrastructure. In year 2020 due to the ISSP UL Infrastructure project, a new, state-of-the-art experimental dosimetric system was obtained, Lexsyg Research TL/OSL reader (Freiberg Instruments, Germany), which enables TL and OSL measurements after X-ray and beta-ray irradiation. Its capabilities are further enhanced by a self-made accessory, allowing an additional sample irradiation UV light. In 2024 the device was upgraded with a Peltier module, enabling TL/OSL measurements at temperatures below RT, beginning from -50 C. The TL, OSL and radioluminescence signals can be spectrally analysed using an additional spectrometer and CCD camera. Development of the OSL experimental setup is planned using LED sources of different wavelengths. Additionally, the dosimetric studies are complemented by photoluminescence emission and excitation spectra measurements. Therefore, there is a need to enhance the experimental basis for the PL/TL spectral measurements by <u>acquisition</u> of Andor Spectrograph Kymera with 4 gratings, with ICCD IStar 320 and accessories), and closed cycle cryostat (5.5- 800 K) for optical spectroscopy.

Future activities

- **TL investigation of wide band-gap dielectrics**, including oxides single crystals, polycrystals, powders and ceramics, optical glass fibres for application in medicine, radiation safety, environment, industry, space flights placing the main emphasis on material study for UV light dosimetry. Dosimetric properties of Al₂O₃, AlN, ZnO doped with transition metal and rare earth elements will be studied in order to find out the optimal doping conditions, providing high sensitivity, large dynamic range and low fading rate of the stored signal.
- Further **development of the OSL method** basing on the available Lexsyg TL/OSL reader. Study of the OSL materials mainly based on the doped Al₂O₃ and AlN ceramics and related materials. OSL materials are especially useful for use in the portable devises for the field measurements, however, special precautions must be undertaken to prevent the optical bleaching by the ambient light.
- TL/OSL methods have a **fundamental role in research on luminescent materials**, including scintillators and persistent phosphors. TL is extremely sensitive to small concentrations of

defects and will be used to detect defect energy levels or to investigate phenomena such as tunnelling between defects. This will help to engineer new luminescent materials for a variety of application.

• Future development of the TL/OSL measurement equipment is planned in the following directions: - upgrade of the Lexsyg research TL/OSL reader for irradiation with a UV light source (UV lasers, Deuterium lamp), using the optical lightguides; - upgrade of the Lexsyg research TL/OSL reader software; - development of the OSL experimental setup using LED sources of different wavelengths; -upgrade of the set-up for PL/TL spectral measurements with a new spectrograph and CCD camera.

Networking

Latvia

- Riga Technical University, Technological group, Dr. I. Steins;
- Latvian Biomedical Research and Study Centre, Dr. A. Zajakina.

Abroad

- Taiwan: Kaohsiung, Sun Yat Sen University, Prof. Dr. Mitch Chou and Prof. Dr. Liuwen Chang;
- Lithuania: Vilnius, Center for physical Sciences and Technology, Dr.S. Tumenas, Dr.Jurga Juodkazyte;
- Lithuania: Vilnius University, Institute of Applied Research, Dr. S. Miasojedovas, Dr. P. Scaev;
- Germany: Company Freiberg Instruments, Dr. M. Richter;
- Denmark: Riso National Laboratory, Dr. P. Christensen and Dr. L.Botter-Jensen;
- France: Nice University, Dr. M. Benabdesselam;

References

1. N.M. Konopka, Bilski P., Obryk B., et al, Luminescence Dosimetry: Review of Methods, Detectors and Their Applications. Nonlinear Optics and Quantum Optics, 48 (2017) 133-146.

2. M.F. Hassan, W.N. Rahman, T. Tominaga, et al, Radiat. Ge-doped silica fibre for proton beam dosimetry. Phys. Chem. 165 (2019) 108390.

- 3. E. Tsoutsoumanos, M. Saleh et al, Nanostructured TLDs: Studying the impact of crystalline size on the Thermoluminescence glow-curve shape and electron trapping parameters. Radiat. Phys. Chem. 212 (2023) 111067
- 4. A. Moraitis et al, Future perspectives of artificial intelligence in bone marrow dosimetry and individualized radioligand therapy. Seminars in Nuclear Medicine 54, 4 (2024) 460 469.
- 5. A .Duragkar, A. Muley, N. R.P awar et al., Versatility of thermoluminescence materials and radiation dosimetry A review. Luminescence 34, (2019) 656 6651.
- 6. M. Sen, R. Shukla, V. Sathian, Thermoluminescence based personnel neutron dosimetry study of LiMgBO3: Dy3+ Ceramics International 46, 12 (2020) 20236 2024215.
- 7. M. Jensen, J. Nyeman et al., Optically Stimulated Luminescence in State-of-the-Art LYSO: Ce Scintillators Enables High Spatial Resolution 3D Dose Imaging. Scientific Reports 12 (2022) 8301.
- 8. E. G. Yukihara, A. J. J. Bos, P. Bilski, S.W.S. McKeever, The quest for new thermoluminescence and optically stimulated luminescence materials: Needs, strategies and pitfalls. Rad. Measur. 158 (2022) 106846.
- 9. E. G. Yukihara, S.W. S. McKeever, C. E. Andersen, A. J. J.Bos, et al., Luminescence dosimetry. Nature Reviews Methods Primers (2022) 2:26.
- 10. S. M. U. Hassan et al, Advances in transition metals and rare-earth elements doped ZnO as thermoluminescence dosimetry material. Radiat. Phys. Chem., 223 (2024) 111961.
- 11. Grigorjeva L., Zolotarjovs A., Sokovnin S.Y., Millers D., Radioluminescence, thermoluminescence and dosimetric properties of ZnO ceramics. Ceramics International, 43(8) (2017) 6187-6191.
- Trinkler L. and Berzina B., Luminescence properties in AlN ceramics and its potential application for solid state dosimetry. (pp. 59-82) A chapter in book Advances in Ceramics - Characterization, Raw Materials, Processing, Properties, Degradation and Healing. ISBN 978-953-307-504-4, 370 pages, Publisher: InTech, 2011.
- Trinkler L., Berzina B., et al., UV-light induced luminescence process in Al₂O₃ bulk and nanosize powders. Optical Materials, 32 (2010) 789-785.
- 14. Einbergs E., Zolotarjovs A., Bite I., Cipa J., Vitola V., Laganovska K., Trinkler L., Re-Evaluation of chromium doped alumina for dosimetric applications. Latvian J. of Phys. and Techn. Sc., 1 (2021) 15-22.
- Trinkler L., Trukhin A., Cipa J., Berzina B., UV light induced processes in pure and doped AlN ceramics. Opt. Mater. 121 (2021) 111550.
- 16. J. Cipa, L. Trinkler, B. Berzina, Thermoluminescence response of AlN+Y₂O₃ Ceramics to sunlight and X-Ray irradiation. Latvian J. of Phys. and Techn. Sc., 2021, N1, 3-14.
- 17. B. Berzina, R. Ruska, J. Cipa, L. Trinkler, A. Sarakovskis, J. Grabis, I. Steins, Luminescence of AlN:Eu ceramics: Properties and mechanisms. Optical Materials 127 (2022) 112217.
- R. Ruska, B.Berzina, J. Cipa, L. Trinkler, A. Sarakovskis, J. Grabis, I. Steins, Luminescence of AlN:Mn²⁺ materials: Properties and mechanisms, Results in Optics 10 (2023) 100365.
- L. Trinkler, V. Pankratov, A. Trukhin, B. Berzina, M.M.C. Chou, L. Chang, Anisotropic photoluminescence of β-LiGaO₂ crystal.Opt. Mater. 132 (2022) 112856.
- Trinkler L., Trukhin A., Cipa J., Berzina B., Korsaks V., Mitch M.C. Chou, Chu-An Li, Spectral and kinetic characteristics of pyroelectric luminescence in LiGaO₂. Opt. Mater. 94 (2019) 15–20.

ELECTRONIC PROCESSES AND CHARGE TRANSFER MECHANISMS IN LUMINESCENT MATERIALS

State of the art

The exploration of luminescent materials with band gaps exceeding 3 eV is becoming increasingly vital due to their broad range of potential applications across diverse technological fields, including optoelectronic devices, sensors, bioimaging, and environmental monitoring. [1] Research in this domain has expanded to cover various facets, including the development of luminescent centers—both intrinsic and extrinsic (doping-induced)—and the in-depth understanding of the electronic processes, charge carrier dynamics, and relaxation mechanisms involved in luminescence. [2,3]

Recent technological advances have fuelled a growing interest in two promising classes of luminescent materials: mechanoluminescent and electroluminescent materials. Mechanoluminescence, the phenomenon in which mechanical stress induces light emission, has garnered considerable attention for its potential in applications such as stress mapping, wearable sensors, and smart materials.[4] Recent studies have focused on improving the sensitivity and stability of these materials, as well as developing new mechanoluminescent compounds that can operate under wider range of mechanical conditions.[5, 6]

Electroluminescent materials, which emit light in response to an applied electric field, are another area of rapid development. These materials are key components in devices such as light-emitting diodes (LEDs), flat-panel displays, and electroluminescent sensors.[7] Research efforts are now focused on developing new electroluminescent compounds that are both environmentally friendly and cost-effective, with particular emphasis on flexible and transparent devices that could revolutionize display technology and wearable electronics.[8,9]

Another promising area of research is the intersection of luminescent materials and additive manufacturing. Additive manufacturing, or 3D printing, offers unique opportunities to create complex, customizable structures with embedded luminescent properties. By incorporating luminescent materials directly into 3D-printed components, it is possible to create multifunctional devices with integrated sensing, lighting, or signalling capabilities.[10] Recent studies have explored methods to enhance the printability, stability, and performance of luminescent materials for these applications, with promising results.[11,12]

One of the key challenges in the development of new luminescent materials is the need to better understand and control the underlying mechanisms of luminescence, including charge carrier dynamics and defect engineering. Advanced characterization techniques, such as time-resolved photoluminescence spectroscopy, thermoluminescence analysis, and synchrotron-based methods, are increasingly being used to study these processes at the atomic level.

Our position

Significant work is invested world-wide in studies of long-lasting (persistent) luminescence of solids. While this phenomenon is the basis of numerous applications (visualization in darkness, various indicators, traffic signs etc.), the underlying fundamental mechanisms providing the ultra-long luminescence decay time are not clearly understood.

The study of these materials has seen a surge in recent years. The Optical Materials Laboratory and the Laboratory of Spectroscopy have made strides in developing materials that exhibit photoinduced long-lasting luminescence, an effect with considerable implications for applications such as emergency lighting, medical diagnostics, and environmental sensing.[13-22]

The team within the Optical Materials Laboratory has performed a series of in-depth studies of electronic processes in long-lasting luminescence materials [13]; a new mechanism of long-lasting luminescence

involving electron tunnelling has been proposed.[21] The work of this and other international groups on mechanisms of long-lasting luminescence mechanisms is summarized in our topical review paper.[20]

Additionally, mechanoluminescence is extensively studied combining the previous knowledge on the electronic processes in persistent luminescence materials with the newly developed experimental setup for mechanoluminescence tests. Studies on various production methods, host materials and spectroscopic properties are performed with a row of publications in the making.

Not only the experimental setup for mechanoluminescence measurements was published in detail in year 2022 [15], but also a completely new data analysis protocol was developed and published for automated 2d image analysis of mechanoluminescence while the parts are deformed.[16] This allows the use of our developed materals to be used in a form of paint for real practical applications.

Our laboratory is also exploring luminescent glass and translucent ceramics to enhance materials with unique optical properties [22], as it proposed also in monograph by Kitai, A [23].

In scintillator/dosimetry field, the radio- and photoluminescence studies of prospective scintillator ZnO:In and ZnO:Ga were conducted. The results of experiments show an extremely fast subnanosecond decay of near-band-edge luminescence. [19]The time constant determined for the decay of this luminescence was \approx 17 ps [18] and it is very close to the present best result 15 ps found by Yamanoi K. et al. [24].

Thermostimulated luminescence investigation of Al₂O₃:C layer on metallic aluminium was conducted [17] and it was shown that the charge traps in Al₂O₃:C layer are similar to those known in the widely used thermoluminescent dosimeter TLD – 500. An understanding of the electronic processes in these layers is necessary to develop radiation-detecting 2D screens.

Thermostimulated luminescence analysis of oxygen vacancies in HfO₂ nanoparticles is provided [25].

Future activities

For persistent luminescence materials:

The studies of the impact of spatial distribution of donor-acceptor pairs on persistent luminescence are planned. The cooperation between Povdiv University (Bulgaria) and Optical Materials laboratory is ongoing in the subject of **luminescent, phone readable anti-counterfeiting tags**. Also, different **persistent luminescent glasses** are being studied and will be in the focus in the future.

For the **scintillator** field, two main directions are foreseen for ZnO based scintillator materials:

- to elucidate the main mechanism(s) contributing to room temperature luminescence;
- to find a more efficient donor and its optimal concentration in ZnO for an efficient suppression of charge carrier trapping at intrinsic defects.

In addition, the knowledge on alumina-based dosimetry is applied to create dosimetric coatings using Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. With efforts to produce alumina coatings on metal surface, the research can not only lead to the creation of a very promising method and material for practical applications, but also give an insight on alumina ceramic behavior under ionizing radiation.

The work on **mechanoluminescence will be continued further**, as initial feedback from companies working with additive manufacturing methods (Baltic 3D) was very positive, and the possibilities for joint projects or commercialization are outlined.

In future activities, one of the key focal points will be **the automated synthesis of complex oxide materials optimized for optical applications**. This will include leveraging advanced methods such as Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation (PEO), which has proven to be highly effective in generating oxide coatings with tailored properties, including enhanced luminescent and optical characteristics.

In addition to PEO, other advanced synthesis techniques will also be explored to optimize the **performance of complex oxides**. These may include sol-gel processing, hydrothermal synthesis, and combustion methods, all of which offer unique advantages for producing fine-tuned luminescent materials with well-defined structures and morphologies. By automating these synthesis processes, it will be possible to accelerate the development and discovery of new materials by enabling high-throughput screening of different compositional and structural parameters.

Future work will also focus on the **integration of machine learning algorithms to assist in the optimization of synthesis parameters**, thereby speeding up the discovery of high-performance materials.

In addition, one of the focuses of the lab **is finding new applications with higher TRL for developed scientific concepts and ideas through tight collaboration with industry**. One of the successful higher TRL applications of optical phenomena is in-situ water quality measurement device that uses optical spectroscopy developed in the Optical Materials laboratory – Spectromarine.com. A new collaboration network was opened, including participation in "Water Europe" (<u>https://watereurope.eu</u>) - European platform that promotes innovation, research, and sustainable water management practices.

Networking

Abroad

- Bulgaria, Plovdiv University, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Prof. T. Eftiimov
- Germany, GSI Helmholtzzentrum für Schwerionnenforschung, Dr. P. Boutachkov
- Finland, Tampere University and University of Turku, Dr. V. Lahty, Dr. M. Lastusaari
- Czech Republic, Institute of Physics AS, Dr. P. Bohacek and Dr. M. Nikl
- Estonia, Institute of Physics, University of Tartu, Dr. S. Zazubovich and Dr. A. Krasnikov

- [1] Ronda, C. Challenges in application of luminescent materials, a tutorial overview. Progress in Electromagnetics Research, 147, 81–93. (2014).
- [2] Van der Heggen, D., et al. Persistent Luminescence in Strontium Aluminate: A Roadmap to a Brighter Future. Advanced Functional Materials, 32(52), (2022). 2208809.
- [3] Vitola, V., Millers, D., Smits, K., Bite, I., & Zolotarjovs, A.. The search for defects in undoped SrAl2O₄ material. Optical Materials, 87, 48–52. (2019).
- [4] Chen, B., Zhang, X., & Wang, F. Expanding the Toolbox of Inorganic Mechanoluminescence Materials. Accounts of Materials Research, 2(5), 364–373. (2021).
- [5] Zhuang, Y., & Xie, R.J. Mechanoluminescence Rebrightening the Prospects of Stress Sensing: A Review. Advanced Materials, 33(50), 2005925. (2021).
- [6] Feng, A., & Smet, P.F. A Review of Mechanoluminescence in Inorganic Solids: Compounds, Mechanisms, Models, and Applications. Materials, 11(4), (2018).
- [7] Zhang, X., & Wang, F. Recent advances in flexible alternating current electroluminescent devices. APL Materials, 9(3). (2021).
- [8] Anikeeva, P.O., Halpert, J.E., Bawendi, M.G., & Bulović, V. Quantum dot light-emitting devices with electroluminescence tunable over the entire visible spectrum. Nano Letters, 9(7), 2532–2536. (2009).
- [9] Yuan, Q., et al. A review on the electroluminescence properties of quantum-dot light-emitting diodes. Organic Electronics, 90, 106086. (2021).
- [10] Drozdowski, A., Poelman, D., Runowski, M., Hemmerich, H., Rivera-López, F., & Grzyb, T. Unleashing the glow: upconverting nanoparticles recharge persistent luminescent materials – applications in 3Dprinting and optical coding. Journal of Materials Chemistry C, 12(33), 13040–13049. (2024).
- [11] Zhu, Y., et al. Recent advancements and applications in 3D printing of functional optics. Additive Manufacturing, 52, 102682(2022)..

- [12] Rojas-Hernandez, R.E., Rubio-Marcos, F., Fernandez, J.F., & Hussainova, I. Aluminate-Based Nanostructured Luminescent Materials: Design of Processing and Functional Properties. Materials, 14(16), 4591(2021).
- [13] **Vitola, V., et al**. The boron effect on low temperature luminescence of SrAl2O₄:Eu, Dy. Ceramics International, 46(16), 26377–26381. (2020).
- [14] **Leimane, M., et al.** Sol–Gel Synthesis of Translucent and Persistent Luminescent SiO₂@SrAl2O4 Eu, Dy, B Materials. Materials, 12(11), 1733. (2022).
- [15] **Einbergs, E., et al.** A mechanoluminescence based approach to spatial mechanical stress visualisation of additively manufactured (3D printed) parts. Materialia, 24, 101516. (2022).
- [16] Einbergs, E., & Zolotarjovs, A. Programmable material testing device for mechanoluminescence measurements. HardwareX, 12, e00349. (2022).
- [17] **Zolotarjovs, A.**, et al. Thermostimulated luminescence of plasma electrolytic oxidation coatings on 6082 aluminium surface. Radiation Measurements, 124, 29–34. (2019).
- [18] **Millers, D., et al.** ZnO and ZnO:Ga Ceramics for Advanced Scintillators. Advances in Materials, 9(4), 94–101. (2020).
- [19] Grigorjeva, L., et al. Sub-nanosecond excitonic luminescence in ZnO:In nanocrystals. Radiation Measurements, 123, 69–73. (2019).
- [20] Vitola, V., Millers, D., Bite, I., Smits, K., & Spustaka, A. Recent progress in understanding the persistent luminescence in SrAl204:Eu, Dy. Materials Science and Technology, 35(14), 1661–1677. (2019).
- [21] Liepina, V., Millers, D., & Smits, K. Tunneling luminescence in long lasting afterglow of SrAl2O4:Eu, Dy. Journal of Luminescence, 185, 151–154. (2017).
- [22] Leimane, M., Krizmane, K., Bite, I., Grube, J., & Vitola, V Sol–Gel Synthesis of Translucent and Persistent Luminescent SiO₂@ SrAl2O4 Eu, Dy, B Materials. Materials, 16(12), 4416. (2023).
- [23] Kitai, A. (2008). Luminescent Materials and Applications. John Wiley & Sons.
- [24] Yamanoi, K., & Sarukura, N Response-time-improved ZnO scintillator by impurity doping. Journal of Crystal
 Growth.
 (2011).

 https://www.academia.edu/15286688/Response time improved ZnO scintillator by impurity dopin
 g
- [25] Laganovska, K., Bite, I., Zolotarjovs, A., Einbergs, E., Vitola, V., Dile, M., & Smits, K. Thermostimulated luminescence analysis of oxygen vacancies in HfO₂ nanoparticles. Materials Research Bulletin, 167, 112409. (2024)

X-RAY ABSORPTION SPECTROSCOPY USING SYNCHROTRON LIGHTSOURCES

State of the art

The structure of materials determines their properties, making its understanding and control vital for practical applications. X-ray absorption spectroscopy (XAS) with synchrotron radiation is a powerful tool for probing local atomic and electronic structures in solids, liquids, and gases [1]. It can be used to study crystalline, nanocrystalline, and disordered solids as well as liquids and gases. XAS is a well-established but evolving method, closely linked to advances in synchrotron facilities. Nowadays, there are about 50 active synchrotron facilities around the world, and 17 of them are located in the EU Member States. The European Strategy Forum on Research Infrastructures (ESFRI) Roadmap 2021 outlines the strategic vision for the development of Europe's large-scale research facilities.

During the last ten years, there has been continuous growth in the number of publications (according to the WoS database) on the development and application of XAS, now reaching approximately 3,000 papers per year. XAS is a multidisciplinary field of research that includes studies of materials and their transformations in material science, physics, chemistry, life sciences, environmental sciences, cultural heritage, and medicine. The technique provides a wide range of opportunities for *in-situ* and *operando* studies, which were recently reviewed in [1]. The theoretical foundation of X-ray absorption spectra is based on Fermi's Golden Rule, and the spectra are typically computed numerically using multiple-scattering theory [2]. Structural information is encoded in the extended X-ray absorption fine structure (EXAFS). Retrieving it from experimentally measured spectra requires significant effort and can be challenging [3, 4]. Therefore, the development of methodologies for the analysis of X-ray absorption spectra, based on advanced numerical methods [4], including machine learning methods [5], is a hot topic in current research, actively pursued at ISSP.

Recent advances in machine learning and Big Data now enable autonomous experimentation, allowing automatic control of operando parameters and real-time data processing [6], which enhances experimental throughput, and reliability and supports new methodologies.

New X-ray and extreme ultraviolet sources like free-electron lasers (FELs) offer insights into dynamic molecular structures and fundamental photophysical, photochemical, and biological events, as well as coupled electronic and nuclear dynamics. Pump-probe experiments, combining synchronized pulsed laser excitation with X-ray pulses, enable a new time-domain view of electron correlations, with implications for designing molecules and materials with tailored functions [7].

Our position

The EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory is one of the world's leading groups in developing and applying advanced methodologies for the analysis of X-ray absorption spectra, including approaches based on regularization technique, atomistic simulations such as molecular dynamics and reverse Monte Carlo (RMC) modelling, and machine learning methods. The Laboratory has world-class expertise in the use of synchrotron radiation X-ray absorption spectroscopy, an analytical tool for studying the local atomic and electronic structure of materials.

A set of leading ab initio (full-) multiple-scattering XANES/EXAFS software codes from the partners provides a solid foundation for experimental data analysis at ISSP UL. The use of theoretical simulations is supported by a high-performance computing (HPC) infrastructure (Linux Cluster) with a theoretical peak performance of about 150 teraflops. This enables ISSP UL researchers to fully exploit the potential of XAS, allowing for the incorporation of both static and thermal disorder into structural models. As a result, new possibilities are opened for investigating structure-property relationships in emerging materials.

The research at ISSP UL includes but is not limited to various functional nanomaterials, thermochromic and photochromic materials, compositionally complex materials, as well as disordered materials (thin films, glasses, etc.). Over the past 10 years, more than 40 projects have been conducted at synchrotrons such as PETRA-III (Hamburg), MaxIV (Lund), SOLEIL (Paris), ELETTRA (Trieste), ALBA (Barcelona), and ESRF (Grenoble), resulting in over 130 peer-reviewed publications. The results of these experimental projects have contributed to the implementation of 18 international and national research projects, 12 of which are directly related to the use of the XAS method. The high quality of the laboratory's research is highlighted by the inclusion of its recent results in the Highlights 2018-2019 of the ELETTRA synchrotron center, Highlights 2021 of the ESRF synchrotron facility, and Highlights 2022 of the MaxIV synchrotron center. In 2024, the laboratory contributed two chapters to the latest volume of the International Tables for Crystallography, dedicated to X-ray absorption spectroscopy and related techniques [1], as well as a chapter on X-ray absorption spectroscopy in high-entropy material research in a recent book [8]. The Lab's work on the study of the structure-property relationship in the versatile copper molybdates was included in the Latvian Academy of Sciences YearBook 2022. The laboratory represents Latvia in the European Synchrotron and Free Electron Laser User Organisation (ESUO) and in the International X-ray Absorption Society (IXAS).

In addition to carrying out its own projects, the laboratory provides consulting services to research groups worldwide on EXAFS data analysis and interpretation. This activity is growing due to the increasing reputation of the group and the popularity of the EXAFS method and is likely to significantly expand the scope of cooperation and open up new opportunities in the future.

Several groups around the world have been active in advanced XAS data analysis for a long time and can be considered "competitors". The group from Wigner Research Centre for Physics (Hungary) is the ancestor of the RMC method and is developing it mainly for application to disordered materials such as solutions and glasses. Another group from Camerino University (Italy) is the main developer of the GNXAS code for ab initio XAS simulations but provides also an RMC part dedicated to disordered materials. An international group, including teams from ISIS, the University of Cambridge, the University of Oxford, Queen Mary University of London (UK), and NIST (USA), is involved in the development of the reverse Monte Carlo method for the simultaneous analysis of various data types (neutron & X-ray total scattering & the Bragg profile, EXAFS, single-crystal diffuse scattering). Currently, there are only a few major players in the field of machine learning applications for XAS - Fritz Haber Institute of the Max Planck Society (Germany) and Brookhaven National Laboratory (USA) - but this number is expected to grow soon due to the method's potential. Meanwhile, several groups (e.g. from Sapienza University of Rome (Italy)) working in the fields of liquids and disordered compounds use molecular dynamics to simulate the configuration-averaged XAS spectra.

Future activities

The EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory will align its future research with European research trends outlined by the European Strategy Forum on Research Infrastructures ESFRI, utilizing large European synchrotron facilities that served over 24,000 users in 2017. The lab is open to collaborations within the EC Horizon Europe program and other research initiatives.

The main research directions will involve the development of novel methodologies based on machine learning methods and their application to the study of high-entropy materials, energy, and smart materials.

Rising energy consumption and limited resources are key challenges. The EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory is studying oxide dispersion strengthened (ODS) alloys, crucial for nuclear fusion energy production, and advancing Europe's role in nuclear fusion technology through the EUROfusion project. Additionally, the lab will continue exploring multifunctional materials for X-ray sensing, thermochromic, electrochromic, photocatalytic, thermoelectric, and other energy applications [9, 10, 11].

Materials science under extreme conditions, such as ultra-high pressures and temperatures, offers a path to discovering new materials not possible with conventional methods. These conditions are created using

tools like diamond anvil cells (DACs). Combined with theoretical structure prediction tools based on ab initio quantum chemistry, such experiments accelerate materials discovery and enhance understanding of their properties. The EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory collaborates with synchrotron centers at SOLEIL (Paris) and ESRF (Grenoble) on these studies [12].

Key challenges in information technologies include the growing demand for storage capacity, computing speed, smart sensors, and energy-efficient solutions. The EXAFS method, combined with advanced analysis methods and ab initio simulations, will be an invaluable tool for future in-situ and operando studies of emerging materials (e.g., 2D van der Waals and core/shell nanostructures, thin-film thermoelectric and photochromic materials, hybrid organic-inorganic systems) [9, 10, 13, 14]. Mastering advanced experimental techniques will contribute to understanding these materials and promoting their future application. These efforts will be carried out in close collaboration with groups at DESY as part of the PETRA-III storage ring upgrade program.

The new direction of our research aims to enhance the understanding of multicomponent alloys, also known as high entropy alloys (HEAs) or complex concentrated alloys (CCAs) [8]. HEAs exhibit superior mechanical, oxidation, corrosion, and irradiation properties compared to commercial alloys due to five key effects: high-entropy effect, severe lattice distortion, sluggish diffusion, short-range order effect, and "cocktail" effect [8]. Understanding these phenomena in both homogeneous and heterogeneous HEAs at the atomic level requires detailed knowledge of the composition dependence of short-range order, which can be probed by XAS combined with advanced atomistic simulations [15, 16].

Developing EXAFS data analysis methods is a key focus at ISSP. The next breakthrough will likely come from applying machine learning, enabling faster material simulations, decision-making, and real-time experiment control. This will improve efficiency at synchrotron facilities and create new possibilities. The laboratory plans to advance this technology through its involvement in two COST Action CA22143 and CA22154.

The sustainability strategy of the laboratory is based on four main activities: 1) the continuous search for and involvement of students and postdoctoral researchers; 2) the continuous improvement and development of team potential and available resources through in-lab seminars and discussions, and international schools/workshops/conferences; 3) the participation of young researchers in synchrotron experiments; and 4) collaboration with key players in the field to maintain and enhance the team's competitiveness.

The EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory team has developed several demonstrators realized as software packages for EXAFS data analysis, which are available to the international community on the lab's website. These packages are also used for teaching purposes at international schools. Locally, the EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory is involved in the teaching process at the University of Latvia providing an MSc course (64 hours) "Microscopy and Spectroscopy Characterization Methods".

Networking

The EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory at ISSP UL currently offers consulting services to research groups worldwide on EXAFS data analysis and interpretation. This activity is expanding due to the growing popularity of the EXAFS method and the increasing number of synchrotron centers globally. In 2024, the laboratory organized the International Workshop on Recent Advances and Future Trends in EXAFS Spectroscopy (June 13-14, 2024, Riga, Latvia) and participated in organizing the COST EuMINe 1st General Meeting and Workshop (April 10-12, Bologna, Italy).

Collaboration with the high-tech industry is primarily feasible through long-term projects due to the specificity of the XAS method. However, short-term consulting services can be provided in particular cases.

Abroad:

• Germany: Helmholtz-Zentrum Berlin für Materialien und Energie (HZB), Dr. A. Smekhova.

- Germany: Deutsches Elektronen-Synchrotron—A Research Centre of the Helmholtz Association, Dr. E. Welter.
- Germany: Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Dr. C. Bonnekoh, Prof. B. Gorr.
- Portugal: Centre of Physics, University of Minho, Prof. C. J. Tavares.
- Finland: Center for X-ray Spectroscopy, University of Helsinki, Dr. R. Bes.

- 1. International Tables for Crystallography, Volume I: X-ray Absorption Spectroscopy and Related Techniques, Eds. C. Chantler, F. Boscherini and B. Bunker (IUCr) (Wiley-Blackwell, 2024).
- 2. C.R. Natoli, M. Benfatto, S. Della Longa, K. Hatada, X-ray absorption spectroscopy: state-of-the-art analysis, J. Synchrotron Rad. 10 (2003) 26-42.
- 3. A. Kuzmin and J. Chaboy, EXAFS and XANES analysis of oxides at the nanoscale, IUCrJ 1 (2014) 571-589.
- 4. A. Kuzmin, J. Timoshenko, A. Kalinko, I. Jonane, A. Anspoks, Treatment of disorder effects in X-ray absorption spectra beyond the conventional approach, Rad. Phys. Chem. 175 (2020) 108112.
- J. Timoshenko, A. Anspoks, A. Cintins, A. Kuzmin, J. Purans, A.I. Frenkel, Neural network approach for characterizing structural transformations by x-ray absorption fine structure spectroscopy, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 225502.
- J. Timoshenko, Z. Duan, G. Henkelman, R.M. Crooks, A.I. Frenkel, Solving the Structure and Dynamics of Metal Nanoparticles by Combining X-Ray Absorption Fine Structure Spectroscopy and Atomistic Structure Simulations, Annu. Rev. Anal. Chem. 12 (2019) 501-522.
- 7. J.C.H. Spence, XFELs for structure and dynamics in biology, IUCrJ 4 (2017) 322-339.
- 8. **A. Kuzmin**, "X-ray absorption spectroscopy in high-entropy material research", in High-Entropy Alloys: Design, Manufacturing, and Emerging Applications, G. Yasin, M. Abubaker Khan, M. Afifi, T. Anh Nguyen, Y. Zhang (Eds.), pp. 121-155 (Elsevier, 2024).
- 9. **I. Pudza,** A. Kalinko, **A. Cintins, A. Kuzmin**, Study of the thermochromic phase transition in CuMo_{1-x}W_xO₄ solid solutions at the W L₃-edge by resonant X-ray emission spectroscopy, Acta Mater. 205 (2021) 116581.
- 10. H. Arslan, I. Pudza, A. Kuzmin, S. Karazhanov, Evidence of local structural distortions and subtle thermal disorder in transparent photochromic yttrium oxyhydride, Appl. Phys. Lett. 124 (2024) 151901.
- 11. I. Weisbord, M. Barzilay, R. Cai, E. Welter, **A. Kuzmin, A. Anspoks**, T. Segal-Peretz, The development and atomic structure of zinc oxide crystals grown within polymers from vapor phase precursors, ACS Nano 18 (2024) 18393-18404.
- 12. J. Purans, A. P. Menushenkov, S. P. Besedin, A. A. Ivanov, V. S. Minkov, I. Pudza, A. Kuzmin, K. V. Klementiev, S. Pascarelli, O. Mathon, A. D. Rosa, T. Irifune, M. I. Eremets, Local electronic structure rearrangements and strong anharmonicity in YH₃ under pressures up to 180 GPa, Nat. Commun. 12 (2021) 1765.
- 13. **G. Bakradze, A. Kalinko, A. Kuzmin**, Evidence of dimerization of nickel ions in NiWO₄ and Zn_cNi_{1-c}WO₄ solid solutions probed by EXAFS spectroscopy and reverse Monte Carlo simulations, Acta Mater. 217 (2021) 117171.
- 14. I. Pudza, D. Bocharov, A. Anspoks, M. Krack, A. Kalinko, E. Welter, A. Kuzmin, Unraveling the interlayer and intralayer coupling in two-dimensional layered MoS₂ by X-ray absorption spectroscopy and ab initio molecular dynamics simulations, Mater. Today Commun. 35 (2023) 106359.
- A. Smekhova, D. Gaertner, A. Kuzmin, A. Guilherme Buzanich, G. Schuck, I. Zizak, G. Wilde, K. V. Yusenko, S. Divinski, Anomalies in the short-range local environment and atomic diffusion in single crystalline equiatomic CrMnFeCoNi high-entropy alloy, Nano Res. 17 (2024) 5336-5348.
- 16. **G. Bakradze**, E. Welter, **A. Kuzmin**, Peculiarities of the local structure in new medium- and highentropy, low-symmetry tungstates, J. Phys. Chem. Solids 172 (2023) 111052.

NOVEL LEAD-FREE AND LOW-DIMENSIONAL FERROELECTRIC MATERIALS

State of the Art

Ferroelectricity, discovered over a century ago, for a long time focused on lead-based perovskites. These materials, including lead zirconate titanate (PZT), have been crucial in technologies such as non-volatile memories, piezoactuators, ultrasonic transducers, and electro-optic devices due to their switchable polarization and piezoelectricity [1–2]. However, environmental and health concerns about lead, especially in biomedical applications, have spurred the search for sustainable, lead-free alternatives [3].

Among the most promising lead-free materials is $Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO_3$ (NBT). NBT and its solid solutions have demonstrated comparable or superior performance to PZT in certain applications, such as ultrasound transducers [4]. Despite advances, challenges remain in the production process, leading to inconsistent results. Key issues include deviations from stoichiometry, grain growth, which affect stability of ferroelectric state and nature of electrical conductivity [5-7].

Chemical heterogeneity in the form of core-shell structures can be realized in NBT-based ceramics [8]. Presence of shells influences microstructure of ceramics and can have high impact on electric and ferroelectric properties of material [9].

Recent trends emphasize the miniaturization of ferroelectric materials into low-dimensional forms like nanopowders, nanofibers, thin films, and nanostructures. These materials often show enhanced properties at smaller scales and are used in ferroelectric diodes, negative capacitance devices, and microelectromechanical systems (MEMS) [10–13]. Memory and capacitor technologies remain dominant applications [11–13].

The exploration of 2D ferroelectricity has gained momentum with discoveries in van der Waals (vdW) materials and doped fluorites like $HfZrO_2$ [14]. Layered ferroelectrics, including $CuInP_2S_6$ (CIPS), show promise due to their ferrielectric ordering and ionic conductivity [15, 16]. Recent advancements in CIPS have revealed spontaneous polarization switching in ultra-thin samples, paving the way for new memory and switching devices [16, 17]. Current research is focused on integrating CIPS into functional elements like ferroelectric tunnel junctions and heterostructures [18, 19].

The electrocaloric effect (ECE) offers potential for cooling applications in microelectronics and environmentally friendly refrigeration. Despite extensive research, working cooling prototypes are rare due to inconsistencies in results, mostly originating from application of the indirect ECE determination method, the fact that the most promising results are obtained in thin films, which have low heat capacity, and also limited understanding of the nature of ECE and polarization at high electric fields [20]. Recent work has highlighted the need for new materials and methods, with multilayers of Ba(Ti,Zr)O₃ solid solutions showing Δ T values of up to 6°C [21]. Advancements in thick films and multilayers aim to balance high Δ T values with reduced device voltage [22, 23].

NBT-based materials, while trailing PZT in piezoelectric coefficients, exhibit high mechanical quality factors and large field-induced strains [6]. Expanding composition ranges and addressing challenges such as hysteresis could optimize these materials for various electromechanical applications [24]. Piezoelectric micromachined ultrasound transducers (PMUTs), with advantages over traditional PZT transducers, are being explored for biocompatible and medical uses [25].

Unconventional materials like ceria have shown giant induced piezoelectric effects, though currently practical only at low frequencies [26]. Research continues to improve frequency response and broaden applicability. Additionally, sustainable, lead-free ferroelectrics, including CIPS, are being developed for biomedical applications due to their multifunctionality and biocompatibility [27]. Partial atomic substitution in CIPS has been shown to enhance polarization and piezoelectric properties [28], though challenges in nanoscale characterization and understanding ionic conductivity remain.

Our Position

The Ferroelectric Materials Group, Laboratory of Optical Materials has extensive experience in ferroelectric ceramics, with a recent focus on lead-free materials like Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃ (NBT). Our research has clarified misconceptions about Bi deficiency during sintering, showing that NBT remains stable with stoichiometric deviations [29–31]. We have also explored the electrocaloric effect (ECE) in NBT-BT-based solid solutions, conducting ECE experiments at fields up to 100 kV/cm to explore their cooling potential [32, 33], as well as characterized dielectric properties and field-induced strains in these materials [34].

Additionally, our research on Erbium (Er) luminescence has provided insights into the impact of disorder in the A-sublattice and electric field modulation of luminescence intensity [35]. We have developed lead-free piezoelectric micromachined ultrasound transducers (PMUTs) and explored environmentally friendly production methods for free-standing films, including 0.9NBT-0.1Sr₀₋₇Bi_{0.2}TiO₃ thick films [36].

Our recent expansion includes advanced low-dimensional ferroelectric materials. Prof. Andrei Kholkin has joined our team in the role of ERA Chair, bringing expertise in Scanning Probe Microscopy and low-dimensional ferroelectrics. His knowledge in strain engineering and phase transitions complements our research, enhancing our work on nanodevices for energy conversion and biomedical applications [37–40].

Future Activities

Future research will focus on advancing lead-free and low-dimensional ferroelectric materials, developing production technologies, and expanding applications in energy harvesting, sensing, and cooling devices. Discovering new lead-free compositions and optimizing methods for bulk materials, free-standing thick films, low-dimensional piezoelectrics and multiferroics, including biological polymers, will be prioritized. Future activities will include:

- Further development of NBT and BT-based materials for actuators, sensors, transducers and electrocaloric devices;
- Study of dependence of core-shell structure in NBT-based compositions on composition and sintering parameters of the ceramics, revealing mechanism, responsible for its realization. Analysis of influence of core-shell structure on physical properties (impedance, domain structure, resistance to electrical breakdown, and fatigue).
- Development of producing technology of free-standing thick films via aqueous tape-casting for electrocaloric cooling [32, 33]. Research will also focus on microwave-assisted hydrothermal synthesis for NBT nanopowders with varying morphologies, essential for producing textured films [26].
- Development of novel functional ferroelectrics and low-dimensional structures for flexible sensors, and energy harvesting. Study of zero-, one-, and two-dimensional ferroelectrics, such as CuInP₂S₆ thin films and nanoflakes, aiming to optimize polarization switching and piezoelectric properties. Advanced nanoscale analysis will map functional properties and explore the interplay between polarization, strain, and surface chemistry. Special attention will be given to biological polymers.
- The research will target high electric field behaviors, optimizing piezoelectric coefficients, by electric field-induced mechanical strains, and fatigue resistance. For electrocaloric applications, it is aimed to achieve ΔT values of 5°C and above, enhancing the applied field range.

These research initiatives will drive advancements in both high-tech and biomedical sectors while promoting innovation in eco-friendly, lead-free ferroelectrics. Ultimately, the work aims to pave the way for sustainable applications across diverse fields.

Networking

Abroad:

- Lithuania, Vilnius University, Faculty of Physics, Prof. J. Banys;
- Germany, University of Duisburg-Essen, Institute for Materials Science and Center for Nanointegration, Dr. V. Shvartsman;
- Germany, Fraunhofer institute, Institute of Ceramic technologies and Systems, Dr. S. Gebhard;
- Switzerland, EPFL, Laboratory for in situ Nanomaterials Characterization with Electrons (INE), Prof. V. Tileli;
- Denmark, Technical University of Denmark (DTU), Dr. Milica Vasiljevic;
- France, University of Picardy Jules Verne, Dr. Abdelilah Lahmar;
- France, European Union, Piezoinstitute, the European Institute of Piezoelectric Materials and Devices hub of European expertise and resources on piezoelectric materials and their applications, (ISSP UL participates in this organisation), piezoinstitute.univ-tours.fr.
- Taiwan, National Cheng Kung University, Department of Electrical Engineering, Prof. Chih-Hsien Huang;

- 1. M.E. Lines, A.M. Glass, Principles and Applications of Ferroelectrics and Related Materials, Oxford University Press, Oxford (2001).
- 2. J.C. Burfoot, G.W. Taylor, Polar Dielectrics and Their Applications, University of California Press (2022).
- 3. DIRECTIVE 2002/96/EC OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 27 January 2003 on the restriction of the use of certain hazardous substances in electrical and electronic equipment, Off. J. Eur. Union 46[L37] 24–38 (2003).
- 4. M. Hejazi, E. Taghaddos, E. Gurdal, Z. An, G. A. F. J. van Oppen, R. A. de Vries, E. E. Heijmeijer, N. Tsonev, High-efficiency perovskite solar cells with a thickness-tunable light-harvesting layer, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 97, 3192 (2014).
- 5. Z. He, O. Aktas, M. Kangama, G. Linyu, L. Li, F. Yang, L. Liu, X.-M. Chen, X. Ding. The influence of Bi nonstoichiometry on the depolarization temperature in lead-free piezoelectric Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5+x}TiO_{3+1.5x}, J. Solid State Chem. 329, 124362 (2024).
- 6. F. Yang, M. Li, L. Li, P. Wu, E. Pradal-Velázquez, D.C. Sinclair, Defect chemistry and electrical properties of sodium bismuth titanate perovskite. J. Mater. Chem. A 6, 5243-5254 (2018).
- 7. X. Chen, M. Zhou, J. Shi, T. Liang, J. Zeng, X. Yan, N. Luo, W. Li, Y. Wei, Microstructure and electrical conductivity of A-site fully stoichiometric Na_{0.5+x}Bi_{0.5-x}TiO_{3-δ} with different Na/Bi ratios, Ceram. Int. 45, 11438-11447 (2019).
- 8. J. Koruza, V. Rojas, L. Molina-Luna, U. Kunz, M. Duerrschnabel, H.-J. Kleebe, M. Acosta, Formation of the core–shell microstructure in lead-free Bi_{1/2}Na_{1/2}TiO₃-SrTiO₃ piezoceramics and its influence on the electromechanical properties, J. Eur. Ceram. Soc. 36, 1009-1016 (2016).
- 9. S. Steiner, J. Heldt, O. Sobol, W. Unger, T. Frömling, Influence of oxygen vacancies on core-shell formation in solid solutions of (Na,Bi)TiO₃ and SrTiO₃, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 104, 4341-4350 (2021).
- 10. X. Wang, P. Yu, Z. Lei, C. Zhu, X. Cao, F. Liu, L. You, Q. Zeng, Y. Deng, C. Zhu, J. Zhou, Q. Fu, J. Wang, Y. Huang, Z. Liu, Van der Waals Negative Capacitance Transistors, Nat. Commun. 10, 3037 (2019).
- 11. J. Sun, Y. Li, Y. Ou, Q. Huang, X. Liao, Z. Chen, X. Chai, X. Zhuang, W. Zhang, C. Wang, J. Jiang, A. Jiang, In-Memory Computing of Multilevel Ferroelectric Domain Wall Diodes at LiNbO₃ Interfaces, Adv. Funct. Mater. 32, 2207418 (2022).
- 12. Z. Ma, Q. Zhang, L. Tao, Y. Wang, D. Sando, J. Zhou, Y. Guo, M. Lord, P. Zhou, Y. Ruan, Z. Wang, A Room-Temperature Ferroelectric Resonant Tunneling Diode, Adv. Mater. 34, 2205359 (2022).

- 13. C.B. Eom, S. Trolier-McKinstry, Thin-Film Piezoelectric MEMS, MRS Bulletin 37, 1007 (2012).
- 14. K-H. Kim, I. Karpov, R.H. Olsson, A. H. Kholkin, H.-H. Wang, Y.-T. Zhang, N. Balke, Y. Liu, X. Wang, D. W. Zhang, T. Z. Yang, Room-Temperature Ferroelectricity in Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃ Thin Films, Nat. Nanotechnol. 18, 422 (2023).
- 15. M. Wu, Two-Dimensional van der Waals Ferroelectrics: Scientific and Technological Opportunities, ACS Nano 15, 9229–9237 (2021).
- A. Belianinov, Q. He, A. Dziaugys, P. Maksymovych, E. Eliseev, A. Borisevich, A. Morozovska, J. Banys, Y. Vysochanskii, S.V. Kalinin, CuInP₂S₆ Room Temperature Layered Ferroelectric, Nano Lett. 15, 3808 (2015).
- 17. S. Zhou, L. You, H. Zhou, Y. Pu, Z. Gui, J. Wang, Van der Waals Layered Ferroelectric CuInP2S6: Physical Properties and Device Applications, Frontiers in Physics 16, 13301 (2021).
- 18. F. Liu, L. You, K.L. Seyler, X. Li, P. Yu, J. Lin, X. Wang, J. Zhou, H. Wang, S. T. Pantelides, W. Zhou, R. A. de Vries, Room-Temperature Ferroelectricity in CuInP₂S₆ Ultrathin Flakes, Nat. Comm. 7, 12357 (2016).
- 19. M. Si, P.-Y. Liao, G. Qiu, Y. Duan, P.D. Ye, Ferroelectric Field-Effect Transistors Based on MoS₂ and CuInP₂S₆ Two-Dimensional van der Waals Heterostructure, ACS Nano 12, 6700 (2018).
- 20. A.S. Mischenko, Q. Zhang, J.F. Scott, Ferroelectric Resonant Tunneling Diodes, Science 311, 1270 (2006).
- 21. H.-J. Ye, X.-S. Qian, D.-Y. Jeong, S. Zhang, Y. Zhou, W.-Z. Shao, L. Zhen, Q. M. Zhang, Giant electrocaloric effect in BaZr_{0.2}Ti_{0.8}O₃ thick film, Appl. Phys. Lett. 105, 152908 (2014).
- 22. X.-S. Qian, H.-J. Ye, Y.-T. Zhang, Haiming Gu, Xinyu Li, C. A. Randall, Q. M. Zhang, Polarization-Induced Dipoles in Layered Ferroelectrics, Adv. Funct. Mater. 24, 1300 (2014).
- 23. A. Nair, T. Usui, S. Crossley, S. Kurdi, G. G. Guzmán-Verri, X. Moya, S. Hirose, N.D. Mathur, Large electrocaloric effects in oxide multilayer capacitors over a wide temperature range, Nature, 575, 468 (2019).
- 24. J. Chen, Y. Wang, L. Wu, J. Yu, H. Chen, Phase-Transition in (1-x)Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃-xBaTiO₃ Ceramics, J. Alloys Compd. 775, 865 (2019).
- 25. G. Massimino, L. D' Alessandro, F. Procopi, R. Ardito, M. Ferrera and A. Corigliano, Multiphysics modelling and experimental validation of an air-coupled array of PMUTs with residual stresses, J. Micromechanics Microengineering 28, 054005 (2018).
- 26. D.S. Park, M. Hadad, L.M. Riemer, R. Ignatans, D. Spirito, V. Esposito, V. Tileli, N. Gauquelin, D. Chezganov, D. Jannis, J. Verbeeck, S. Gorfman, N. Pryds, P. Muralt, D. Damjanovic, Induced Giant Piezoelectricity in Centrosymmetric Oxides, Science 375, 653–657 (2022).
- 27. M. Si, A.K. Saha, P.-Y. Liao, S. Gao, S.M. Neumayer, J. Jian, J. Qin, N. Balke Wisinger, H. Wang, P. Maksymovych, W. Wu, S.K. Gupta, P.D. Ye, Room-Temperature Electrocaloric Effect in Layered Ferroelectric CuInP₂S₆ for Solid-State Refrigeration, ACS Nano 13, 8760 (2019).
- 28. J. Deng, Z. Fu, Y. Zhang, J. Kang, W. Gong, Q. Li, X. Zhou, W. Wang, J. Hong, S.-W. Cheong, X. Wang, Establishing the Morphotropic Phase Boundary in van der Waals Ferroelectrics, 2D Mater. 11, 035034 (2024).
- M. Dunce, E. Birks, M. Antonova, L. Bikse, S. Dutkevica, O. Freimanis, M. Livins, L. Eglite, K. Smits, A. Sternberg, Influence of Sintering Temperature on Microstructure of Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃ Ceramics, J. Alloys Compd. 884, 160955 (2021).
- 30. M. Dunce, E. Birks, M. Antonova, J. Varga, R. Ignatans, S. Aizupiete, L. Eglite, Role of Nonstoichiometry on the Phase Behavior of Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃ Ceramics, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 104, 3668 (2021).
- 31. L. Bikse, M. Dunce, E. Birks, K. Kundzins, O. Freimanis, M. Livins, J. Gabrusenoks, A. Sternberg, Impact of Thermal Treatment on the Surface of Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃-Based Ceramics, Crystals 11, 1266 (2021).
- 32. **M. Jurjans, L. Bikse, E. Birks**, S. Svirskas, **M. Antonova**, **M. Kundzins**, **A. Sternberg**, Electromechanical properties in CaTiO₃ modified Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃-BaTiO₃ solid solutions above morphotropic phase boundary, AIP Adv. 12, 035124 (2022).
- 33. **O.M. Eberlins, E. Birks, M. Antonova, M. Kundzins, M. Livins, A. Sternberg**, Electrocaloric Effect in (1-x)(0.8Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃-0.2BaTiO₃)-xCaTiO₃ Solid Solutions at High Electric Fields, Crystals 12, 134 (2022).

- 34. **O.M. Eberlins, M. Dunce, M. Kundzins, E. Birks**, Electrocaloric effect in pure and NaNbO₃-modified Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃-BaTiO₃ solid solutions near the morphotropic phase boundary, J. Appl. Phys. 134, 124102 (2023).
- 35. **M. Dunce, G. Krieke, E. Birks, L. Bikse, M. Antonova, A. Sarakovskis**, The role of structural disorder on luminescence of Eu-doped Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃, J. Appl. Phys. 128, 244104 (2020).
- M. Dunce, A. Plyushch, E. Birks, S. Svirskas, J. Banys, P. Jankauskas, L. Bikse, A. Atvars, O. Freimanis, M. Leimane, A. Bundulis, Free-standing 0.9Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃-0.1Sr_{0.7}Bi_{0.2}TiO₃ thick films produced by water-based tape-casting method, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 107, 6532-6543 (2024).
- 37. A.L. Kholkin, O.V. Pakhomov, A.A. Semenov, A. Tselev, Electrocaloric Effect: Materials and Applications, Elsevier, ISBN 9780128216477 (2023).
- 38. A.N. Morozovska, E.A. Eliseev, Y. Liu, K.P. Kelley, A. Ghosh, Y. Liu, J. Yao, N.V. Morozovsky, A.L. Kholkin, Y.M. Vysochanskii, S.V. Kalinin, Bending-induced isostructural transitions in ultrathin layers of van der Waals ferrielectrics, Acta Mater. 263, 119519 (2024).
- 39. D. Alikin, V. Yuzhakov, L. Semiletova, V. Slabov, D. Kuznetsov, L. Gimadeeva, V. Shur, S. Kopyl, **A. Kholkin**, Biomimetic Properties of Organic–Inorganic Hybrid Materials, ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 9, 6715 (2023).
- 40. A.N. Morozovska, E.A. Eliseev, L.P. Yurchenko, V.V. Laguta, Y. Liu, S.V. Kalinin, A.L. Kholkin, Y.M. Vysochanskii, The strain-induced transitions of the piezoelectric, pyroelectric, and electrocaloric properties of the CuInP₂S₆ films, AIP Adv. 13, 125306 (2023).

PERSISTENT LUMINESCENCE MATERIALS

State of the art

The persistent luminescence (PersL) is light emission lasting from seconds to many hours after ceasing of excitation source. The PersL solid state materials can store the energy of light or X-rays in advance and release it in a long-lasting afterglow emission. This is a valuable characteristic, for applications in different fields, with biomedicine as one of the most important. Recently, the PersL materials have found applications in biomedicine as biosensors, biomarkers, for background-free bio-imaging compounds, targeted drug delivery, diagnostics tools etc. [1-3, and Refs. therein]. For successful use in biomedicine, the solid state PersL materials must meet several main requirements:

- Material must be with very low toxicity.
- The dimensions of material particles must be small, preferably nanosized (≤ 200 nm).
- The particles must be reasonably stable in body fluids and be able to target the specific cells.
- Luminescence spectrum of the material must match up to the spectral region with relatively low absorbance for the main types of human tissues. It covers the spectral region of red and infra-red (IR) light, beginning from ~600 nm and lasting up to 1500 nm.

Presently, there are a lot of solid-state PresL materials with use cases in biomedicine [1-3, and Refs. therein]. The most important of them can be divided into several main groups:

- single and complex metal oxides doped with lanthanide group elements (Eu, Er, Dy, etc.) or transition group metal ions (Mn, Cr, Fe, etc.) [5-7];
- materials containing quantum dots [8],
- carbon nanomaterials [9].

For biomedical applications, all these materials demonstrate several favorable characteristics together with various imperfections. Unfortunately, most doped oxides, which form the dominant class of used biomaterials, are also potentially toxic to living cells [7], but materials with quantum dots and carbon nanomaterials are highly toxic [8, 9]. The facts above highlight existing problems and stimulate elaboration of new prospective red-infrared light emitting PersL materials with advanced qualities for biomedical use.

One of the actual fields for PersL material application is cancer cells identification in its early stages. Among many types of cancer, skin cancer/melanoma is one of the deadliest. Detection of skin cancer in its early stage is essential for patient survival. Usually, the patient's first contact is with a family doctor who is not a specialist in skin diseases. There are special forms of cancer such the Amelanotic Malignant Melanoma [10], which are not visually noticeable under normal circumstances. If activated PersL particles were injected into the skin of such a patient, it would allow visualization of cancerous tissue. In this case the new PersL materials emitting red light from the spectral region 600-700 nm, which is visible to the human eye, are promising.

Our position

The aim of our current research is the development of new solid-state material particles for use as markers and drug carriers in biomedicine. In particular, our research focusses on red/infrared (NIR) light emitting persistent luminophores. These materials hold promise for use in bio-imaging applications, both *in vitro*

and *in vivo*, by enabling non-invasive visualization of tissues within living organisms as well as theranostics. Our current research has been done on several material groups.

<u>The first group includes doped AlN materials</u>. In the period from 2020 to 2023 years we have comprehensively studied luminescence processes in doped AlN ceramics and nanomaterials [11-14]. It was found that AlN:Mn possesses a number of characteristics, which could be prospective for bio-imaging. The material:

- may be synthesized in the form of nanoparticles,
- exhibits red 600 nm emission, possessing long-lasting PersL properties [14].

Nevertheless, it was also observed that the intensity of 600 nm luminescence for nanomaterials is much lower than that of ceramics. Additionally, the AlN nanoparticles readily degrade in water and leave behind aluminum ions, which are known to be harmful. The latter reduces the applicability of the AlN materials in biomedicine.

The second group of promising materials consists of doped calcium/magnesium carbonates and phosphates [15-18]. We are currently studying the materials of this group. These materials possess high biocompatibility and biodegradability [15]. Some of them are already in use for biomedical applications – for delivering drugs and imaging compounds to certain cells in the body [15 and Refs. therein]. For example, calcium phosphate particles functionalized with fluorescing cyanine dye have been used for bio-imaging [15]. At the same time, the PersL emitting nano particles, based on the doped host materials, have not been sufficiently studied.

Our research has shown that these materials:

- may be synthesized in the form of nanoparticles,
- exhibit red 600 nm emission, possessing long-lasting PersL properties and
- easily dissociate into nontoxic substances.

For this reason, we are currently further researching these particles for their biomedical applicability.

The third group of the materials includes the Mn-doped complex oxide Mg₂Si_{0.1}Ge_{0.9}O₄ (MSGO) for development of red light emitting PersL material, applicable for injection in the living tissue and proceeding bio-imaging. This choice is based on the results of our recent studies [19]. The MSGO material in the macrosize form (ceramics), synthesized in the laboratory, has showed excellent optical properties. It possesses intensive 650 nm PersL after irradiation with 263 nm light or X-rays. Preparation work for nanopowder MSGO synthesis is currently under way. Its optical properties will be later examined, and it will be prepared for analysis in living cells.

The bioapplicability of the second and third group particles will be evaluated at the Latvian Biomedical Research and Study Center (LBMC) – a long-time cooperation partner of our institute. Therefore, the proposed research has an interdisciplinary nature, combining physics, chemistry, and biology.

The research is implemented in the Laboratory of Spectroscopy. There are all the necessary conditions for successful research. The research team consists of experienced and young scientists as well as students, who can work on their bachelor's, master's and doctoral theses. In addition, all the necessary equipment is available for spectral and structural characterization and synthesis of the new red-infrared PersL materials. Considering the analysis of the above-mentioned materials, we have chosen several new groups of materials, which could be prospective as biomedical sensors.

Future activities

For the successful realization of the project aim, we are continuing our work on the particles for biomedical applications. This includes synthesis, testing and stability evaluation of various solid-state nanomaterials. Our planned future activities are:

- Development of new low temperature synthesis methods for doped carbonate/phosphate materials (from the second group mentioned above), which are prospective for bio-application.
- Development of methods for nanomaterial creation from the prospective materials (materials from the second and the third groups).
- Versatile characterization of the structure of the obtained materials.
- Comprehensive characterization of the spectral properties of the obtained materials, based on luminescence observed under different types of excitation (UV visible light, X-rays etc.), together with the studies of the long-lastingness of luminescence afterglow. This allows revealing of the PersL mechanisms. These studies together will allow choose the red PersL emitting material with the most appropriate properties for biomedical applications.
- Testing of the selected new materials in the Biomedical Research and Study Center.

Networking

Latvia:

- Latvia, Riga Technical University, Latvia. Dr. I. Steins. Synthesis of solid-state materials;
- Latvia, Biomedical Research and Study Center (BMC). Dr. A. Zajakina. Particle testing for applications in biomedicine;

Abroad:

- France, Universite de Bourgogne-Franche-Comte, Besancon, France. Dr. C. Ramseyer. Expertise in biomaterials;
- France, l'Institut national de recherche pour l'agriculture, l'alimentation et l'environnement (INRAE). Dr. S. Zaidi. Particle testing for applications in agriculture;
- Ukraine, National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, Institute of Physics, Department of Physics and Biological Systems. Dr. G. Dovbeshko. Expertise in biomaterials;
- Oman, International Maritime College Oman (IMCO). Dr. M. Al-Hinai. Synthesis of nanoparticles, toxicity assessment;
- Rwanda, University of Rwanda. Dr. A. Nsabimana. Synthesis and testing of nanoparticles.

- 1. A. Benayas, E. Hemmer, G. Hong, D. Jaque. Near infrared-emitting nanoparticles for biomedical applications. A book. Springer Nature Switzerland AG, (2020), ISBN 978-3-030-32036-2.
- 2. L. Liang, J. Chen, K. Shao et al., Controlling persistent luminescence in nanocrystalline phosphors, Nature Materials 22 (2023) 289.

- 3. S. Wu, Y.Li, W. Ding, L. Xu, Y. Ma, L. Zhang, Recent advances of persistent luminescence nanoparticles in bioapplications, Nano-Micro Letters (2020).
- 4. E. Hemmer, A. Benayas, F. Legare, et al., Exploring the biological windows: current perspectives on fluorescent bioprobes emitting above 1000 nm, Nanoscale Horiz. 1 (2016) 168.
- 5. K. Van den Eechout, D. Poelman and P. F. Smet, Persistent Luminescence in Non-Eu²⁺ Doped Compounds: A Review, Materials 6, (2013) 2789.
- 6. Y. Li, M. Gecevicios, J. Qui, Long persistent phosphors–from fundamentals to applications, Chem. Soc. Rev. 45 (2016) 2090.
- X. Feng, L. Lin, R. Duan, J. Qui, S. Zhou, Transition metal activated near-infrared luminescent materials, Progress in Materials science 129 (2022) 100973.
- 8. S. Chinnathambi, N. Shirahata, Recent advances on fluorescent biomarkers of near-infrared quantum dots for in vitro and in vivo imaging, Science and Technology of Advanced Materials 20 (2019) 337.
- 9. V. Negri, J. Pacheco-Torres, D. Calle, P. Lopez-Larrubia, Carbon nanotubes in biomedicine. Review, Topics in Current Chemistry (2020) 41.
- 10. K. Karmilkar, R. F. Norem, Amelanotic Malignant Melanoma: A Case Report, Cureus 15(7):e41665.
- 11. B. Berzina, L. Trinkler, V. Korsaks, R. Ruska, Nitrogen vacancy type defect luminescence of AlN nanopowder, Optical Materials 108 (2020), 110069. DOI: 10.1016/j.optmat.2020.110069.
- 12. L. Trinkler, A. Trukhin, J. Cipa, B. Berzina, UV light induced processes in pure and doped AlN ceramics, Optical Materials 121 (2021) 111550.
- B. Berzina, R. Ruska, J. Cipa, L. Trinkler, A. Sarakovskis, J. Grabis, I. Steins, Luminescence of AlN:Eu ceramics: Properties and mechanisms, Optical Materials 127 (2022) 112217.
- R. Ruska, B. Berzina, J. Cipa, L. Trinkler, A. Sarakovskis, J. Grabis, I. Steins, Luminescence of AlN:Mn²⁺ materials: Properties and mechanisms, Results in Optics 10 (2023) 100365.
- 15. V. Sokolova, M. Epple, Biological and medical application of calcium phosphate NP, Review. Chem. Eur. J. 27 (2021) 19.
- 16. J. Nara, S. Adachi, Photoluminescence properties of (Ce³⁺, Mn²⁺) codoped CaCO₃ red phosphor, Journ. of Applied Physics 113 (2013) 033519.
- 17. G.M. Aguilar, M.I. Osend, Fluorescence of Mn²⁺ in CaCO₃, Journal of Luminescence 27 (1982) 365.
- 18. Results for Mn in Magnesite [MgCO₃], CL spectra, 2016, CSIRO Luminescence Database.
- 19. **G. Doke, G. Krieke, A. Antuzevics, A. Sarakovskis, B. Berzina,** Optical properties of red-emitting long afterglow phosphor Mg₂Si_{x-1}Ge_xO₄:Mn²⁺/Mn⁴⁺, Optical Materials 137 (2023) 113500.

ULTRA-WIDE BANDGAP SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES

State of the art.

The evolution of semiconductors in microelectronics has shown a growing preference for materials with wider bandgaps. This trend, driven by the rising demand for advanced semiconductor devices, has led to ongoing exploration of more optimal materials. Among these, Ga_2O_3 is now regarded as a promising candidate for many applications (see power electronics). Energy efficiency is at the heart of the European Union (EU) energy strategy, therefore, the creation of more efficient power electronics by increasing power density and power conversion optimization will enable significant CO_2 emission reduction. Si-based device performances degrade at high temperatures, restricting their use for high power electronics, while currently actively studied ultra-wide bandgap (UWBG) semiconductors ($E_g > 4$ eV), in comparison to

already well-developed GaN and SiC technologies, should bring additional advantages to power devices with the ability of sustaining very high voltages, low losses for switching, high operation temperature, necessary in applications for grid, data centres and trains, electrical vehicles, aircrafts and ships.

The research objectives of the "Ultra-wide bandgap semiconductors technologies" are closely related to the 'Key Enabling Technologies' (KETs) - 'Advanced Materials, Photonics, Nanotechnology and Micro- and Nanoelectronics' identified in the European Union (EU) scientific strategies. It is fitting into the Latvian Research and Innovation Strategies for Smart Specialisation (RIS3), topics 'Smart materials, technology and engineering' and "Smart energy', and the project is compliant with national Research Priority Area of 'Technologies, materials and system engineering for increased added value products and processes, and cybersecurity' under the Latvian Government 6th growth priority 'Advanced knowledge base (basic science and scientific infrastructure) and human capital in areas of knowledge, in which Latvia has a comparative advantage and which are important in the process of transformation of the national economy'. It will invest new knowledge in research and innovation for the materials for next generation power electronics, enabling variety of novel products and technologies in future generations, and is in compliance with Latvia's Semiconductor Manufacturing Memorandum of Understanding, which has been signed by the main stakeholders in Latvia, solidifying a commitment to nationally develop semiconductor manufacturing capabilities, thus increasing EU independence from other global chip manufacturers, as per the 'Chips Act', to "bolster Europe's competitiveness and resilience in semiconductor technologies and applications, and help achieve both the digital and green transition".

Our position

Thin Films Laboratory (TFL) primarily focuses on the deposition of a diverse range of inorganic materials using various deposition techniques – magnetron sputtering, including High Power Impulse Magnetron Sputtering (HiPIMS), thermal and e-beam evaporation, Pulsed Laser Deposition (PLD), Metal Organic Chemical Vapour Deposition (MOCVD), and Atomic Layer Deposition (ALD). The laboratory's current scientific projects are dedicated to the development of novel advanced materials and coatings. A list of selected publications and patents related to this activity is given below [1-9]. These activities were mainly financed by national Latvian Council of Science (LCS), European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) and Horizon Europe projects:

- A new magnetron sputtering method for the deposition of gallium oxide and its solid solution thin films has been developed.
- European Patent EP22195507.3 "A method for reactive magnetron sputter deposition of gallium oxide thin films," authors: A. Azens, M. Zubkins, E. Butanovs, J. Purans.
- Scalable epitaxial gallium oxide thin film deposition using the metal-organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) method has been demonstrated.
- New insights into the physical processes of gallium oxide thin film growth and its phase stability have been acquired.
- Nine scientific articles have been published in high-impact-factor journals.
- Successfully implemented projects: ERAF No. 1.1.1.1/20/A/057 and LZP FLPP No. lzp-2020/1-0345.
- A new "Horizon Europe" RIA project No. 101172940, "Safer and More Reliable WBG/UWBG-Based MVDC Power Converters" (SAFEPOWER) (2024–2028), has been initiated.

Pulsed laser deposition (PLD) is a valuable tool for the production of thin films and epitaxial heterostructures from various materials with complicated stoichiometry. PLD allows a one-to-one transfer of elements from target to substrate, what is a strong advantage for the deposition of multiple element systems. Different atmospheres (Ar, O₂, N₂, H₂, H₂S) of deposition allow varying of properties of films in a wide range: ZnO, Ga₂O₃, MoS₂, etc.

MOCVD reactor Aixtron (AIX-200RF) is available for the synthesis of epitaxial thin films using liquid metalorganic compounds and gaseous non-metal chemical hydride and oxide gases. The equipment is suitable for the synthesis of classic LED structures, Si, ZnO, and group-III nitride 1D nanostructures, as well as for deposition of UWBG Ga_2O_3 thin films and multilayers for optoelectronic and electronic applications. There is a possibility to dope the materials, to obtain n- or p-type conductivity.

Future activities

Our ambition is to develop and to assess the first spinel – earth-abundant and non-critical oxide materials – power electronics technology platform. We will elaborate UWBG ZnGa2O4, MgGa2O4 and MgAl2O4 spinel epilayers with electronic properties required for their application in beyond the state-of-the-art high-power (> 6-10 kV) rectifiers and metal oxide semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOSFET) devices. Spinel alloying enables expansion to larger bandgaps, while engineering cation inversion provides a playground for tuning electrical properties. Understanding of the underlying physical mechanisms, as well as demonstration of Schottky diode and unipolar MOSFET device structures will pave way for further exploration into bipolar spinel technologies. The spinel platform will extend the frontier of WBG technology and address several existing issues, enhancing the devices' figure-of-merit, resulting in significant energy savings, and adding new aspects and functionalities. The demonstration of a promising spinel-based power device structures will significantly boost this research field promoting further applications of spinels in energy electronics (power- and opto-electronics). The innovation potential is oriented on novel materials and scalable environmentally friendly fabrication processes, which enables high commercial opportunities within the EU.

Moreover, our objective is to develop novel solar-blind far-UV light photodetector based on amorphous Aluminium Gallium Oxide (AlGaO) alloy semiconductor thin film deposited via scalable high-depositionrate magnetron sputtering technique (GoFarUV). We propose to produce and investigate novel AlGaO semiconductor materials, and optimize their synthesis conditions to achieve photoelectric properties suitable for far UV light detection. Applications of such solar-blind UV-C photodetectors include environmental monitoring and space weather research, both of which are vital for addressing global climate challenges. The detectors will enable more accurate monitoring of atmospheric changes, namely ozone formation studies, and early wildfire detection, providing critical data for mitigating the impacts of climate change. Other applications include space science and technologies, security, and military.

Proposed MOCVD reconstruction is crucially important to develop the stable deposition of gallium oxide (Ga_2O_3) and $ZnGa_2O_4$ epitaxial thin films.

The main goal of activity on the Magnetron HIPIMS sputtering cluster G500M is to develop vacuum thin film deposition technologies for the stable deposition of gallium oxide (Ga_2O_3) and $ZnGa_2O_4$ thin films by reactive pulsed-DC magnetron sputtering from a liquid Ga target.

Networking

Latvia:

- Sidrabe Vacuum;
- GroGlass
- EuroLCDS; (iv)
- RD ALFA Microelectronics;
- AGL Technologies.

Abroad:

- Stockholm, Royal Institute of Technology (KTH);
- Stockholm, RISE Research Institutes of Sweden;
- Department of Engineering Sciences, Uppsala University;
- Fondazione Bruno Kessler, Centre for Materials;
- Germany, Fraunhofer Institute or Surface Engineering and Thin Films IST Braunschweig;
- Norway, Institute for Energy Technology (IFE);
- Taiwan, National Sun Yat-Sen University.

- Thin Film Material Market Size, Share & Industry Analysis, By Type (CdTe, CIGS, and a-Si), By End-use Industry (Photovoltaic Solar Cells, Electrical & Electronics, Optical Coating, and Others), and Regional Forecast, 2024-2032. <u>https://www.fortunebusinessinsights.com/thin-film-material-market-107350</u>.
- 2. E. Butanovs, M. Zubkins, E. Strods, V. Vibornijs, K. Kadiwala, L. Ignatane, B. Polyakov, S. Vlassov, J. Purans. Impact of temperature and film thickness on α and β phase formation in Ga2O3 thin films grown on aplane sapphire substrate. Thin Solid Films 803, 140467 (2024)
- 3. M. Zubkins, E. Strods, V. Vibornijs, A. Sarakovskis, R. Nedzinskas, R. Ignatans, E. Butanovs, J. Purans, A. Azens. Deposition and photoluminescence of zinc gallium oxide thin films with varied stoichiometry made by reactive magnetron co-sputtering. J. Alloys Compd. 976, 173218 (2024).
- 4 Butanovs, E., Zubkins, M., Nedzinskas, R., Zadin, V. & Polyakov, B. Comparison of two methods for onedimensional Ga2O3-ZnGa2O4 core-shell heterostructure synthesis. J. Cryst. Growth, 618, 127319 (2023).
- 5. M. Zubkins, V. Vibornijs, E. Strods, E. Butanovs, L. Bikse, M. Ottosson, A. Hallen, J. Gabrusenoks, J. Purans, A. Azens. Deposition of Ga2O3 thin films by liquid metal target sputtering. Vacuum 209, 111789 (2023).
- 6. Dimitrocenko, L., Strikis, G., Polyakov, B., Bikse, L., Oras, S., Butanovs, E. The Effect of a Nucleation Layer on Morphology and Grain Size in MOCVD-Grown β-Ga2O3 Thin Films on C-Plane Sapphire. Materials. 15, 8362 (2022).
- 7. Butanovs, E., Dipane, L., Zolotarjovs, A., Vlassov, S. & Polyakov, B. Preparation of functional Ga2S3 and Ga2Se3 shells around Ga2O3 nanowires via sulfurization or selenization. Opt. Mater. 131, 112675 (2022).
- Khartsev, S., Hammar, M., Nordell, N., Zolotarjovs, A., Purans, J. & Hallén, A. Reverse-Bias Electroluminescence in Er-Doped β-Ga2O3 Schottky Barrier Diodes Manufactured by Pulsed Laser Deposition. Phys. Status Solidi Appl. Mater. Sci. 219, 1–5 (2022).
- 9. Khartsev, S., Nordell, N., Hammar, M., Purans, J. & Hallén, A. High-Quality Si-Doped β-Ga2O3 Films on Sapphire Fabricated by Pulsed Laser Deposition. Phys. Status Solidi Basic Res. 258, 2–6 (2021)

ANALYSIS OF PARAMAGNETIC DEFECT STRUCTURE IN FUNCTIONAL MATERIALS

State of the art

The functionality of solid-state materials is inextricably linked to structural imperfections on an atomic scale. Point defects are responsible for the mechanical, thermal, chemical, electrical, magnetic and optical properties of materials. Peculiarities of intrinsic defect formation and activator ion incorporation have been well-documented in high symmetry hosts, e.g., simple oxides and halides [1,2] – point defects can be categorized into electron centers, hole centers, interstitials and substitutional defects. The defects can occur in different charge states, often require charge compensation, may be localized at impurity ions and even form pairs and composite defect structures; therefore, their properties and stability vastly differ. As it stands characterization of point defects in lower symmetry systems with several cationic and/or anionic positions in the crystal lattice is still an ongoing quest in fundamental science. Some examples of recent results published in top-tier journals include the identification of intrinsic defects and rare earth impurities in optical materials [3–5], determination of defect structure and thermal stability in irradiated oxides, incorporation and properties of transition metal ions in biomaterials [6,7] and others.

A key aspect in the characterization of point defect structure in complex matrices is the application of advanced spectroscopic techniques. Electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) spectroscopy has been established as the central method for the investigations of paramagnetic centers in solids allowing unambiguous identification of the defect model and its local structure. A modern approach includes variable temperature multifrequency EPR measurements, double resonance experiments, pulse techniques, and spectra simulations in correlation with complementary investigatory techniques aided by theoretical calculations.

The formation of defects in solids provides opportunities for applications of EPR spectroscopy in interdisciplinary research, industry and daily life [8–13]. In many cases, it is an unambiguous technique for quantifying paramagnetic defects in relevant materials, e.g., nitrogen centers in diamond [8]. EPR can now be used for the improvement of battery energy storage via the imaging of redox processes occurring on the actual surface of electrodes in real time while the battery performs charging and discharging cycles (in operando) [9,10]. Additionally, the accumulation of paramagnetic centers upon ionizing radiation enables the use of EPR spectroscopy in dating and provenance studies [11] as well as retrospective dose assessment [12], including potential emergency dosimetry applications [13].

Our position

ISSP UL has a continuous wave (CW) Bruker EPR system with multifrequency (X and Q band) capabilities in variable (4-300 K) temperature range with possibilities to conduct electron nuclear double resonance (ENDOR) experiments at the X band. There is also a custom-built optically detected magnetic resonance (ODMR) setup for the studies of luminescence mechanisms and the origin of optical absorption bands in materials. Advanced complementary spectroscopic techniques are also accessible at ISSP UL.

The EPR group of the Laboratory of Spectroscopy has expertise in defect analysis in systems ranging from single crystals [14–16] and polycrystalline materials [17–31] to nanomaterials and composites [32]. The main research activities are performed on inorganic solid-state materials to identify and analyze the presence of paramagnetic species – intrinsic defects and activator ions – and their role in the performance of the material. Investigations are performed on already established as well as novel phosphors, which operate in the visible [20,21], near-infrared [24,25], and ultraviolet [22,23] spectral ranges. EPR spectra simulations provide information on the oxidation state and site occupancy of luminescent ions, which is particularly insightful in complex hosts where multiple sites are available for substitution. A focal point of the group is defect analysis and engineering of smart photochromic materials [19] and persistent

luminescence phosphors [20–23]. Identifying the defects responsible for the material's functions paves the way for tailored material design with optimised characteristics. Research activities are also performed on systems where the accumulation of defects yields detrimental effects [14,15,17,18]. Based on these results, guidelines for sample synthesis and recovery via thermal treatment post-irradiation can be provided. In other cases, EPR analysis of radiation-induced paramagnetic centers is used to probe the structure of the material [30,31].

Understanding the structure-property relationships enables us to advance the knowledge base relevant to fusion, optical materials and biomaterial applications. The EPR infrastructure at ISSP UL, access to complementary spectroscopic techniques and irradiation sources, as well as proficiency in materials synthesis, are attractive aspects for leading research groups in the field ensuring high-quality collaboration opportunities and research.

Future activities

- Radiation defect creation and evolution in functional materials, including materials for fusion applications. Determination of defect local structure models and their stability characterization via correlated EPR and thermal annealing experiments. A prospective collaboration with the Institute of Chemical Physics, University of Latvia is ongoing to investigate the thermal properties of radiation-induced paramagnetic defects in potential solid-state candidate materials for tritium breeding in future thermonuclear fusion reactors [17,18]. First-principle calculations have been implemented to explain the experimental EPR data of an X-ray-induced center in LiYF₄ single crystal [15]; it is planned to extend this approach to other single crystal materials, *e.g.*, Gd₃Ga₅O₁₂.
- Intrinsic defect and activator ion characterization in optical materials luminescent and persistent phosphors, photochromic materials, optical temperature sensors. Establishing the role of defects in optical processes via combined optical and magnetic resonance techniques: EPR measurements during luminescence and ODMR. Recent results provide valuable insights into paramagnetic defect contribution to optical properties of complex materials [19–25]. A methodology for correlated EPR and luminescence (decay kinetics, thermally stimulated luminescence) measurements has been implemented within the group. The methodology will be further developed. Defect engineering of persistent phosphors is planned based on the recently published results on persistent luminescence mechanisms [20–23].
- Studies of paramagnetic defects and impurities in biomaterials. Development of variable temperature multifrequency EPR methodology including ENDOR and pulse (in collaboration with other groups) techniques. Joint investigations have expanded the knowledge base of substitution mechanisms of impurity ions and the creation of radiation-induced defects in calcium phosphate materials [26–31]. The group at ISSP UL has obtained know-how in advanced EPR methodology and spectra simulations. Insights into radiation-induced defect formation and properties have been obtained in different polymorphs of calcium pyrophosphate [30] and brushite [31], and it is planned to expand the studies on other complex calcium phosphate hosts, *e.g.*, monetite and whitlockite.
- Nanomaterials and nanocomposite materials ranging from nanoparticles, thin films to multiphase functional materials.

Networking

Latvia

- Latvia, Institute of Chemical Physics, University of Latvia, Laboratory of Radiation Chemistry of Solids; Dr. Gunta Kizane; radiation-induced defects in tritium breeding materials.
- Latvia, Light Guide Optics International.

Abroad

- Lithuania, Vilnius University, Sol-Gel Chemistry Group; Prof. Hab. Dr. Aivaras Kareiva, prof. Dr. Aleksej Zarkov; applications of advanced EPR in biomaterials.
- Poland, Institute of Low Temperature and Structure Research; Prof. Dr. Hab. Lukasz Marciniak; investigations of optical materials under high pressure.
- Poland, Institute of Low Temperature and Structure Research; Prof. Dr. Hab. Dariusz Hreniak; transparent ceramics for optical applications.
- Romania, Babes-Bolyai University. Faculty of Environmental Science and Engineering; Prof. Dr. Alida Timar-Gabor; quartz dating using EPR spectroscopy.

References

[1] A.E. Hughes, B. Henderson, Color Centers in Simple Oxides, in: Point Defects in Solids, 1972: pp. 381–490.

- [2] B. Henderson, Anion vacancy centers in alkaline earth oxides, Critical Reviews in Solid State and Materials Sciences 9 (1980) 1–60.
- [3] V. Laguta, L. Havlak, V. Babin, J. Barta, J. Pejchal, M. Nikl, Charge Transfer and Charge Trapping Processes in Ca- or Al-Co-doped Lu₂SiO₅ and Lu₂Si₂O₇ Scintillators Activated by Pr³⁺ or Ce³⁺ Ions, Materials 16 (2023) 4488.
- [4] T.V. Panchenko, M.P. Trubitsyn, V. Laguta, V.M. Sidak, M.D. Volnianskii, A.Y. Osetsky, O. Laguta, Optical and EPR spectroscopy of manganese doped LiNaGe₄O₉ single crystals, Opt Mater 154 (2024) 115793.
- [5] M. Buryi, Z. Remeš, F. Hájek, K. Kuldová, V. Babin, K. Děcká, H. Hematian, L. Landová, N. Neykova, E. Horynová, B. Rezek, Peculiarities Related to Er Doping of ZnO Nanorods Simultaneously Grown as Particles and Vertically Arranged Arrays, The Journal of Physical Chemistry C 127 (2023) 22177–22189.
- [6] M.A. Goldberg, O.S. Antonova, N.O. Donskaya, A.S. Fomin, F.F. Murzakhanov, M.R. Gafurov, A.A. Konovalov, A.A. Kotyakov, A. V. Leonov, S. V. Smirnov, T.O. Obolkina, E.A. Kudryavtsev, S.M. Barinov, V.S. Komlev, Effects of Various Ripening Media on the Mesoporous Structure and Morphology of Hydroxyapatite Powders, Nanomaterials 13 (2023) 418.
- [7] M.A. Goldberg, N.O. Donskaya, D. V. Valeev, A.S. Fomin, F.F. Murzakhanov, A. V. Leonov, A.A. Konovalov, O.S. Antonova, A.A. Shoppert, E.A. Kudryavtsev, M.R. Gafurov, S.M. Barinov, V.S. Komlev, Mesoporous molybdate-substituted hydroxyapatite nanopowders obtained via a hydrothermal route, Ceram Int 50 (2024) 17404–17418.
- [8] C.W.Y. Lee, J. Cheng, Y.C. Yiu, K. Chan, D. Lau, W.C. Tang, K.W. Cheng, T. Kong, T.K.C. Hui, F. Jelezko, Correlation between EPR spectra and coloration of natural diamonds, Diam Relat Mater 103 (2020) 107728.
- [9] M. Sathiya, J.-B. Leriche, E. Salager, D. Gourier, J.-M. Tarascon, H. Vezin, Electron paramagnetic resonance imaging for real-time monitoring of Li-ion batteries, Nat Commun 6 (2015) 6276.
- [10] J. Wandt, C. Marino, H.A. Gasteiger, P. Jakes, R.-A. Eichel, J. Granwehr, Operando electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy – formation of mossy lithium on lithium anodes during charge–discharge cycling, Energy Environ Sci 8 (2015) 1358–1367.

- [11] A. Timar-Gabor, A. Chruścińska, K. Benzid, K.E. Fitzsimmons, R. Begy, M. Bailey, Bleaching studies on Al-hole ([AlO₄/h]⁰) electron spin resonance (ESR) signal in sedimentary quartz, Radiat Meas 130 (2020) 106221.
- [12] L. Jiao, Z.-C. Liu, Y.-Q. Ding, S.-Z. Ruan, Q. Wu, S.-J. Fan, W.-Y. Zhang, Comparison study of tooth enamel ESR spectra of cows, goats and humans, J Radiat Res 55 (2014) 1101–1106.
- [13] M. Mobasher, N. Ollier, B. Gratuze, F. Trompier, Novel approach for emergency dosimetry: Investigations of screen protectors for smartphones by EPR spectroscopy, Radiat Meas 176 (2024) 107218.
- [14] A. Antuzevics, A. Fedotovs, D. Berzins, U. Rogulis, K. Auzins, A. Zolotarjovs, S.L. Baldochi, Recombination luminescence of X-ray induced paramagnetic defects in BaY₂F₈, J Lumin (2020).
- [15] J. Cirulis, A. Antuzevics, A. Fedotovs, U. Rogulis, G. Zvejnieks, Local structure of an oxygen impurity and fluorine vacancy complex in LiYF₄, Materialia (Oxf) 30 (2023) 101848.
- [16] V. Seeman, A.I. Popov, E. Shablonin, E. Vasil'chenko, A. Lushchik, EPR-active dimer centers with S=1 in α-Al₂O3 single crystals irradiated by fast neutrons, Journal of Nuclear Materials 569 (2022) 153933.
- [17] A. Zarins, A. Antuzevics, G. Kizane, J.M. Leys, R. Knitter, Simulations of complex electron paramagnetic resonance spectra for radiation-induced defect centres in advanced ceramic breeder pebbles, Nuclear Materials and Energy 35 (2023).
- [18] A. Antuzevics, A. Zarins, J. Cirulis, A. Fedotovs, A. Ansone, M. Rzepna, J.M. Leys, R. Knitter, Hyperfine interactions of paramagnetic radiation-induced defect centres in advanced ceramic breeder pebbles, Nuclear Materials and Energy 40 (2024) 101698.
- [19] G. Krieke, A. Antuzevics, K. Smits, D. Millers, Enhancement of persistent luminescence in Ca₂SnO₄: Sm³⁺, Opt Mater (Amst) 113 (2021) 110842.
- [20] G. Doke, G. Krieke, A. Antuzevics, A. Sarakovskis, B. Berzina, Optical properties of red-emitting long afterglow phosphor Mg₂Si_{1-x}Ge_xO₄: Mn²⁺/Mn⁴⁺, Opt Mater (Amst) 137 (2023).
- [21] G. Krieke, G. Doke, A. Antuzevics, R. Ignatans, I. Pudza, A. Kuzmin, Structure and persistent luminescence of novel Pr-doped Mg₃Lu₂Ge₃O₁₂ garnet, J Alloys Compd 957 (2023).
- [22] D. Nilova, A. Antuzevics, G. Krieke, G. Doke, I. Pudza, A. Kuzmin, Ultraviolet-C persistent luminescence and defect properties in Ca₂Al₂SiO₇:Pr³⁺, J Lumin 263 (2023) 120105.
- [23] A. Antuzevics, G. Doke, G. Krieke, P. Rodionovs, D. Nilova, J. Cirulis, A. Fedotovs, U. Rogulis, Shortwave Ultraviolet Persistent Luminescence of Sr₂MgSi₂O₇: Pr³⁺, Materials 16 (2023).
- [24] P. Rodionovs, M. Kemere, A. Antuzevics, A. Sarakovskis, A. Fedotovs, U. Rogulis, Optical and EPR studies of Fe-doped CaAl₁₂O₁₉ near-infrared emitting phosphor, Opt Mater (Amst) 144 (2023) 114342.
- [25] P. Rodionovs, M. Kemere, A. Antuzevics, U. Rogulis, A. Sarakovskis, A. Fedotovs, Multi-site incorporation of Cr³⁺ in CaAl₁₂O₁₉, Materialia (Oxf) 32 (2023).
- [26] L. Sinusaite, A.M. Renner, M.B. Schütz, A. Antuzevics, U. Rogulis, I. Grigoraviciute-Puroniene, S. Mathur, A. Zarkov, Effect of Mn doping on the low-temperature synthesis of tricalcium phosphate (TCP) polymorphs, J Eur Ceram Soc 39 (2019) 3257–3263.
- [27] D. Griesiute, L. Sinusaite, A. Kizalaite, A. Antuzevics, K. Mazeika, D. Baltrunas, T. Goto, T. Sekino, A. Kareiva, A. Zarkov, The influence of Fe³⁺ doping on thermally induced crystallization and phase evolution of amorphous calcium phosphate, CrystEngComm 23 (2021) 4627–4637.
- [28] A. Kizalaite, A. Dubnika, A. Antuzevics, T. Murauskas, O. Stewart, S.L. Stoll, T. Goto, T. Sekino, A. Zarkov, Low-temperature aqueous synthesis and biocompatibility of manganese whitlockite, Ceram Int 50 (2024) 28490–28497.
- [29] E. Raudonyte-Svirbutaviciene, G. Klydziute, L. Lukaviciute, A. Antuzevics, A. Balciunaite, E. Norkus, A. Beganskiene, A. Zarkov, A. Kareiva, Hydrothermal synthesis of Mn²⁺⁻ and Cu²⁺⁻doped calcium hydroxyapatite: morphological features and importance of EPR insights, Ceram Int 50 (2024) 4005–4013.

- [30] A. Antuzevics, J. Cirulis, G. Krieke, D. Griesiute, A. Beganskiene, A. Kareiva, A. Dubauskas, V. Klimavicius, A. Zarkov, Paramagnetic radiation-induced radicals in calcium pyrophosphate polymorphs, Mater Chem Phys 310 (2023).
- [31] A. Antuzevics, G. Krieke, G. Doke, A. Zarins, L. Avotina, E. Sprugis, J. Stadulis, A. Beganskiene, A. Kareiva, A. Zarkov, Electron paramagnetic resonance and luminescence spectroscopy of transition metal ion impurities and X-ray-induced radicals in brushite, J Alloys Compd 996 (2024).
- [32] S. Varnagiris, A. Medvids, M. Lelis, D. Milcius, **A. Antuzevics**, Black carbon-doped TiO₂ films: Synthesis, characterization and photocatalysis, J Photochem Photobiol A Chem 382 (2019) 111941.

SYNCHROTRON RADIATION SPECTROSCOPY OF SCINTILLATORS

State of the art

Scintillation is luminescence induced by ionizing radiation in transparent dielectric media. Nowadays, scintillator detectors play an irreplaceable role in high-energy physics (HEP), spectrometry of low energy γ -quanta, applications in medical imaging, safety systems, space applications, well and mud logging [1].

The search and development of scintillators in the last decades has been mainly focused towards higher light yield and better proportionality in order to improve the energy resolution at high energy to detect narrow states like the Higgs boson over a large background and at low energy for precise spectroscopy in applications like homeland security. Recent years have seen the emergence of fast timing capability as a new requirement, mainly driven by high-energy physics to cope with higher event rates while minimizing pile-up and time-of-flight positron emission tomography medical applications to improve the image signal-to-noise ratio [2]. Timing resolution in the 10 ps range are required in both cases, which boosts the research into scintillators with a high light yield, a short rise and decay time, as well as into ultrafast scintillation mechanisms to produce prompt photons [1-3].

Nowadays the development of scintillator materials is focused on the improvement of scintillation light yield and the increasing of time resolution. In the first domain last decade many efforts have been applied to the development of Ce^{3+} doped mixed garnets (A₃(Ga,Al)₅O₁₂, where A= Gd³⁺, Lu³⁺, Y³⁺, Tb³⁺, Yb³⁺ and their combinations) [4-7] and silicates (A₂SiO₅, where A=Lu³⁺, Y³⁺ and their combination) [8-11]. In the case of mixed garnets the light yield up to 55 000 photons/MeV have been obtained [6]. The best light yield observed in silicate is a bit lower than in mixed garnet. Nevertheless, both compounds are considered to be the most prospective candidates for scintillating detectors for new CMS (Compact Muon Solenoid) developing and constructing in new calorimeter in CERN. It worth noting that currently there is no any reliable explanation of high light yield output in complex garnets and silicates. Work in this direction is currently being actively carried out by many scientific groups in Europe, the USA, China, Japan and Russia.

In the domain of medical applications (TOF-PET tomography, computer tomography) crucial parameter of scintillators is fast decay time in order to get coincidence time resolution (CTR) close to 10 ps. Targeting CTR time resolution 10 ps can be achieved in scintillators which are based on phenomena of intraband luminescence, Cerenkov radiation or core-valence luminescence (CVL). Among them only CVL has a relatively acceptable scintillation light yield (2000 photons/MeV), while others are much weaker [12]. CVL receiving renewed interest for use in fast timing radiation detection applications as a result of recent advancements in photosensor technology, readout electronics, and improved crystal synthesis and fabrication methods [13,14]. The benchmark CVL scintillator crystal is currently BaF₂; however, the drawbacks of its dominant slow decay component (~630 ns) from self-trapped exciton emission that contributes to pulse pileup in high-rate environments (e.g. HEP experiments) present a need for new CVL materials with longer wavelength emission and absence of slow emission components [12, 15-17].

In any applications scintillators as ionizing radiation detectors are naturally subject to radiation influence. Therefore, the stability of their parameters under ionizing radiation and in radiation environment is mandatory. Thus, development of fast and bright scintillators should also include the search of radiation-resistant scintillation materials which is highly relevant and important for many modern applications especially HEP, neutrons visualization [18] and space applications [19].

Our position

The development of scintillating materials is well-supported by the research infrastructure of the Laboratory of Spectroscopy. The laboratory's infrastructure has all necessary experimental capabilities for the successful research in the field of scintillating materials involving materials synthesis, structure analysis and spectroscopic characterization including time-resolved technique (tuneable picosecond laser and pulsed X-ray and electron beam setups) with picosecond time resolution. Advanced experiments based on synchrotron methods have been carried out by group members on the European synchrotron centres MAX IV (Sweden) and DESY (Germany). The FinEstBeAMS beamline at MAX IV has an end station called FINESTLUMI, while SUPERLUMI end station is installed on the P66 beamline of PETRA III storage ring at DESY. Both facilities have been intentionally designed for time-resolved spectroscopic studies of scintillating and luminescent materials. It is worth noting that some of group members played a key role in the design, construction and installation of FinEstBeAMS beamline [20, 21] and FINESTLUMI endstation [22, 23]. They are capable to examine materials of interest under picosecond synchrotron pulses in vacuum ultraviolet and soft X-ray spectral range, which perfectly fits for the successful development of electronic structure of scintillating materials, as well as for understanding the mechanism of ultrafast scintillating processes therein. The members of the Laboratory of Spectroscopy have an extended and long-term experience in synchrotron-based experiments.

It worth noting that the development of relevant CVL scintillating materials is impossible without timeresolved vacuum ultraviolet (VUV) excitation spectroscopy using synchrotron facilities. Taking into account that CVL has characteristic features like ultrafast decay time and the excitation threshold higher than 18 eV the only tuneable picoseconds synchrotron light is capable to distinguish CVL from other luminescence types. Our resent experiments at FINESTLUMI setup at MAX IV allow us to discover new type of CVL with extremely fast decay time in BaF₂-LaF₃ solid solutions [24]

Laboratory of Spectroscopy possess a vast experience in the research and development of scintillating materials. Their past work has been crucial for the study of electronic structure and luminescence (scintillating) properties of number topical scintillating materials. Recently, novel significant results have been obtained for: hygroscopic scintillating crystals SrI₂ [25], BaI₂, BaBrI [26], YAG:Ce nanocrystals [27], cryogenic scintillating material CsPbBr [28], complex oxides SrBO₄ [29]. Most recently, our group demonstrated pioneering results revealing energy transfer processes in one of the topical Gd₃(Ga,Al)₅O₁₂:Ce (or GGAG:Ce) scintillating material [30-32]. Moreover, radiation defects and damages induced in GGAG:Ce by swift heavy ions have been studied for the first time [33] and deeply analyse the obtained results with reference YAG crystals [34].

Furthermore, VUV excitation spectroscopy under synchrotron radiation is a powerful toll for the study of optical and luminescence properties of wide bandgap materials. For instance, using advantages of the photoluminescent endstation (FINESTLUMI) installed at MAX IV synchrotron facility we have recently carried out unique experiments in double activated fluoride single crystals. Excitation spectra in VUV spectral range of rare-earth ions in fluorides with meV spectral resolution have been successfully measured and deconvoluted [35-36].

Future activities

- Studies of physical mechanisms of the conversion of high-energy excitation into luminescence (scintillation) signal in topical scintillator materials: GGAG:Ce, LYSO:Ce, CsPbX₃ (X = I, Br or Cl), AI₂ (A = Sr, Ba) etc. The strategy to improve (modify) existing compounds to increase time resolution suitable for new generation detectors for high-energy physics and medical applications will be proposed.
- Development of red and infrared scintillators based on rare-earth doped fluorides. The main attention will be focused on the fundamental properties of rare-earth ions in vacuum ultraviolet spectral range with meV spectral resolution and the relaxation processes resulting to the infrared luminescence [17-18].
- Studies of luminescence and scintillation characteristics topical scintillator materials in form of bulk and nanocrystalline compounds in order to obtain temporal characteristics of luminescence under various excitations. The influence of synthesis parameters, as grown defects as well as reduced dimensionality on the temporal characteristics will be established.
- Investigation of radiation defects and damages as well as of the mechanism of radiation defects formation in topical scintillators to elucidate the role of defects states in energy transfer and scintillation processes.
- Expand the studies of luminescence characteristics as well as radiation defects by means of synchrotron based methods to optical materials having practical interest in nuclear physics and fusion applications. These materials (MgAl₂O₄, Ga₂O₃, Gd₃Ga₅O₁₂, Al₂O₃, MgO, Si₃N₄, etc.) do not belong to the scintillators, however the approach utilized to the study of scintillators perfectly fits for such non-luminescent materials as well [34].
- Development of ultrafast scintillator materials based on cross-luminescence phenomenon. Both theoretical and experimental engineering of fluorides to obtain cross-luminescence materials with time resolution down to 10 ps [24].
- Development of the SUPERLUMI and FINESTLUMI setups in strong collaboration of DESY and MAX IV teams in order to perform cutting-edge experiments in relevant scintillating and luminescence materials. Possible improvements of the setups should include i) design and construction of the sample holder which allow to cleave hygroscopic crystals in ultra-high vacuum in order to get fresh surfaces; ii) design and construction of the sample holder which allow to perform luminescence experiments under VUV excitations for crystals under high pressure; iii) design and construction of the luminescence registration system working in VUV range to investigate new types of CVL.

Networking

The group has long-standing active international collaborations with research groups in:

Latvia:

- Baltic Scientific Instruments
- SIA Ritec

Abroad:

- Finland: Oulu University (Prof. M. Huttula and Prof. W. Cao);
- Finland: Turku University (Prof. M. Lastusaari).
- Germany: Photon Science Division at DESY (Dr. Aleksei Kotlov);
- Sweden: MAX IV Laboratory, Lund University (Dr. K. Chernenko and Dr. K. Klementiev);
- Estonia:Tartu University (Prof. A. Lushchik and Prof. M. Brik);
- Poland:Warsaw University (Prof. A. Kaminska and Dr. Y. Zhydachevski);
- Serbia:Belgrade University (Prof. M. Dramicanin);

- Czech Republic:Institute of Physics (Prague) (K. Bartosiewicz);
- Kazakhstan:Gumilyov Eurasian National University (Dr. Z.T. Karipbaev).

- P. Lecoq, A. Gektin, M. Korzhik, Particle Acceleration and Detection: Inorganic Scintillators for Detector Systems – Physical Principles and Crystal Engineering, Springer (2017)
- 2. M. Korzhik, G. Tamulaitis, A.N. Vasil'ev, Particle Acceleration and Detection: Physics of Fast Processes in Scintillators, Springer (2020)
- 3. P. Lecoq, Development of new scintillators for medical applications. Nuclear Inst. Meth A 809 (2016)130-139
- 4. K. Omuro, M. Yoshino, K. Bartosiewicz, et al., Tailoring scintillation and luminescence through Co-doping engineering: A comparative study of Ce,Tb Co-doped YAGG and GAGG garnet crystals, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 1008 (2024) 176550
- 5. K. Omuro, M. Yoshino, K. Bartosiewicz, et al., Insights into luminescence and energy transfer processes in Ce³⁺-and Tb³⁺ co-doped (Gd, Y)3Al2Ga3O12 garnet single crystals, J. Luminescence 273 (2024) 120663
- 6. V. Dubov, A. Bondarau, D. Lelekova, et al., Customizing the luminescent properties of compositionally disordered ceramics (Gd, Y, Yb, Tb, Ce)₃Al2Ga₃O₁₂: From an ultra-fast scintillator to bright, wide-spectrum phosphor, J. Appl. Phys 135, 053104 (2024)
- 7. M. Korzhik, P. Karpyuk, A. Bondarau, et al., Cross-sensitization of Ce³⁺ and Tb³⁺ luminescence in (Gd,Y)₃Al₂Ga₃O₁₂ scintillation ceramics, J. Luminescence 265 (2024) 120226
- 8. Y. Bella Christy, Haoyu Li, Hanghua Xu, et al., Luminescence and scintillation properties of LYSO:Ce powder via co-precipitation method for low dose gamma radiation, Optical Materials 149 (2024) 115105
- 9. Peng Qiu, Zhongjun Xue, Chengyi Li, et al., Influence of K⁺ on the crystal structure, defect, and scintillation performances of LYSO:Ce crystals, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 998 (2024) 174936
- V. Pankratova, K. Chernenko, A.I. Popov, V. Pankratov, Temperature behavior of Ce3+ emission in (Lu,Y)2SiO5 single crystals excited by vacuum ultraviolet synchrotron light, Opt. Mat.: X 22 (2024) 100322
- V. Pankratova, K. Chernenko, D. Bocharov, A. Chesnokov, Y. Sychikova, A.I. Popov, V. Pankratov Unveiling of UV intrinsic luminescence in (Lu, Y) 2SiO5: Ce3+ single crystals, Optical Materials 152 (2024) 115554
- 12. D. Rutstrom, L. Stand, M. Kapusta, et al., Impurity-enhanced core valence luminescence via Zn-doping in cesium magnesium chlorides, Optical Materials: X 24 (2024) 100349
- 13. V. Khanin, I. Venevtsev, P. Rodnyi, Recent advances in the study of core-valence luminescence (cross luminescence), Opt. Mater. 136 (2023) 113399
- 14. K. Herweg, V. Nadig, V. Schulz, S. Gundacker, On the prospects of BaF2 as a fast scintillator for time-offlight positron emission tomography systems, IEEE Transactions on Radiation and Plasma Medical Sciences 7 (2023) 241-252
- 15. L.S. Stracuzzi, D.J. Rutstrom, M. Zhuravleva, Charles L. Melcher, A3BX₅, A2BX₄, ABX₃, and ax halide scintillators doped with transition metal ions, U.S. Patent Appl. 20240117246A1 (Apr 11) (2024)
- 16. K. Herweg, et al. Timing limits of ultrafast cross-luminescence emission in CsZnCl-based crystals for TOF-CT and TOF-PET, EJNMMI Physics, 11 (1) (2024) 59
- 17. D. Rutstrom, et al., New ultrafast scintillators with core valence luminescence: Cs₂MgCl₄ and Cs₃MgCl₅, J. Mater. Chem. C 12 (2024) 6920
- 18. R.J.W. Frost et al, Preliminary results from a study of luminescent materials—For application in the beam imaging system at the ESS, NIMB 540 (2023) 227–233
- 19. M.I. Pinilla-Orjuela, K.E. Mesick, P.F. Bloser, J.R. Tutt, Performance evaluation of pulse shape discrimination capable organic scintillators for space applications, NIMA 1053 (2023) 168309

- 20. R. Pärna, R. Sankari, E. Kukk, E. Nommiste, M. Valden, M. Lastusaari, K. Kooser, M. Hirsimäki, S. Urpelainen, P. Turunen, A. Kivimäki, V. Pankratov, L. Reisberg, F. Hennies, H. Tarawneh, R Nyholm and M. Huttula, FinEstBeaMS a wide-range Finnish-Estonian Beamline for Materials Science at the 1.5 GeV storage ring at the MAX IV Laboratory, Nuclear Instuments and Methods in Physics Research A 859 (2017) 83-89
- 21. K. Chernenko, A. Kivimäki, R. Pärna, W. Wang, R. Sankari, M. Leandersson, H. Tarawneh, V. Pankratov, M. Kook, E. Kukk, L. Reisberg, S. Urpelainen, T. Käämbre, F. Siewert, G. Gwalt, A. Sokolov, S. Lemke, S. Alimov, J. Knedel, O. Kutz, T. Seliger, M. Valden, M. Hirsimäki, M. Kirm and M. Huttula, Performance and characterization of the FinEstBeAMS beamline at the MAX IV Laboratory, Journal of Synchrotron Radiation 28 (2021) 1620–1630
- 22. V. Pankratov, R. Pärna, M. Kirm, V. Nagirnyi, E. Nommiste, S. Omelkov, S. Vielhauer, K. Chernenko, L. Leisberg, P. Turunen, A. Kivimäki, E. Kukk, M. Valden, M. Huttula, Progress in development of a new luminescence setup at the FinEstBeAMS beamline of the MAX IV laboratory, Radiation Measurements 121 (2019) 91-98
- 23. V. Pankratov and A. Kotlov, Luminescence spectroscopy under synchrotron radiation: from SUPERLUMI to FINESTLUMI, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B 474 (2020) 35-40
- 24. V. Pankratova, R. Shendrik, A. Myasnikova, E.A. Radzhabov, K. Chernenko, V. Pankratov, Cross-Luminescence in Doped BaF2 Single Crystals for Detection of Gamma and X-ray Radiation with Picosecond Resolution, 12th International Conference on Luminescent Detectors and Transformers of Ionizing Radiation (LUMDETR) June 16-21, 2024, Riga, Latvia, Book of abstracts p. 74
- 25. V. Pankratov, A.I. Popov, L. Shirmane, A. Kotlov, G.A. Bizarri, A. Burger, P. Bhattacharya, E. Tupitsyn, E. Rowe, V.M. Buliga, and R.T. Williams, Luminescence and Ultraviolet Excitation Spectroscopy of SrI₂ and SrI₂: Eu²⁺, Radiation Measurements 56 (2013) 13-17
- 26. A. Shalaev, R. Shendrik, A. Rusakov, A. Bogdanov, V. Pankratov, K. Chernenko, A. Myasnikova, Luminescence of divalent lanthanide doped BaBrI single crystal under synchrotron radiation excitations, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B 467 (2020) 17-20
- 27. L. Shirmane, V. Pankratov, Emerging Blue-UV Luminescence in Cerium Doped YAG Nanocrystals, Physica Status Solidi Rapid: Research Letters 10 (6) (2016) 475-479
- M. Dendebera, Y. Chornodolskyy, R. Gamernyk, O. Antonyak, I. Pashuk, S. Myagkota, I. Gnilitskyi, V. Pankratov, V. Mikhailik, M. Grinberg, A. Voloshinovskii, Time-resolved luminescence spectroscopy of CsPbBr₃ single crystal, Journal of Luminescence 225 (2020) 117346
- 29. A. Tuomela, M. Zhang, M. Huttula, S. Sakirzanovas, A. Kareiva, A.I. Popov, A.P. Kozlova; A.S. Aravindh, W. Cao, V. Pankratov, Luminescence and Vacuum Ultraviolet Excitation Spectroscopy of Samarium Doped SrB₄O₇, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 826 (2020) 154205
- 30. A.P. Kozlova, V.M. Kasimova, O.A. Buzanov, K. Chernenko, K. Klementiev and V. Pankratov, Vacuum Ultraviolet Excitation Spectroscopy under Synchrotron Radiation Excitations of Cerium Doped Gd₃Ga₃Al₂O₁₂ Single Crystalline Scintillators, Results in Physics 16 (2020) 103002
- 31. V. Pankratova, A.P. Kozlova, O.A. Buzanov, K. Chernenko, R. Shendrik, A. Sarakovskis, A.I. Popov, V. Pankratov, Time-resolved luminescence and excitation spectroscopy of co-doped Gd₃Ga₃Al₂O₁₂ Scintillating Crystals, Scientific Reports 10 (2020) 20388
- 32. V. Khanin, I. Venevtsev, K. Chernenko, V. Pankratov, K. Klementiev, T. van Swieten, A.J. van Bunningen, I. Vrubel, R. Shendrik, C. Ronda, P. Rodnyi and A. Meijerink, Exciton interaction with Ce³⁺ and Ce⁴⁺ ions in (LuGd)₃(Ga,Al)₅O₁₂ ceramics, Journal of Luminescence 237 (2021) 118150
- 33. V. Pankratova, V.A. Skuratov, O.A. Buzanov, A.A. Mololkin, A.P. Kozlova, A. Kotlov, A.I. Popov, V. Pankratov, Radiation effects in Gd₃(Al,Ga)₅:O₁₂:Ce³⁺ single crystals induced by swift heavy ions, Opt. Mat. X 16 (2022) 100217

- 34. **V. Pankratova**, **J. Butikova**, A. Kotlov, A.I. Popov, **V. Pankratov**, Influence of swift heavy ions irradiation on optical and luminescence properties of Y3Al5O12 single crystals, Optical Materials: X 23 (2024) 100341
- 35. R. Shendrik, E.A. Radzhabov, **V. Pankratov**, Emission of Tm²⁺ in alkaline-earth fluoride crystals, Journal of Luminescence, 252 (2022) 119271
- 36. E.A. Radzhabov, R. Shendrik, V. Pankratov, K. Chernenko, Fine structure of 4f-5d absorption spectra of MeF₂-Yb³⁺ in the vacuum ultraviolet region under synchrotron excitation, Opt. Materials 135 (2023) 113235

PHASE RETRIEVAL METHODS FOR ADAPTIVE OPTICS, IMAGING AND PHOTONICS

State of art

Adaptive optics remains an intensively studied field in optics. It is mainly used in astronomy to correct the effects of atmospheric turbulence on the quality of images and in vision science to correct the ocular aberrations and to improve the visibility of photoreceptors in retinal imaging. In astronomy, near diffraction-limited performance of astronomical telescopes has been achieved. In vision science, single photoreceptors, blood cells and other retinal features can be resolved. The publications mentioned below demonstrate the significance of adaptive optics in astronomy and vision science [1].

While Shack-Hartmann aberrometry remains the most popular wavefront sensing method, many new methods have emerged. Such methods are often based on coherent diffractive imaging (CDI) and the computational optics. CDI and the computational optics deals with retrieving the phase of a wave from intensity measurements. An example of the activities performed in the field of CDI is provided in papers of institutions worldwide [2]. Starting from the first algorithms retrieving the phase of a wave from intensity measurements by Gerchberg and Saxton, many new algorithms have been developed until now. These methods combine various nanostructuring methods and diffractive analysis. [3]

In order to increase the computational efficiency of phase retrieval algorithms and make these systems practically applicable, they are often embedded into computational architectures. These architectures are often based on digital signal processors (DSP), field programmable gate arrays (FPGA), graphical processing units (GPU), application specific integrated circuits (ASIC), and others. Such embedded systems make phase retrieval in real-time feasible. The use of embedded systems for phase retrieval have been reported in many research papers [4].

Phase retrieval methods can be grouped into five approaches:

- iterative methods (Gerschberg-Saxton, Fienup) [5];
- "lifting" and semidefinite programming methods (PhaseLift, PhaseMax, PhaseCut) [6];
- Non lifting relaxation gradient descent methods (Amplitude & Wirtinger Flow) [7];
- SPARSE methods and novel approaches [8];
- Neural Networks and AI [9].

Our position

The main directions of research in Laboratory of Visual Perception involve:

- Developing and optimization of adaptive optics systems with novel wavefront sensors;
- Theoretical and practical development of optical phase retrieval methods,
- Development of prototypes using smart materials/devices with controllable optical properties;
- Development of devices and methodology for astronomy and free-space optical communications.
- Optical devices for AR/XR applications.

Based on the updated infrastructure and the acquired skills in lithography, silicon technologies, micro- and nanostructuring, the research area could be extended to include studies on micro- and nanoelectronics and photonics, MEMS systems, photonics such as light sources, photovoltaics, quantum optics, as well as use of electrically controllable materials in design of modern optical and photonic prototypes for practical applications.

The Laboratory of Visual Perception has a strong historic background fields of:

- adaptive optics in the visible and infrared region of the spectrum;
- wavefront modulator technologies;
- development of advanced micro-optical elements;
- tuneable optical elements and their use in virtual reality and vision appliances;
- optical phase retrieval algorithms; phase retrieval in a turbid and scattering optical media;
- fabrication of thin absorbing films;
- simulation of photonic structure;
- smart human-centred illumination;
- hyperspectral imaging and analysis.

Phase retrieval methods and vision related technology is currently the most actively studied fields. The laboratory has adaptive optics systems and two kinds spatial light modulators (SLM). Various thin film stacks and nanostructures are developed and investigated for needs of phase retrieval and holography. The Laboratory of Visual Perception has access to powerful simulation tools. Both metamaterials and core-shell nanostructures are first simulated and then synthesized to be included in waveguides which are further integrated into the optical setup for phase retrieval.

In cooperation with other labs, core-shell nanostructures and stacks of thin films acting like perfect absorbers have been fabricated and evaluated. These structures can be used in phase retrieval, however other applications include but are not limited to solar cells, energy harvesting, Raman spectroscopy etc.

Several projects in the field of vison, adaptive optics and diffractive imaging have been completed recently. Resulted in number of topical successful publication in period from 2017 to 2024 [10-23].

Those included postdoctoral projects, innovation projects for novel wavefront sensors, participation in the ESA programme, modeling activities under state innovation programme in photonics. The scientific activities are also facilitated with support of University of Latvia Foundation. The skill of the team resulted in participation in the LIDA voucher programme with local companies.

Recently, the Laboratory of Visual Perception has focused attention to absorbing thin films finding many applications not only in optics and photonics, but also in energy harvesting, stealth technology, light sources etc. Such materials appear to be very promising for applications in waveguides and phase retrieval and provide opportunity to develop advanced technologies in wavefront sensors. The Laboratory of Visual Perception has also started to carry out research in his field together with the partners from KTH. [19]

Future activities

Continued:

- 1. development of accurate and computationally effective phase retrieval algorithms for optical applications, including holography, vision research, photonics will be provided. [10-23]
- 2. research and development, and implementation of novel type of wavefront sensors will be activated. The new wavefront sensors foreseen for biomedicine and astronomy are based on phase retrieval approach from intensity measurements. This applies also to general optical applications, thus improving their performance and resolution of optical systems [16].
- 3. development of optical and smart materials and methods to expand opportunities in medical imaging. Controlled focusing through scattering media. [17].
- 4. study of free-space optical communication via orbital angular momentum technology [18].
- 5. embedding the phase retrieval algorithms into computational architectures based on digital signal processors and field-programmable gate arrays [19, 20].

The number of future specific activities are listed below:

- development of advanced microoptics for phase retrieval.
- studying the optical properties of thin films and nanostructures applicable for phase retrieval.
- development of FPGA-based systems for phase retrieval in real time.
- fabrication of absorbing thin films based on plasmonic nanoparticles/nanostructures and interference;
- nanostructures for SERS applications;
- tunable optical elements adaptive optics deformable mirrors, tuneable lenses.
- optical system metrology on macro and micro levels.
- imaging in scattering media including tissue optics and underwater imaging.
- developments for visual optics and XR/AR applications.

Networking

Latvia:

- Optometry and Vision Science Department of UL,
- Institute of Astronomy UL,
- SIA Eventech,
- SIA HeePhotonic;
- SIA VLAVI,
- SIA ALMIKO.

Abroad:

- Sweden, KTH Electrum Laboratory; Andreas Hallen, Mattias Hammar.
- Sweden, KTH Visual Optics research group, Linda Lundstrom.
- Lithuania, Vilnius University Lighting Research Group, Prančiskus Vitta.
- Spain, Universidad de Murcia, Laboratorio de Optica (Murcia, Spain), Pablo Artal group.

- Portugal, University of Minho , Joao Linhares.
- Dublin, University College Dublin, Centre for Biomedical Engineering; Brian Vohnsen.

- [1] Suchkov, N., Fernández, E. J., and Artal, P. "Wide-range adaptive optics visual simulator with a tunable lens," J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 36, 722-730 (2019)
- [2] Lo, Y.H., Zhao, L., Gallagher-Jones, M. et al. In situ coherent diffractive imaging. Nat Commun 9, 1826 (2018). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04259-9</u>
- [3] Nimish P. Nazirkar, Xiaowen Shi, Jian Shi, Moussa N'Gom, Edwin Fohtung; Coherent diffractive imaging with twisted X-rays: Principles, applications, and outlook. Appl. Phys. Rev. 1 June 2024; 11 (2): 021302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0179765</u>
- [4] Wu C, Ng TW, Neild A. Phase and amplitude retrieval of objects embedded in a sinusoidal background from its diffraction pattern. Appl Opt. 2010 Apr 1;49(10):1831-7. doi: 10.1364/A0.49.001831. PMID: 20357866.
- [5] J.R. Fienup. "Phase retrieval algorithms: a comparison," Appl.Opt. 21, 2758-2769 (1982).
- [6] K. Jaganathan, Y. C. Eldar and B. Hassibi, "Phase retrieval with masks using convex optimization," IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory Proceedings (2015): 1655-1659.
- [7] E. J. Candes, X. Li and M. Soltanolkotabi, "Phase retrieval via Wirtinger flow: Theory and algorithms," IEEE
- [8] K. Jaganathan, S. Oymak and B. Hassibi, "Sparse Phase Retrieval: Uniqueness Guarantees and Recovery Algorithms," in IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, vol. 65, no. 9, pp. 2402-2410, 1 May1, 2017, doi: 10.1109/TSP.2017.2656844.
- [9] Wang, K., Song, L., Wang, C. et al. On the use of deep learning for phase recovery. Light Sci Appl 13, 4 (2024). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41377-023-01340-x</u>
- [10] Karitans, V., Laganovska, K., and Kundzins, K. "Phase retrieval of a Kolmogorov phase screen from very sparse data using four binary masks". Appl.Optics 59(27), 8362–8369 (2020)
- [11] Karitans, V., Nitiss, E., Tokmakovs, A. and Pudzs, K. "Optical phase retrieval using four rotated versions of a single binary mask simulation results," Proc. SPIE 106940C (2018)
- [12] Karitans, V., Nitiss, E., Tokmakovs, A., Ozolinsh, M., and Logina, S. "Optical phase retrieval using four rotated versions of a single binary amplitude modulating mask" J. Astron. Telesc. Instrum. Syst. 5(3), 039004 (2019)
- [13] Karitans, V., Ozolinsh, M., Fomins, S., Antonuka, A. and Tetervenoka, N. "Phase retrieval of vitreous floaters: simulation experiment", Proc. SPIE 11548,115481K (2020)
- [14] Karitans, V., Ozolinsh, M., Lapins, A., and Fomins, S. "The effect of the range of a modulating phase mask on the retrieval of a complex object from intensity measurements", Latv. J. Phys. Tech. 6, 3-12 (2021)
- [15] Karitans, V., Tokmakovs, A., and Antonuka, A. "The effect of noise, a constant background, and bit depth on the phase retrieval of pure phase objects", Opt. Appl. 51(2), 257-269 (2021).
- [16] Varis Karitāns, Sergejs Fomins, Māris Ozoliņš, Katrīna Laganovska, Kārlis Kundziņš. New optical and mathematical methods to improve image quality. Latvian Academy of Sciences Yearbook 2022, pp.93-97.
- [17] **Sergejs Fomins, Varis Karitāns.** Patent WO-2022158957-A1. CODED DIFFRACTION PATTERN WAVEFRONT SENSING DEVICE AND METHOD.
- [18] **Sergejs Fomins, Varis Karitāns, Renārs Trukša, Ernests Einbergs.** Modelling the performance of the optical phase retrieval teoretical wavefront sensor. Nordic optics and Photonics, Abstract book, Riga,

Latvia, page 20, April 22-24, 2023 <u>https://deeptechatelier.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/ABSTRACT-BOOK.pdf</u>

- [19] Karitans, V. Optical properties of Au/Ge/HfO2 stack of thin films for possible applications in waveguides with absorbing sidewalls. Optics and Photonics in Sweden 2023, Conference program, Optics and Photonics in Sweden 2023 (OPS 2023), p. 11.
- [20] Varis Karitans *, Maris Ozolinsh, Sergejs Fomins. Phase retrieval of one-dimensional objects by the multiple-plane Gerchberg-Saxton algorithm implemented into a digital signal processor. Engineering Optics. 2024. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2673-3269/5/4/38</u>
- [21] **Renārs Trukša**, **Sergejs Fomins**, Zane Jansone-Langina, Jānis Dzenis (2023). Software based solution to improve colour rendering accuracy. Perception 52(5), p.362-363.
- [22] Zane Jansone-Langina, Māris Ozoliņš (2023). Evaluation of color vision related quality of life changes due to cataract surgery. Journal of the Optical Society of America A: Optics and Image Science, and Vision 40(3), p.139-148.
- [23] Renārs Trukša, Sergejs Fomins, Zane Jansone-Langina andLaura Tenisa. Colour Vision Changes across Lifespan: Insights from FM100 and CAD Tests. Vision 2024, 8(3), 53; <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/vision8030053</u>

ADVANCED MATERIALS FOR ENERGY

MATERIALS FOR BATTERIES

State of the art

European Long-Term Climate Strategy aims for European Union (EU) to be climate-neutral by 2050. Batteries play an important role in providing decarbonization of EU economy and enabling sustainable electrification, both for the transport sectors and grid-scale energy storage [1–2].

Current state-of-the-art batteries are largely based on lithium-ion chemistry. However, the demand for higher energy density and improved electrochemical performance in general require short- to medium-term improvements. In parallel, sustainability-related issues (i.e. material availability and toxicity) drive the development of post-Li-ion batteries [3].

Since commercialization of Lithium ion batteries (LIBs) in 1991, the gravimetric energy density of LIBs has more than doubled [4], the research and development of LIBs is ongoing. Industry currently in generation 3b of LIBs [5], with Nickel-Cobalt-Manganese oxide (NCM) (LiNi_{1/3}Co_{1/3}Mn_{1/3}O₂, proportion of nickel is increased from NCM 111 to NCM 811 and advancing beyond) cathode in most advanced batteries along with Si-supplemented graphite anode and liquid electrolyte. A parallel track with LFP cathodes exists. Subsequent developments are widely believed to be related to high energy NCM or high voltage spinel (HVS), all-solid-state batteries, and Li/S or Li/O₂ technologies further out in the future [4], while a parallel track of LiFePO₄-based materials and alternatives to LIB technology have emerged, dictated by sustainability and material availability related questions.

Other emerging battery types are Na-ion, Mg-ion, Ca-ion, Al-ion, metal-sulphur, anion shuttle, metal-air, semi-solid flow and redox-flow batteries. Out of these, sodium-ion battery (SIB) technology is the most mature and has a high potential for further growth, especially for application in grid-level energy storage and budget EVs. With sodium being the 6th most abundant element in Earth's crust, the raw materials are more readily available and costs – significantly lower. While the high-rate capability, stability and recyclability of SIBs are considered very attractive [8], cycle life and energy density still need to be improved [5]. This can be done by both optimizing the existing materials and developing new ones – the latter strategy along with developing fundamental understanding of the solid-state electrochemistry of Na intercalation is often considered to be the most efficient approach.

For SIBs specifically, traditional liquid electrolytes produce solid electrolyte interphases (SEIs) that are often not sufficiently stable and are likely to cause severe polarization [6]. This prompts for developments in electrolyte or artificial engineering of SEI via coatings. Another interesting approach is the use of ionic liquid (IL) -based electrolytes. In this case, a new class of materials is created when ionic liquid (IL) molecules are integrated into polymer chains. These are called polymeric ionic liquids (PILs) and provide an added benefit of mechanical and design flexibility and of the possibility to be fabricated into desired thickness and shapes, albeit at a cost of decreased ionic conductivity [7]. A mixture of PIL and sodium salts can be classified as solid polymer electrolyte (SPE) [7].

Currently most of the applied research is focused on developing new materials and improving specific power and energy densities of existing materials [8,9] as well as evaluating cycle life (service life) of battery
electrodes, cells and modules [10, 11]. Developing of solid state and polymer electrolytes is another topic of interest. On a fundamental level, characterizing mass transport and related electrochemical reactions on a nanoscale is recently receiving increased attention from scientific community [12], and further improvements in materials is expected at least in part to stem from a deeper understanding of these issues.

Our position

Development of electrodes and electrolytes for Li-ion and Na-ion batteries

- LIB electrode material development focused on layered transition metal and olivine cathodes, as well advanced anodes: reduced graphene oxide, carbon nanostructures and transition metal oxides [9,13, 14];
- SIB electrode development: polyanionic compounds (Na₂MP₂O₇) and Na transition metal oxides NaMO₂ (M Fe, Mn)) as cathodes, with a focus on assessing and improving their stability in aqueous electrolytes [15, 16]
- Cross-functional LIB and SIB electrode improvements: electrode binders (focus on sustainable aqueous electrode processing), electron-conductive additives, inert protective coatings for active electrode materials [17, 18];
- Electrolyte research focused on advanced polymer ionic liquid composite electrolytes for SIBs and LIBs [21, 22]

Cycling stability of Li-ion battery materials and cells

• Ageing of LIB cells as a function of temperature, C-rate and other parameters, including structural and compositional changes of electrodes as a function of cycling [19, 20]

This is highly relevant problem for industry and also good grounds for subsequent more fundamentally directed research.

Future activities

The expertise of Energy Materials Laboratory focuses on battery electrode development, processing and testing, strengthened through contacts with local and European battery industry. Continued investments in human and material resources are planned. The priority research directions are:

- Materials for Li and Na-ion materials:
 - SIB cathodes: continuation of studies on NaMP₂O₇, layered oxides, layered oxides for Na-ion batteries; initiating new studies on next-generation SIB electrode materials
 - LIB electrodes: material development, sustainable and industrially feasible electrode preparation for LIBs; inert protective coatings; anodes for low-temperature performance, continued studies of 2-dimensional carbon structures; overlap and collaboration with developing materials and electrodes for supercapacitors has been planned
 - Electrodes for supercapacitors: development and characterisation of materials for supercapacitors, with a focus on sustainable carbon-based electrodes.
 - Electrolytes: ionic liquids, polymer-ionic liquid composites; nanostructured and high-surface area additives (e.g. carbon-based additives graphene, few-layer graphite, etc.).

• Battery cell cycle life.

Continued development of measurement techniques: electrochemical measurements as a function of structure/composition and their changes, possible ventures into big-data and machine-learning techniques for data processing and statistical analysis.

• Interfaces and mass transport.

Solid-electrolyte interphases and interphases within electrodes as a function of composition, structure, and cycling history. Mass transport within ionic and mixed ionic/electronic conductors and across interfaces

- *Develop in-situ and in-operando characterization capability* of battery materials for assessing ageing mechanisms in LIBs and SIBs by leveraging strengths of the institute in optical microscopy, Raman spectroscopy, XRD, synchrotron X-ray, gas mass chromatography, mass-spectrometry
- *Services to industry*. Electrochemical characterization, prototype assembly (coin-cells, eventually pouch-cells C < 0.1 Ah), cycle life analysis, consulting.

Material development is a general research topic that enables us to: a) build internal collaborations with fellow research groups strong in materials synthesis and b) produce publishable results relatively quickly and address more fundamental research questions, subsequently generating more impactful fundamental results via in-depth studies of the materials developed.

To increase our scientific impact, we plan to devote part of the work to interfaces and mass transport in battery materials. This is a purely fundamental research direction that allows building deeper insights into how battery materials function.

Recently, techniques based on processing large amounts of data (machine-learning, AI, big data, etc.) have been demonstrated to be of good use in predicting cycle life and future performance of battery cells. Collaboration with Centre for Solar Energy and Hydrogen Research Baden-Wurttemberg (ZSW) could be leveraged to facilitate faster development of this research topic.

Other key points:

- **Personnel development.** Continued development of personnel is needed, increasing the proportion of PhD students and young researchers relative to undergraduate students. Gradual involvement in preparation of project proposals is encouraged starting PhD level to ensure continued funding of the personnel. Preparation of high-quality (Q1) research articles is prioritized.
- Existing facilities. Institute's facilities currently include basic laboratory equipment, equipment for electrode coating (mixer mill automatic coater, vacuum oven, high-precision balance), battery cell assembly (Ar-filled glovebox) as well as 90+ channels for cell characterization. There are also good synthesis capabilities (syntheses in air and inert atmosphere are possible), equipment for basic structural and compositional analysis (XRD, SEM-FIB, TEM-EDX, XPS) is available.

Networking

Latvia:

- Latvian State Institute of Wood Chemistry Galina Dobele, Aleksandrs Volperts;
- Institute of Chemical Physics, University of Latvia Donats Erts, Raimonds Meija;
- University of Latvia Faculty of Chemistry Arturs Viksna;
- Riga Technical University Prof. Andris Sutka;

Abroad:

- Germany, Zentrum für Sonnenenergie- und Wasserstoff-Forschung Baden-Württemberg (ZSW) Dr. Mario Marinaro, Dr. Thomas Waldmann
- Norway, Institute for Energy Research / University of Oslo Alexey Koposov

- Norway, Norwegian University of Science and Technology Ann Mari Svensson
- Lithuania, Vilnius University, Faculty of physics Tomas Salkus and Linas Vilciauskas
- Estonia, University of Tartu Alar Janes

- 1. J. Xu, X. Cai, S. Cai, Y. Shao, C. Hu, S. Lu, S. Ding, High-Energy Lithium-Ion Batteries: Recent Progress and a Promising Future in Applications, ENERGY Environ. Mater. 6 (2023) e12450.
- 2. European Commission, The European Green Deal: Communication from the Commission to The European Parliament, 2019.
- 3. Implementation of the Strategic Action Plan on Batteries: Building a Strategic Battery Value Chain in Europe, EC.EUROPA.EU. (2019). https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/report-building-strategic-battery-value-chain-april2019_en.pdf.
- 4. J.T. Frith, M.J. Lacey, U. Ulissi, A non-academic perspective on the future of lithium-based batteries, Nat. Commun. 14 (2023) 420
- 5. F. Duffner, N. Kronemeyer, J. Tübke, J. Leker, M. Winter, R. Schmuch, Post-lithium-ion battery cell production and its compatibility with lithium-ion cell production infrastructure, Nat. Energy. 6 (2021) 123.
- J. Zhang, D.-W. Wang, W. Lv, S. Zhang, Q. Liang, D. Zheng, F. Kang, Q.-H. Yang, Achieving superb sodium storage performance on carbon anodes through an ether-derived solid electrolyte interphase, Energy Environ. Sci. 10 (2017) 370–376.
- 7. S.K. Singh, A.W. Savoy, Ionic liquids synthesis and applications: An overview, J. Mol. Liq. 297 (2020) 112038.
- 8. M.S. Whittingham, Lithium Batteries and Cathode Materials, Chem. Rev. 104 (2004) 4271.
- 9. **G. Kucinskis, G. Bajars, J. Kleperis,** Graphene in lithium ion battery cathode materials: A review, J. Power Sources. 240 (2013) 66–79.
- K.A. Severson, P.M. Attia, N. Jin, N. Perkins, B. Jiang, Z. Yang, M.H. Chen, M. Aykol, P.K. Herring, D. Fraggedakis, M.Z. Bazant, S.J. Harris, W.C. Chueh, R.D. Braatz, Data-driven prediction of battery cycle life before capacity degradation, Nat. Energy. 4 (2019) 383–391.
- 11. H. Tian, P. Qin, K. Li, Z. Zhao, A review of the state of health for lithium-ion batteries: Research status and suggestions, J. Clean. Prod. 261 (2020) 120813.
- 12. J.J. Kuo, S.D. Kang, W.C. Chueh, Contact Resistance of Carbon–Li x (Ni,Mn,Co)O 2 Interfaces, Adv. Energy Mater. 12 (2022).
- G. Bajars, G. Kucinskis, J. Smits, J. Kleperis, Physical and electrochemical properties of LiFePO₄/C thin films deposited by direct current and radiofrequency magnetron sputtering, Solid State Ionics. 188 (2011) 156.
- 14. K. Kaprans, J. Mateuss, A. Dorondo, G. Bajars, G. Kucinskis, P. Lesnicenoks, J. Kleperis, Electrophoretically deposited α -Fe₂O₃ and TiO₂ composite anchored on rGO with excellent cycle performance as anode for lithium ion batteries, Solid State Ionics 319 (2018) 1.
- 15. **G. Kucinskis, B. Kruze**, P. Korde, **A. Sarakovskis**, A. Viksna, **J. Hodakovska, G. Bajars**, Enhanced Electrochemical Properties of Na_{0.67}MnO₂ Cathode for Na-Ion Batteries Prepared with Novel Tetrabutylammonium Alginate Binder, Batteries 8(2022) 6.
- 16. G. Kucinskis, I. Nesterova, A. Sarakovskis, L. Bikse, J. Hodakovska, G. Bajars, Electrochemical performance of Na2FeP207/C cathode for sodium-ion batteries in electrolyte with fluoroethylene carbonate additive, J. Alloys Compd. 895 (2022) 162656.

- 17. L. Britala, M. Marinaro, G. Kucinskis, A review of the degradation mechanisms of NCM cathodes and corresponding mitigation strategies, J. Energy Storage 73 (2023) 108875.
- 18. L. Maskova, R. Ignatans, A. Viksna, A. Sarakovskis, M. Knite, G. Kucinskis, Wet-Chemical Synthesis of a Protective Coating on NCM111 Cathode: The Quantified Effects of Washing, Sintering and Coating, J. Electrochem. Soc. 171 (2024) 100520.
- 19. **G. Kucinskis**, M. Bozorgchenani, M. Feinauer, M. Kasper, M. Wohlfahrt-Mehrens, and T. Waldmann, Arrhenius plots for Li-ion battery ageing as a function of temperature, C-rate, and ageing state An experimental study, J. Power Sources 549 (2022) 232129.
- 20. J. Hodakovska, L. Britala, A. Mezulis, L. Grinberga, G. Bajars, and G. Kucinskis, State of health as a function of voltage hysteresis in Li-ion battery half-cells, J. Solid State Electrochem. (2024).
- 21. **G. Vaivars**, K. Krūkle-Bērziņa, M. Markus, Modelling IR Spectra of Sulfonated Polyether Ether Ketone (SPEEK) Membranes for Fuel Cells, Key Eng. Mater. 850 (2020) 138.
- 22. E. Sprugis, **G. Vaivars**, R. Merijs Meri, A Study of Mechanical Properties of Polymer Composite Membranes with Various Ionic Liquids at Elevated Temperatures, Mater. Sci. 25 (2019).

HYDROGEN ENERGY

State of the art

The EU's Long-Term Climate Strategy aims for climate neutrality by 2050, with renewable energy and storage as key elements. Hydrogen is crucial to this transition, projected to fulfill 24% of final energy demand and create 5.4 million jobs by 2050. The EU has further solidified hydrogen's role by supporting Hydrogen Valleys, establishing a complete hydrogen value chain. This presents a significant opportunity for Latvia and ISSP UL to lead in hydrogen research and technology. Hydrogen research is prioritized within the EU, with robust funding via the Fuel Cells and Hydrogen Joint Undertaking (FCH JU). Nearly all Member States recognize hydrogen's role in national energy and climate plans (2021-2030), focusing on transport and industry. EU legislation increasingly supports hydrogen's economic integration across all sectors. However, due to limited resources, ISSP UL must prioritize its focus within hydrogen research. [1,2]

Environmentally low-impact energy harvesting is essential for a cleaner future. Catalytic pollutant reduction, especially through electrocatalytic CO_2 conversion to hydrocarbons (e.g., methane, ethylene) and photocatalytic CO_2 reformation, can significantly reduce carbon footprints. Extensive research is underway to identify optimal materials for efficient CO_2 reformation. Recent studies reveal that doping copper with elements like iodine, bromine, and chlorine achieves a high faradaic efficiency (FE) of up to 72.6%, highlighting the need for further electrode material optimization. Research into diverse dopants and cell designs focuses on enhancing FE, electrode stability, and efficiency, with nitrogen-doped graphene (N-G) showing potential to extend electrode lifespan when combined with base electrode doping. [3-5]

Photocatalytic hydrogen production and pollution treatments—such as wastewater purification, antibacterial surfaces, and gas treatments—offer promising solutions for remote locations and passive catalytic systems. In light-induced water splitting, recent advancements show hydrogen production rates of $9.8 \ \mu mol \cdot mg^{-1}h^{-1}$ with Pt-TiO₂ and $100,000 \ \mu mol \cdot mg^{-1}h^{-1}$ with carbon materials. Ongoing research on binary systems, like TiO₂/nanocarbon, aims to enhance charge separation and visible light sensitivity for improved efficiency. While the EU advocates for green hydrogen, this requires significant power expansion and grid adaptation, making alternative hydrogen production methods essential. Waste management, particularly with aluminum (Al)—a strategic material generating substantial waste—is increasingly critical for sustainability. Though some Al is recycled, much remains landfilled, causing environmental pollution. [6,7]

Our position

Municipalities and companies like Rīgas Siltums, Latvenergo, and Conexus have expressed interest in using hydrogen as an energy carrier to support national decarbonization efforts. Interest in hydrogen is rising, with new players such as Fokker NextGen planning a hydrogen-based aircraft production site, and Liepaja announcing a major hydrogen production plant. Studies on hydrogen's role in transport and its potential for decarbonizing Latvia's gas networks with hydrogen-enriched biomethane have been conducted. Collaboration with energy companies aims to implement hydrogen for grid balancing and off-grid solutions, aligning with national legislation and decarbonization guidelines. [8-10]

Projects introducing hydrogen to the industrial sector have been initiated, including a modular course for industry newcomers. The course is built with options to choose and pick various aspects and applications of Hydrogen, specifically tailored to the necessity of the industry. This course was first of a kind in Baltic

states and has gained traction with various local industries in Latvia. In addition to novel hydrogen generation project or catalyst investigation for low-cost hydrogen production via methane pyrolysis.

Hydrogen storage and transport in displaced mediums like aluminum, methane, and methanol are promising avenues, especially with suitable catalysts. These reactions can also generate additional heat and by-products for further utilization. Recent research has advanced understanding of reaction kinetics, pH changes, and hydrogen production from aluminum, along with studies optimizing conditions to enhance H_2 production efficiency and reduce costs. [11-15]

Nanostructured catalyst development and investigation for photocatalytic pollutant degradation and material optimization such as TiO_2/WO_3 , C- TiO_2 composite, CO_2 reduction. Structure and composition of carbon materials can be engineered to be versatile for various energy applications. Few-layer graphene sheet stack powder via electrochemical pulse exfoliation of graphite; this versatile material has found various applications. [16-25]

Future activities

Currently focus is put on three directions that involve development of new materials and techniques for hydrogen production, storage/transport and use. Briefly, main focus is on the production of hydrogen using catalysts, i.e., pyrolysis and water-aluminum reaction. Future activities will drive advancements in hydrogen storage, catalysts, environmental cleanup, and education to support hydrogen technology adoption, e.g., Upcoming important direction is shifting to high temperature PEM fuel cell development due to strong push from the industry.

- Research will focus on hydrogen storage in metal hydrides, nanostructured materials, and aluminum, including testing for PtG systems under hydrogen exposure. Catalyst development will prioritize methane pyrolysis, gas reforming, and in-situ CO₂ reduction, with industry collaboration to improve hydrogen production and pollution control. Environmental projects will enhance electro- and photocatalytic methods for CO₂ reduction and pollutant degradation
- Catalyst as nanostructured TiO₂, carbon, WO₃, and others
- Thermodynamic modelling (MATLAB, SolidWorks, COMSOL) optimization of materials and usecases.
- Theoretical and educational initiatives will expand hydrogen knowledge, with updated materials on fuel cells, storage, and electrolysis.
- Equipment for gas adsorption/desorption, for gas composition analysis the mass spectroscopy and gas chromatography are also available. Equipment available at ISSP UL essential but not exclusive to this research direction includes XRD, SEM-FIB, TEM, Raman spectroscopy, FTIR, XPS. We are expanding our abilities to measure and characterize electrochemical properties of catalyst.
- We are open to industrial collaborations in material characterization and prototype assembly; including developing materials for fuel cells (primarily hydrogen), H₂ electrolysis two-electrode (in various setups) and membrane electrolysers, and models demonstrating electrolysis. Newly acquired micro electrode set-up will be utilized in coming months to increase the precision and investigation of catalytic activity.
- Personnel development. Continued development of personnel will be a focus for hydrogen related topics, starting from entry level students up to increasing number of PhD students as well as attraction of researchers via various grants and approaches. Preparation of high-quality (Q1) research articles is prioritized.
- Facilities outlook. Expansion in electrochemical testing channels is needed along with climate chambers ensuring constant conditions during the measurements of electrochemical cells. Small equipment for mixing electrode slurries, calendaring and drying electrodes is needed and will be

ordered within next year. Additional *in situ/in operando* investigation cells and devices, such as Raman, FTIR, etc., are planned in coming years. Continued renovation of laboratory and office space is needed to ensure both safety of the personnel and comfortable and motivating working conditions.

Networking

Latvia

- Latvian State Institute of Wood Chemistry, G. Dobele, A. Volperts: wood-based high surface area materials (combusted carbon structures) as materials for catalytic reactions
- Riga Technical University (Ass. Prof. Laila Zemite, Prof. Andris Šutka, prof. Maris Knite, prof. Arturs Medvids, Martins Vanags and others).
- Latvian Hydrogen Association (Dainis Bošs, Aivars Starikovs, P. Lesnicenoks)
- Dinex Latvia
- NacoTechnologies
- FokkerNexGen Latvian representation

Abroad:

- Slovenia, Jožef Stefan Institute, Prof. Dr. Danjela Kuscer
- Lithuania, Vilnius University, Faculty of physics (Lithuania), Tomas Salkus' and Linas Vilciauskas' research groups: specialization in Broadband High Temperature Impedance Spectroscopy of ionic and mixed ionic-electronic conductors
- Lithuania, Šarūnas Varnagiris, Marius Urbonavicius, Darius Milcius, Laboratory of Hydrogen Technologies and Materials of Lithuanian Institute of Energy
- Lithuania, Dr. Alexandr Belosludtsev, Optical Coating Laboratory
- Iceland, University of Iceland, prof. Christiaan Richter
- Iceland, IceTec (Innovation center of Iceland) Dr. Chem Guðmundur Gunnarssonr and Rauan Meirbekova, Iceland
- USA, Prof. Gonghu Li, University of New Hampshire, USA
- Iceland, Science Institute & Faculty of Industrial Engineering, Mechanical Engineering and Computer Science, VR-III, University of Iceland, Camila Pía Canales
- Iceland, University of Iceland, Department of Economics, Daði Már Kristófersson
- Chile, Facultad de Química y de Farmacia, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago de Chile, Galo Ramírez
- Switzerland, EMPA, Gurdial Blugan.

- 1. EU hydrogen policy: Hydrogen as an energy carrier for a climate-neutral economy. EPRS European Parliamentary Research Service, PE 689.332
- 2. The Global Hydrogen Review by the International Energy Agency: https://www.iea.org/reports/globalhydrogen-review-2021/executive-summary
- 3. L. Peng, et al. Catalyst Engineering for Electrochemical Energy Conversion from Water to Water: Water Electrolysis and the Hydrogen Fuel Cell. Engineering, (2020) 6(6), 653-679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eng.2019.07.028

- 4. Yanxi H et al. "Carbon-based materials for low concentration CO₂ capture and electrocatalytic reduction" Caron (2024) 30,119574.
- 5. T. Kim, G.T.R. Palmore, A scalable method for preparing Cu electrocatalysts that convert CO₂ into C2+ products, Nat. Commun. 11 (2020) 1–11.
- 6. S. Cao et al. Photocatalytic pure water splitting with high efficiency and value by Pt/porous brookite TiO₂ nanoflutes, Nano Energy. (2020), 67, 104287.
- 7. Si Ma, Tianqi Deng, Ziping Li, Zhenwei Zhang, Ji Jia, Gang Wu, Hong Xia, Shuo-Wang Yang, Xiaoming Liu Photocatalytic Hydrogen Production on a sp2-Carbon-Linked Covalent Organic Framework,
- J. Kleperis, D. Boss, A. Mezulis, L. Zemite, P. Lesnicenoks, A. Knoks, I. Dimanta "Analysis of the Role of the Latvian Natural Gas Network for the use of Future Energy Systems: Hydrogen from Res", Latvian Journal of Physics and Technical Sciences, 2021, 58(3), pp. 214–226 ISSN 0868 – 8257, DOI: 10.2478/lpts-2021-0027
- 9. J. Kleperis, I. Dimanta, B.Sloka, L.Zemite. Hydrogen supported bioconversion of biogas CO₂ to upgrade biomethane in fuel for vehicles: Recent findings in farmers survey. Engineering for Rural Development, 2021, 20, pp. 1774–1780. DOI: 10.22616/ERDev.2021.20.
- 10. The Ministry of Economics of the Republic of Latvia, project "Trends, Challenges and Solutions of Latvian Gas Infrastructure Development (LAGAS)", project No. VPP-EM-INFRA-2018/1-0003.
- 11. Studies on Water–Aluminum Scrap Reaction Kinetics in Two Steps and the Efficiency of Green Hydrogen Production, **A. Mezulis** et al. Energies 2023, 16(14), 5554; https://doi.org/10.3390/en16145554
- Hydrogen from industrial aluminium scraps: Hydrolysis under various conditions, modelling of pH behaviour and analysis of reaction by-product, Marius Urbonavicius, Sarunas V., A. Mezulis, P. Lesnicenoks, A. Knoks, et al. Int J. Hydrogen Energy, 2024,
- Enhanced Hydrogen Generation through Low-Temperature Plasma Treatment of Waste Aluminum for Hydrolysis Reaction, Urbonavicius M., Varnagiris S., Knoks A., Mezulis A., Kleperis J. et al. *Materials*, (2024) 17(11), 2637 <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ma17112637</u>
- 14. Enhanced hydrogen generation in low-range acidic solutions using Mg₂NiH₄ powders and their mixtures ball-milled with NaCl and fused silica, Varnagiris S., Urbonavicius M., **Knoks, A.**, Milcius D., *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 50(73), 614-626, 2024, 10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.10.083
- 15. **A. Knoks, L. Grinberga, J. Kleperis** Novel Anodic TiO₂ Synthesis Method with Embedded Graphene Quantum Dots for Improved Photocatalytic Activity, *Coatings* (2024) 14(11), 1407 https://doi.org/10.3390/coatings14111407
- 16. A. Knoks, J. Kleperis, L. Grinberga, Raman spectral identification of phase distribution in anodic titanium dioxide coating, *Proc. Est. Acad. Sci.* 66 (2017) 422. https://doi.org/10.3176/proc.2017.4.19.
- 17. **Knoks A**., et al. "Investigation of carbon nanomaterial influence on photocatalytic properties of TiO₂" *Engineering for Rural Development*, 2021, 20, pp. 1804-1813. DOI: 10.22616/ERDev.2021.20.TF397
- A. Knoks et al. Electro-catalytic and photo-catalytic reformation of CO₂ –reactions and efficiencies processes (Review), *IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng.* 503 (2019) 012009. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/503/1/012009</u>.
- 19. **A. Knoks** et al. "WO₃ as Additive for efficient photocatalyst binary system TiO₂/WO₃" *Latvian Journal of Physics and Technical Sciences* issue 6, (2021)
- 20. N-Graphene Sheet Stacks/Cu Electrocatalyst for CO₂ Reduction to Ethylene, **P. Lesnicenoks** et al. *Electrochem* (2022), 3(2), 15; https://doi.org/10.3390/electrochem3020015
- S. Piskunov, Y.F. Zhukovskii, M.N. Sokolov, J. Kleperis, AB Initio Calculations of CUN@Graphene (0001) Nanostructures for Electrocatalytic Applications, Latv. J. Phys. Tech. Sci. 55 (2018) 30–34. https://doi.org/10.2478/lpts-2018-0041.
- 22. Olins R., Lesnicenoks P., Kleperis J., Knoks A., Lukosevics I. "Electrochemical exfoliation -streamline method for synthesis of nitrogen doped graphene" 10.6001/CHEMIJA.V32I1.4396

- 23. Plavniece A., **Kaprans K., Knoks A., Kleperis J.** et al. "Wood and black liquor-based n-doped activated carbon for energy application" Sustainability (Switzerland), 2021, 13(16), 9237. DOI: 10.3390/su13169237
- 24.Palmbahs, R.; Lesnicenoks, P.; Knoks, A.; Vitola, V.; Kleperis, J. Synthesis Method Comparison of N-Doped Carbons for Electrochemical Energy Storage. *ChemEngineering* Vol. 8, Issue 4, 80., 2024, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/chemengineering8040080</u>
- 25. Su Y., **Knoks A., Bogdanova O., Lesničenoks P., Palmbahs R.**, et al. Monolithic Fabrication of Metal-Free On-Paper Self-Charging Power Systems. *Advanced Functional Materials* (2024) 34(24), 2313506 10.1002/adfm.202313506

ORGANIC AND HYBRID PHOTOVOLTAICS

State of the art

Solar energy is one of the most popular sources of the renewable energy. While most of the commercially available solar panels consist of the silicon-based cells, a lot of research is focused on other materials. The popular topics are perovskite cells due to their high efficiency [1,2], chalcogenide cells due to the abundance of raw materials [3,4], and organic solar cells due to their variety of materials and flexibility [5-7]. With the development of so-called non-fullerene acceptors (NFAs) and the development of highly efficient electron donor polymers, the efficiency of organic photovoltaic (OPV) cells has surpassed 18%. With more advanced techniques as ternary organic solar cells (TOSCs) and tandem OPVs the efficiency has reached 20% [8].

Additional effort has been made to produce hybrid solar cells, combining the best properties of various material groups. For example, hybrid solar cells with the perovskite active layer and organic material charge transfer layer. The efficiency of such cells is well above 20% [9-11].

Our position

Laboratory of Organic Materials is a prominent place in Latvia with all necessary equipment and competence to produce and investigate organic thin-film devices. The laboratory has a long experience investigating the electrical properties of organic materials, which is essential in applications as organic solar cells and sensors. In recent years, experience in device prototyping has also been actively developed and accumulated.

Electrical properties and charge carrier transport play a vital role in organic electronics. Therefore, the laboratory pays attention to investigating the energy structure and electrical properties of organic semiconductors. Energy levels of the compounds are being studied by the photoelectron emission spectroscopy (PES) and the spectral dependence of intrinsic photoconductivity. Such measurements have been used in various local and international projects. It gives information about molecule ionisation energy (IE) and the second method gives a reasonable estimation of the energy bandgap between IE and electron affinity (EA) energy [12-14]. Charge carrier mobility of electrons and holes is determined using time-of-flight (ToF) method.

The characterization of solar cells is done using solar simulator. This allows to evaluate the efficiency and possible applicability of the cells.

Future activities

Research into new original compounds in collaboration with chemists may open possibilities to discover new materials with superior properties and to create high-efficiency devices from them.

By studying previously investigated materials and exploring their combinations, it is possible to optimise the properties of thin films made from these materials, thus opening the possibility to create devices with higher efficiency.

Future directions:

• Development of ternary organic solar cells

We are working on the Latvian Council of Science project No. LZP-2022/1-0494 "Development of ternary organic solar cells by employing original indacene-tetraone based non-fullerene acceptors". The objective of this research project is the development of novel non-fullerene electron acceptors with one-dimensional charge transfer properties that will allow the construction of highly efficient ternary OSCs. In this project, novel non-fullerene acceptors for organic solar cells are being synthesized and investigated. Adding them to already used commercial donor and acceptor materials (electron donor polymers PM6 and PM7, as well as NFAs like Y6 and Y7) ternary organic solar cells are developed. For now we have made TOSCs with the efficiency of over 12% [15], with the quite promising short-circuit current density (Jsc) of over 20 mA/cm². Adding the third material in the active layer of OPV has helped to increase the efficiency of solar cells by slightly improving Jsc and fill factor (FF). For now, the FF values of around 0.60 do not allow reaching higher efficiency, yet the work on the optimization of the morphology of the cell's active layer is still ongoing.

Development of hybrid chalcogenide/ organic tandem solar cells

Combining the results in this project and the results from the concluded EEA and Norway grant "Development of Semi-Transparent Bifacial Thin Film Solar Cells for Innovative Applications", while expanding the collaboration with the Tallinn University of Technology, further activities are planned. Namely, a post-doctoral project related to the development of chalcogenide/ organic tandem solar cells has been submitted. The chalcogenide (Sb₂S₃) layer would work as a top cell, collecting a part of visible light, while organic solar cell would work mostly in the near-infrared part of the spectrum. This would reduce the intensity of light reaching the bottom (organic material) cell, which should reduce the photodegradation of the organic materials and in return improve the lifetime of the cell.

Prototypes of investigated systems will be made to confirm the commercial potential of the devices.

Networking

Latvia:

• Latvia, Riga Technical University, Institute of Applied Chemistry, Prof. Valdis Kokars, Assoc. Prof. Kaspars Traskovskis

Abroad:

• Estonia, Tallinn University of Technology, laboratory for Thin Film Energy Materials at the Department of Materials and Environmental Technology, Professor Ilona Oja Acik

- [1] S. Chaurasia, P. Lohia, D.K. Dwivedi, R. Pandey, J. Madan, S. Agarwal, et al., Enhancing perovskite solar cell efficiency to 28. 17 % by Integrating Dion-Jacobson 2D and 3D phase perovskite Absorbers, Inorg. Chem. Commun. 170 (2024) 113140. doi:10.1016/j.inoche.2024.113140.
- [2] A. Kumar, M. Shkir, F. Alkallas, A. Trabelsi, S. Alfaify, Processing methods towards scalable fabrication of perovskite solar cells: A brief review ., Inorg. Chem. Commun. 169 (2024) 1–32. doi:10.1016/j.inoche.2024.113115.
- [3] V. V. Akshay, S. Benny, S.V. Bhat, Solution-processed antimony chalcogenides based thin film solar cells: A brief overview of recent developments, Sol. Energy. 241 (2022) 728–737. doi:10.1016/j.solener.2022.06.042.
- [4] G.G. Njema, J.K. Kibet, Next Nanotechnology Review article A review of chalcogenide-based perovskites as the next novel materials : Solar cell and optoelectronic applications, catalysis and future perspectives, Next Nanotechnol. 7 (2025) 100102. doi:10.1016/j.nxnano.2024.100102.
- [5] R. Basu, F. Gumpert, J. Lohbreier, P.O. Morin, V. Vohra, Y. Liu, et al., Large-area organic photovoltaic modules with 14.5% certified world record efficiency, Joule. 8 (2024) 970–978. doi:10.1016/j.joule.2024.02.016.
- [6] A. Sharma, S. Masoumi, D. Gedefaw, S. O'Shaughnessy, D. Baran, A. Pakdel, Flexible solar and thermal energy conversion devices: Organic photovoltaics (OPVs), organic thermoelectric generators (OTEGs) and hybrid PV-TEG systems, Appl. Mater. Today. 29 (2022) 101614. doi:10.1016/j.apmt.2022.101614.
- [7] W. Wang, Y. Cui, Y. Yu, J. Wang, C. Wang, H. Hou, et al., Indoor organic photovoltaic module with 30.6 % efficiency for efficient wireless power transfer, Nano Energy. 128 (2024) 109893. doi:10.1016/j.nanoen.2024.109893.
- [8] Z. Zheng, J. Wang, P. Bi, J. Ren, Y. Wang, Y. Yang, et al., Tandem Organic Solar Cell with 20.2% Efficiency, Joule. 6 (2022) 171–184. doi:10.1016/j.joule.2021.12.017.
- [9] K. Yan, Z. Shen, Y. Huang, B. Niu, H. Chen, C.Z. Li, Curing the vulnerable heterointerface via organicinorganic hybrid hole transporting bilayers for efficient inverted perovskite solar cells, Chinese Chem. Lett. 35 (2024) 109516. doi:10.1016/j.cclet.2024.109516.
- [10] E.M. Mkawi, S.M.H. Qaid, E. Bekyarova, A.S. Aldwayyan, Exploring the impact of antimony trisulfide (Sb2S3) doping on the optoelectronic functionality of hybrid CH3NH3PbI3 perovskite layers and solar cells, Opt. Mater. (Amst). 152 (2024). doi:10.1016/j.optmat.2024.115473.
- [11] E.S. Oh, S. Lee, S.Y. Oh, Z. Guo, G.M. Kim, Reduction of fabrication time for organic-inorganic hybrid perovskite solar cells in lab-scale, Sol. Energy. 278 (2024) 112793. doi:10.1016/j.solener.2024.112793.
- [12] N. Juneja, S. Daskeviciute-Geguziene, N. Spalatu, S. Mandati, A. Katerski, R. Grzibovskis, et al., Employment of dopant-free fluorene-based enamines as innovative hole transport materials to boost the transparency and performance of Sb2S3 based solar cells, Mater. Sci. Semicond. Process. 169 (2024) 107934. doi:10.1016/j.mssp.2023.107934.
- [13] R. Grzibovskis, A. Aizstrauts, A. Pidluzhna, M. Marcinskas, A. Magomedov, S. Karazhanov, et al., Energy-Level Interpretation of Carbazole Derivatives in Self-Assembling Monolayer, Molecules. 29 (2024) 1–10. doi:10.3390/molecules29091910.
- [14] R. Grzibovskis, A. Polaks, A. Vembris, Intrinsic Photoconductivity Spectral Dependence as a Tool for Prediction of Open-Circuit Voltage in Organic Solar Cells, Energies. 16 (2023). doi:10.3390/en16186728.

[15] R. Grzibovskis, A. Aizstrauts, A. Ruduss, K. Traskovskis, Novel dicyanomethylene-functionalized sindacene-tetraone-based materials as non-fullerene acceptors for ternary organic solar cells, in: Proc. SPIE, 2024: pp. 1–9. doi:10.1117/12.3017581.

NOVEL THERMOELECTRIC MATERIALS

State of the art

Addressing the energy crisis requires the use of renewable resources and the development of more innovative and efficient devices. Wasted heat represents a significant, yet underutilized, energy source. It is estimated that around 20% of the 15 terawatts needed annually for global power consumption is lost as low-level heat (<200°C). Thermoelectric generators (TEGs) can harness this wasted energy by converting heat directly into electricity. Effective TEGs can solve multiple problems: they use wasted heat for electricity generation, thereby reducing global warming and tackling the energy crisis. This realization has led to extensive research into thermoelectric materials, including organic materials [1–4]. At low temperatures, organic materials can demonstrate properties that are comparable to or even superior to those of traditionally used inorganic materials [1,5]. Recently, the synthesis of thermoelectric nanoparticles with a high figure of merit (ZT >1) has been reported [6,7]. Integrating these nanoparticles into suitable polymer matrices can produce valuable hybrid thermoelectric materials, such as those used in Photovoltaic-Thermoelectric hybrid systems [8,9]. The hybrid materials concept, where inorganic TEs are coupled with polymers, has gained much attention, enabling harvesting low-grade heat otherwise lost, even with a lower ZT than the inorganic counterpart. Flexible organic–inorganic hybrids are promising thermoelectric materials to recycle waste heat in versatile formats [10–12].

Our position

The Laboratory of Organic Materials in Latvia is a leading facility equipped with all the necessary tools and expertise to produce and study organic thin-film devices. With extensive experience in examining the electrical properties of organic materials, the laboratory plays a crucial role in applications like thermoelectricity, organic solar cells, and sensors. Recently, the lab has also significantly advanced its capabilities in device prototyping.

Understanding the electrical properties and charge carrier transport is crucial for organic electronics, making their study vital. Therefore, the laboratory is dedicated to investigating the energy structure and electrical characteristics of organic semiconductors. The energy levels of these materials are examined using photoelectron emission spectroscopy (PES) and the spectral dependence of intrinsic photoconductivity. These techniques, applied in various local and international projects, provide valuable insights into the ionization energy (IE) of molecules. Moreover, the latter method offers a reliable estimation of the energy bandgap between IE and electron affinity (EA) energy [13–15].

In the Laboratory of Organic Materials, full spectra of thermoelectric properties can be investigated, including Seebeck coefficient measurements in a lab-made Seebeck measurement unit, thermal conductivity measurements by 3ω technique and electrical conductivity measurements by four-probe method [16,17]. In the future, the measurements of thermal conductivity in thin films will be improved, achieving the possibility to determine the thermal conductivity in different directions in a thin layer [18].

The hybrid materials concept, where inorganic TEs are coupled with polymers, has gained much attention, enabling harvesting low-grade heat otherwise lost, even with a lower ZT than the inorganic counterpart. Flexible organic–inorganic hybrids are promising thermoelectric materials to recycle waste heat in versatile formats [10–12,19–21]. Besides, the thermoelectric effect can be used to create light sensors. [22] For example, thermopile detectors have long been known. Prototypes of thermoelectric radiation sensors with superior characteristics are created using thin films of organic materials with unique properties, achieving broad spectral range as thermopiles and high-speed performance as a photodiode. ISSP UL has patented technology as WO/20202/095126 and EP3811043 "A High-Bandwidth Thermoelectric Thin-Film UV, Visible Light and Infrared Radiation Sensor and Manufacturing Method Thereof", which have been sold to the multinational company Thorlabs. Licensing and technology transfer contract with Thorlabs GmbH was signed on 11.10.2021.

At the Laboratory of Organic Materials, research is conducted on the thermoelectric properties of glassforming low molecular weight compounds, which are promising candidates for new hybrid thermoelectric materials. Recently, the laboratory secured a project from the Latvian Council of Science titled "Advancing Sustainable Thermoelectric Hybrid Systems Utilizing Glass-Forming Low Molecular Weight Compounds."

Meanwhile, the EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory has initiated a project titled "The Entropy-Driven Approach to Enhance the Thermoelectric Performance of Chalcogenide-Based Compounds," which focuses on utilizing novel thermoelectric nanomaterials.

Future activities

Further development of the energy harvesting device field will be divided into two parts. One will be performed in close collaboration with chemists from other academic institutions. The second is related to the investigation of the energy conversion system concerning morphology.

Research into new original compounds in collaboration with chemists may open possibilities to discover new materials with superior properties and to create high-efficiency devices from them.

By studying previously investigated materials and exploring the effect of morphology on energy conversion, it is possible to optimise the properties of thin films made from these materials, thus opening the possibility to create devices with higher efficiency.

Future directions:

Development of organic-inorganic hybrid system thin films for thermoelectricity

One of the primary steps in developing hybrid systems, such as organic-inorganic thin films for thermoelectricity, is the high-quality incorporation of inorganic nanoparticles into organic materials. Achieving a homogeneous distribution of nanoparticles in the thin film is crucial for the successful advancement of these hybrid systems. Understanding charge carrier transport and energy levels in solids is essential. This is particularly important in hybrid systems, where charge carrier transport can be hindered by trap levels resulting from structural defects and energy level mismatches between system components.

Organic materials typically have low thermal and electrical conductivity. Over the past decade, hybrid organic-inorganic materials have emerged as promising thermoelectric candidates, combining the low thermal conductivity and high Seebeck coefficient of organics with the high electrical conductivity of inorganics. However, these hybrids often suffer from poor thermoelectric properties due to aggregated nanostructures.

To improve this, high-quality incorporation of inorganic nanoparticles is crucial. Adding thermoelectric active inorganic nanoparticles or low-dimensional carbon structures, like carbon nanotubes or graphene, can enhance electrical conductivity and Seebeck coefficient while reducing thermal conductivity, following the "phonon-glass, electron-crystal" principle for higher ZT values.

In collaboration with Prof. M. Toprak's group at KTH, we are researching chalcogenide TE nanoparticles to form hybrid structures and develop TE devices. We also plan to include copper and silver chalcogenide nanoparticles and other thermoelectric nanoparticles, efficiently synthesized using microwave-assisted methods from Prof. Toprak's group.

Development of Thermoelectric generators on a flexible substrate

Organic material-based thin film deposition on flexible substrates by making flexible devices is one of the most significant advantages of organic materials. Nevertheless, several issues should be addressed before depositing a multilayer system on the flexible substrate.

- 1. Structuring of electrodes should be done mainly by the lithography method;
- 2. Thermal deposition of compounds should be done at low temperatures;
- 3. The thermal properties of the flexible substrate should be considered during thermal treatment of the layers;
- 4. Investigation of bending radius and cycles should be performed.

Prototypes of investigated systems will be made to confirm the commercial potential of the devices.

Networking

Latvia:

- Riga Technical University, Institute of Applied Chemistry, Prof. Valdis Kokars, Assoc. Prof. Kaspars Traskovskis
- Research Laboratory of Functional Materials Technologies, Dr. sc.ing. Andris Šutka,

Abroad:

- Estonia, Tallinn University of Technology, Department of materials and environmental technology, Professor Ilona Oja Acik
- Lithuania, Kaunas University of Technology, Professor Juozas Grazulevicius group
- Germany, Julius-Maximilians-Universitat Wurzburg, Experimental Physics vi, Pflaum group, Prof. Dr. Jens Pflaum
- United Kingdom, The University of Nottingham, School of Chemistry, GSK Carbon Neutral Laboratories for Sustainable Chemistry, The Woodward Selective Synthesis Group, Dr. Simon Woodward
- Sweden, KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Nanochemistry Lab, Professor Muhammet S. Toprak
- Turkey, Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa , Professor Ph.D. Sedat Ballikaya
- South Korea, Electronics and Telecommunications Research Institute, South Korea, Dr. Jeong Hun Kim

References

[1] D. Wang, J. Ding, Y. Ma, C. Xu, Z. Li, X. Zhang, Y. Zhao, Y. Zhao, Y. Di, L. Liu, X. Dai, Y. Zou, B. Kim, F. Zhang, Z. Liu, I. McCulloch, M. Lee, C. Chang, X. Yang, D. Wang, D. Zhang, L.-D. Zhao, C. Di, D. Zhu, Multi-heterojunctioned plastics with high thermoelectric figure of merit, Nature 632 (2024) 528–535. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-024-07724-2.

- [2] Q. Tang, B. Jiang, K. Wang, W. Wang, B. Jia, T. Ding, Z. Huang, Y. Lin, J. He, High-entropy thermoelectric materials, Joule (2024) 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2024.04.012.
- [3] K. Zhao, P. Qiu, X. Shi, L. Chen, Recent Advances in Liquid-Like Thermoelectric Materials, Adv. Funct. Mater. 30 (2020) 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201903867.
- [4] M. Bharti, A. Singh, S. Samanta, D.K. Aswal, Conductive polymers for thermoelectric power generation, Prog. Mater. Sci. 93 (2018) 270–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmatsci.2017.09.004.
- [5] C.T. Hong, W. Lee, Y.H. Kang, Y. Yoo, J. Ryu, S.Y. Cho, K.-S. Jang, Effective doping by spin-coating and enhanced thermoelectric power factors in SWCNT/P3HT hybrid films, J. Mater. Chem. A 3 (2015) 12314– 12319. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5TA02443A.
- [6] B. Hamawandi, H. Batili, M. Paul, S. Ballikaya, N.I. Kilic, R. Szukiewicz, M. Kuchowicz, M. Johnsson, M.S. Toprak, Minute-Made, High-Efficiency Nanostructured Bi2Te3 via High-Throughput Green Solution Chemical Synthesis, Nanomaterials 11 (2021) 2053. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano11082053.
- [7] Y. Demirci, A. Yusuf, B. Hamawandi, M.S. Toprak, S. Ballikaya, The Effect of Crystal Mismatch on the Thermoelectric Performance Enhancement of Nano Cu2Se, Front. Mater. 7 (2021) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmats.2020.581138.
- [8] A. Yusuf, N. Bayhan, H. Tiryaki, B. Hamawandi, M.S. Toprak, S. Ballikaya, Multi-objective optimization of concentrated Photovoltaic-Thermoelectric hybrid system via non-dominated sorting genetic algorithm (NSGA II), Energy Convers. Manag. 236 (2021) 114065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2021.114065.
- [9] J.F. Serrano-Claumarchirant, B. Hamawandi, A.B. Ergül, A. Cantarero, C.M. Gómez, P. Priyadarshi, N. Neophytou, M.S. Toprak, Thermoelectric Inks and Power Factor Tunability in Hybrid Films through All Solution Process, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 14 (2022) 19295–19303. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.1c24392.
- [10] C. Ou, A.L. Sangle, A. Datta, Q. Jing, T. Busolo, T. Chalklen, V. Narayan, S. Kar-Narayan, Fully Printed Organic–Inorganic Nanocomposites for Flexible Thermoelectric Applications, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 10 (2018) 19580–19587. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.8b01456.
- [11] R. Aridi, J. Faraj, S. Ali, T. Lemenand, M. Khaled, Thermoelectric Power Generators: State-of-the-Art, Heat Recovery Method, and Challenges, Electricity 2 (2021) 359–386. https://doi.org/10.3390/electricity2030022.
- [12] N. Bisht, P. More, P.K. Khanna, R. Abolhassani, Y.K. Mishra, M. Madsen, Progress of hybrid nanocomposite materials for thermoelectric applications, Mater. Adv. 2 (2021) 1927–1956. https://doi.org/10.1039/D0MA01030H.
- [13] N. Juneja, S. Daskeviciute-Geguziene, N. Spalatu, S. Mandati, A. Katerski, R. Grzibovskis, A. Vembris, S. Karazhanov, V. Getautis, M. Krunks, I. Oja Acik, Employment of dopant-free fluorene-based enamines as innovative hole transport materials to boost the transparency and performance of Sb2S3 based solar cells, Mater. Sci. Semicond. Process. 169 (2024) 107934. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2023.107934.
- [14] R. Grzibovskis, A. Aizstrauts, A. Pidluzhna, M. Marcinskas, A. Magomedov, S. Karazhanov, T. Malinauskas, V. Getautis, A. Vembris, Energy-Level Interpretation of Carbazole Derivatives in Self-Assembling Monolayer, Molecules 29 (2024) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules29091910.
- [15] R. Grzibovskis, A. Polaks, A. Vembris, Intrinsic Photoconductivity Spectral Dependence as a Tool for Prediction of Open-Circuit Voltage in Organic Solar Cells, Energies 16 (2023).
- [16] K. Pudzs, A. Vembris, J. Busenbergs, M. Rutkis, S. Woodward, Tetrathiotetracene thin film morphology and electrical properties, Thin Solid Films 598 (2015) 214–218.
- [17] K. Pudzs, A. Vembris, M. Rutkis, S. Woodward, Thin Film Organic Thermoelectric Generator Based on Tetrathiotetracene, Adv. Electron. Mater. 3 (2017) 1600429.
- [18] C. Dames, Chapter 2 Measuring the Thermal Conductivity of Thin Films : 3 Omega and Related Electrothermal Methods, Annu. Rev. Heat Transf. (2013) 7–49.

- [19] B. Russ, A. Glaudell, J.J. Urban, M.L. Chabinyc, R.A. Segalman, Organic thermoelectric materials for energy harvesting and temperature control, Nat. Rev. Mater. 1 (2016) 16050.
- [20] L.M. Cowen, J. Atoyo, M.J. Carnie, D. Baran, B.C. Schroeder, Review—Organic Materials for Thermoelectric Energy Generation, ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol. 6 (2017) N3080–N3088.
- [21] K. Oshima, J. Inoue, S. Sadakata, Y. Shiraishi, N. Toshima, Hybrid-Type Organic Thermoelectric Materials Containing Nanoparticles as a Carrier Transport Promoter, J. Electron. Mater. 46 (2017) 3207– 3214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11664-016-4888-4.
- [22] D. Venkateshvaran, M.T.R. Cervantes, L.J. Spalek, K. Hwang, K. Pudzs, M. Rutkis, G. Schweicher, P. Padilla-Longoria, Understanding the thermoelectric properties of organic semiconductors from a polaronic perspective, Adv. Devices Instrum. (2024) 1–24. https://doi.org/10.34133/adi.0067.

MICROFLUIDIC DEVICES

State of art

OOC systems are microfluidic devices designed to replicate human organ functions by culturing epithelial and endothelial cells in separate microfluidic channels divided by a porous membrane. These systems allow controlled, dynamic microenvironments where cultured cells exhibit biomarker expression and activity levels similar to in vivo conditions due to applied shear and mechanical forces [1]. OOCs replicate physiologically relevant environments for cell growth and hold the potential to replace animal testing by providing more accurate, human-relevant organ-function models [2,3]. This is underscored by the FDA Modernization Acts 2.0 and 3.0, which enable the use of OOC devices alongside animal trial data in clinical trial submissions, highlighting their potential as a test bed for pharmaceutical developers and research institutions.

Our group focuses on developing OOCs with novel materials and fabrication methods, addressing the limitations of current PDMS-based devices. PDMS, while widely used, absorbs small molecules, is difficult to scale for mass manufacturing, and limits the creation of anaerobic conditions required for specific applications, such as gut microbiota modeling [13,14]. Current OOC devices mimic human organ functions by culturing relevant cell types, such as gut epithelial and endothelial cells, in horizontal microfluidic channels separated by porous membranes. These channels allow culture media flow, supplying nutrients and removing waste, enabling the formation of a confluent monolayer of cells that simulates organ tissue response to external stimuli [4]. This technology has demonstrated promise in pharmacokinetics (PK), drug toxicity, viral disease studies, and cancer research [1,4-7].

OOC systems also enable personalized medicine by incorporating patient-derived biological material, such as primary tissues, blood samples, or induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and by tuning physical and chemical parameters to mimic individual physiology [7]. This facilitates person-specific drug efficacy and safety testing, paving the way for truly personalized medicine. Current state-of-the-art applications include accurate single-organ models with representative cellular composition and personalized PK/PD studies, but the systemic response of human physiology necessitates the development of multi-organ chips [8].

Particularly, blood flow studies have greatly benefited from microfluidic technologies, which enable highresolution modelling of vascular environments under well-controlled conditions. These systems replicate physiological and pathological flow rates, hematocrit, and vessel geometries—such as networks, bifurcations and confinement—allowing real-time observation of red blood cell (RBC) deformation, aggregation, and interactions with other cells, pathogens, or materials and the study of its detailed dynamics and rheological properties [32,33]. When coupled with advanced tools like confocal microscopy, and optical tweezers, they offer precise, quantitative insight into the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying healthy cases and diseases like thrombosis, and hemorheological disorders [34-36]. When combined with electrical sensors, these platforms provide powerful capabilities for point-of-care diagnostics and continuous physiological monitoring [37,38].

Multi-OOC devices interconnect systems such as intestine, liver, and kidney chips to predict PK responses, utilizing either fluidic interconnects or pipetting robots for integration [1,9,10]. For example, multi-OOC systems have been used for cancer modeling and subsequent PK-PD analysis in interconnected four-organ setups [11]. However, despite numerous seminal studies, the core design of OOC chips has seen little innovation over the last decade [4,6,12].

PDMS remains the dominant material for OOC fabrication, yet its limitations hinder adoption in pharmaceutical research. The absorption of small molecules and inability to mass manufacture at scale result in high costs, while gas permeability issues prevent the creation of anaerobic conditions [13,14]. Alternative materials offer potential solutions, including cost reduction, scalability, and improved environmental control. Recent efforts from groups such as Kang [16], Jeon [17], and George (unpublished, UC Davis) have focused on non-PDMS OOCs, but no major publications have demonstrated their integration into drug development studies. Startups like Dynamic42 and BeOnChip reflect the complexity of developing PDMS-free devices, leveraging expertise from microfluidic manufacturing hubs like Microfluidic ChipShop and TE Connectivity [16,17].

Recent conferences, including the MPS World Summit 2024 and EurOOCs 2024, highlighted advances in OOC technology. ISSP UL members attended these events, which focused on sensor development for monitoring cellular metabolism and enhancing in vitro models. Particular emphasis was placed on glucose and lactate sensors, as well as oxygen sensing for gut-on-chip models to better understand gas environments in epithelial channels [25,26]. These developments demonstrate growing interest in improving OOC capabilities for specific applications.

Our position

The Laboratory of Micro- and nanodevices focuses on designing and developing novel OOC devices suitable for large-scale manufacturing. Proof-of-principle (POP) devices integrating TEER [18] and gas and pH sensors [19] have been demonstrated. By mid-2024, multiple publications on PDMS-free OOC devices made from OSTE-COC and COC materials have been published [27, 28, 29]. A recent *Biomaterials Today* (IF>8) publication shows that, using OSTE-COC materials and our manufacturing methods, patient-derived pancreatic cancer models can be sustained for over 50 days [27].

In 2022, previously developed chips supported full human microbiota culturing in gut-on-chip devices. Microbiome diversity analysis via advanced sequencing revealed that >95% of bacteria in the chip after 72 hours were strict anaerobes or anaerobes, confirming superior gut microenvironment recapitulation. Experiments also showed bacterial extracellular vesicle (EV) transfer across the gut-blood barrier. Multi-OOC experiments began in 2023, including a two-year kidney-liver-pancreas system project. The 2022 patent application was turned into a PCT application for priority retention, and the EP patent was sold to Latvian spin-off Cellbox Labs. Cellbox Labs has been using ISSP UL cleanrooms to develop chip technology and build lung-on-chip devices from injection-molded COC chips to replicate microgravity conditions on Earth [28].

In 2025, two projects will focus on TEER sensors correlating TEER values with tight junction protein expression in gut-on-chip models and a novel biomaterial test bed recapitulating a rodent calvarial critical-size defect model in an OOC platform.

Regarding oncology-related biomarkers, our core interest lies in EVs, heterogeneous vesicles released by cells like MSCs. EVs transfer molecules influencing recipient cell behavior and play roles in cancer progression and treatment [18]. They carry genetic material, proteins, lipids, and signaling molecules, mediating intercellular communication in human fluids and regulating physiological and pathological processes. EVs have emerged as potential therapeutic tools and biomarkers in cancer [21]. However, challenges remain, such as methodologies for isolating EVs from high-volume samples for clinical use [22, 23]. Current approaches include EV capture from concentrated liquids like blood plasma and analysis using lab-grade equipment.

A collaboration with Latvian Biomedical Centre (BMC) aims to develop a device for EV isolation from cell culture media and urine, improving reproducibility and reducing preparation time. The device, based on field-flow fractionation (FFF), eliminates user concentration steps. The project resulted in three

publications: characterizing bifurcated asymmetric FFF systems [30], applying this method for clinical sample purification [30], and demonstrating the method in the *Journal of Visualized Experiments* [31].

New research staff are contributing expertise in blood-related microfluidics, expanding the laboratory's scope and integrating hemodynamics and blood diagnostics into our broader organ-on-a-chip (OOC) strategy. This includes the study of blood rheology, red blood cell (RBC) behavior, and cell-microbe nano and microrobots interactions under physiological and pathological flow conditions. Efforts also address the development of diagnostic tools based on flow-induced cellular responses and sensor integration. Additionally, space health is an area of growing interest, with plans to investigate hematological alterations in microgravity environments. Together, these activities reinforce our shift toward PDMS-free, scalable microfluidic systems equipped with integrated sensing technologies for clinical and translational use.

Future activities

Further work will focus on multiple models supporting necessary design changes. Our research will include sensor integration (TEER, O₂, CO₂, pH) and membrane engineering to support 3D cell arrangements, such as intestinal villi structures. We will also work on flow through modular glucose and ATP sensors for OoC models.

Future research will focus on applied microfluidics and microfabrication, emphasizing industrial or applied science applications with commercialization opportunities. OOC technology, biomarkers for oncology, and personalized medicine diagnostics remain central to our work. We prioritize scalable, large-volume manufacturing materials and integrated sensing technologies for OOC devices, aligned with biological model advancements at BMC. This includes engineering multi-organ devices and fabricating multi-organ systems on a single chip, representing human physiology for pharmaceutical applications. With an estimated EUR 4.5 billion TAM in drug discovery, OOC technology offers significant IP generation and commercialization potential.

Our biomarker research focuses on EV technology for cancer diagnostics and treatment. Short-term efforts aim to improve EV separation, while long-term goals include lab-on-chip solutions for EV capture and analysis. Current projects involve on-chip EV capturing and optical sensing, with proposals submitted with BMC and the Laboratory of Organic Materials. Collaborations include Dr. Qin Wang (RISE) on graphene sensor development, with plans to hire experienced personnel for advanced sensor integration.

We see significant opportunities in collaborating with pharmaceutical companies, as they typically rely on academic and industrial partnerships for OOC R&D. Most current OOC systems are early stage, focusing on proof of concept, with limited usability for industrial applications. Our engineered systems will integrate microfluidic devices, instruments, and optimized cell culture protocols in cooperation with BMC.

Pharmaceutical companies engaged include AstraZeneca, GlaxoSmithKline, Roche, Pfizer, Bayer, ThermoFisher, Merck, Novartis, Janssen J&J, AbbVie, Evotec, Charles River Laboratories, Covance/Labcorp, Eurofins, and Agilent.

Pharma's adoption of OOC systems is recent, offering a unique opportunity for collaboration. OOC technology can initially contribute to drug efficacy and toxicity studies, but widespread replacement of animal trials will require legislative changes and more evidence, likely over 5+ years. Strategic use of OOC technology could save 10–24% of R&D costs [24].

Future work will focus on applied microfluidics for blood-related applications. We aim to develop robust, PDMS-free microfluidic platforms suitable for scalable production and compatible with physiological fluids such as plasma and whole blood. Our immediate goal is to optimize these devices for the quantitative analysis of blood-related diseases. Integration of real-time sensors will enable monitoring of endothelial integrity and cellular metabolism in blood flow models. We will also investigate the behavior of bacterial

and colloidal populations in flow, particularly their interactions with RBCs at rest and under shear, to support bacteriotherapy design, infection dynamics modeling, and to advance the field of active matter within the emerging framework of mechanical statistics. This work is carried out in collaboration with leading research groups, including the Biofluids and Biorheology Lab at the University of Ottawa (Canada), the Active and Programmable Matter Lab at ESPCI Paris (France), and the Institute of Advanced Simulation (IAS & IAS-2) at Forschungszentrum Jülich (Germany).

In parallel, diagnostic platforms will be further developed: the Thrombocheck system for point-of-care testing of thrombus formation under defined wall shear rates and geometries in collaboration with the Biofluids and Medical Device Research Group at Georgia Institute of Technology (USA), and Sicklecheck for low-cost sickle cell anemia detection from finger-prick samples using image-based or sensor-based diagnostics—aligned with tech-for-good initiatives targeting underserved regions such as Africa and India. Additionally, we aim to adapt these systems for microgravity environments through integrated sensors with telecommunications capabilities and long-term data storage. This includes the study of RBC aggregation, flow dynamics, and membrane properties under spaceflight conditions, contributing to the understanding of space anemia and other hematological alterations observed in astronauts in collaboration with the Red Blood Cell Dynamics Group at Saarland University (Germany) and the Space and Planetary Exploration Laboratory at the University of Chile to support Earth-to-orbit translational strategies with NASA. A potential collaboration with Cellbox Labs is envisioned, building on their expertise with gut-on-chip systems tested in microgravity chambers.

Networking

Latvia:

- Latvia, Biomedical research and study centre, J. Klovins group,
- Latvia, , Latvian Institute of Organic Synthesis, K. Jaudzems group
- Latvia, Riga Stradins University, Cakstina's group

These collaborations enhance our access to diverse expertise in hemodynamics, synthetic biology, instrumentation, and international science funding.

Abroad

- Belgium, Flemish institute for technological research VITO, I. Nelissen group
- Belgium, KU Leuven, VITA group in Rega Institute
- Sweden, KTH Royal Institute of Technology in Stockholm (Sweden), A.Herland group;
- Sweden, Karolinska Institute, O. Parlak group;
- Germany, The Max Delbrück Centre for Molecular Medicine in the Helmholtz Association, Sanders lab;
- Netherlands, University of Twente, BIOS Lab on a chip;
- USA, University of Vermont, UVM Cancer Center
- USA, Iowa State University, The Anand Group;
- Canada, University of Ottawa, Fenech's Lab: Biofluids and Biorheology;
- USA, Georgia Institute of Technology, Ku's Lab: Biofluids and Medical Device Research Group;
- France, ESPCI Paris, Olivier Dauchot's lab on active and programmable matter;
- Germany, Saarland University, Lars Kaestner's Group on Red blood cells dynamics;
- Germany, Jülich Forschungszentrum, Institute of Advance Simulation IAS & IAS-2;
- Chile, University of Chile, Space and Planetary Exploration Laboratory;

- 1. Herland, A. et al. Quantitative prediction of human pharmacokinetic responses to drugs via fluidically coupled vascularized organ chips. Nat. Biomed. Eng. 4 (2020) 421
- 2. Franzen, N. et al. Impact of organ-on-a-chip technology on pharmaceutical R&D costs. Drug Discov. Today 24 (2019)1720.
- 3. van der Merwe, Y. & Steketee, M. B. Extracellular Vesicles: Biomarkers, Therapeutics, and Vehicles in the Visual System. Curr Ophthalmol Rep 5 (2017) 276–282
- 4. Huh, D. et al. Reconstituting organ-level lung functions on a chip. Science. 328 (2010) 1662
- 5. Park, T. E. et al. Hypoxia-enhanced Blood-Brain Barrier Chip recapitulates human barrier function and shuttling of drugs and antibodies. Nat. Commun. 10 (2019) 1–12
- Jang, K. J. et al. Reproducing human and cross-species drug toxicities using a Liver-Chip. Sci. Transl. Med. (2019) 11,
- 7. Van Den Berg, A., Mummery, C. L., Passier, R. & Van der Meer, A. D. Personalised organs-on-chips: functional testing for precision medicine. Lab Chip 19 (2019) 198
- 8. Wu, Q. et al. Organ-on-a-chip: Recent breakthroughs and future prospects. Biomed. Eng. Online 19 (2020) 1–19
- 9. Novak, R. et al. Robotic fluidic coupling and interrogation of multiple vascularized organ chips. Nat. Biomed. Eng. 4 (2020) 407
- 10. Lee, H. et al. A pumpless multi-organ-on-a-chip (MOC) combined with a pharmacokinetic– pharmacodynamic (PK–PD) model. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 114 (2017) 432
- 11. Satoh, T. et al. A multi-throughput multi-organ-on-a-chip system on a plate formatted pneumatic pressure-driven medium circulation platform. Lab Chip 18 (2018) 115
- 12. Bhatia, S. N. & Ingber, D. E. Microfluidic organs-on-chips. Nat Biotechnol 32 (2014) 760
- 13. Sackmann, E. K., Fulton, A. L. & Beebe, D. J. The present and future role of microfluidics in biomedical research. Nature 507 (2014) 181
- 14. van Meer, B. J. et al. Small molecule absorption by PDMS in the context of drug response bioassays. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 482 (2017) 323
- 15. Mastrangeli, M. Building blocks for a European Organ-on-Chip roadmap. ALTEX 36 (2019) 481
- 16. Chio et al., Condensed ECM-based nanofilms on highly permeable PET membranes for robust cell-to-cell communications with improved optical clarity. Biofabrication, 045020 (2021).
- 17. Lim et al., Microvascularized tumor organoids-on-chips: advancing preclinical drug screening with pathophysiological relevance. Nano Convergence, 12 (2021).
- 18. Giampetruzzi, L. et al. Multi-Sensors Integration in a Human Gut-On-Chip Platform. Proceedings 2, (2018) 1022
- 19. Jalili-Firoozinezhad, S. et al. A complex human gut microbiome cultured in an anaerobic intestine-on-achip. Nat Biomed Eng 3 (2019) 520
- 20. Patel, G. K. et al. Comparative analysis of exosome isolation methods using culture supernatant for optimum yield, purity and downstream applications. Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 5335
- 21. van der Merwe, Y. & Steketee, M. B. Correction to: Extracellular Vesicles: Biomarkers, Therapeutics, and Vehicles in the Visual System (Current Ophthalmology Reports 5 (2017) 276-282
- 22. Kanwar, S. S., Dunlay, C. J., Simeone, D. M. & Nagrath, S. Microfluidic device (ExoChip) for on-chip isolation, quantification and characterization of circulating exosomes. Lab Chip 14 (2014) 1891
- 23. Zhang, P. et al. Ultrasensitive detection of circulating exosomes with a 3D-nanopatterned microfluidic chip. Nat. Biomed. Eng. 3 (2019) 438
- 24. Zhang, H. & Lyden, D. Asymmetric-flow field-flow fractionation technology for exomere and small extracellular vesicle separation and characterization. Nat. Protoc. 14 (2019)1027

- 25. Matthiesen, I.; Nasiri, R.; Tamashiro Orrego, A.; Winkler, T.E.; Herland, A. Metabolic Assessment of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells-Derived Astrocytes and Fetal Primary Astrocytes: Lactate and Glucose Turnover. Biosensors 12 (2022) 839
- 26. J. Dornhof, J. Kieninger, H. Muralidharan. J. Maurer, G. A. Urbana, A. Weltin, Microfluidic organ-on-chip system for multi-analyte monitoring of metabolites in 3D cell cultures, Lab on Chip, 22 (2022) 225
- K. Goluba, V. Parfejevs, E. Rostoka, K. Jekabsons, I. Blake, A. Neimane, A. A. Ule, R. Rimsa, R. Vangravs, A. Pcolkins, U. Riekstina, Personalized PDAC chip with functional endothelial barrier for tumour biomarker detection: A platform for precision medicine applications, Materials Today Bio, 29 (2024) 101262
- A. Strods, K. Narbute, V. Movčana, K. Gillois, R. Rimša, P. Hollos, F. Rūmnieks, A. Spule, G. Mozoļevskis, A. Abols, Development of Organ-on-a-Chip System with Continuous Flow in Simulated Microgravity, Micromachines, 15 (2024) 370
- 29. M. Priedols, G. Paidere, C. B. Santos, A. Miscenko, R. G. Bergmanis, A. Spule, B. Bekere, G. Mozolevskis, A. Abols, R. Rimsa, Bifurcated Asymmetric Field Flow Fractionation of Nanoparticles in PDMS-Free Microfluidic Devices for Applications in Label-Free Extracellular Vesicle Separation, Polymers, 15 (2023) 789
- 30. C. Bajo-Santos, M. Priedols, P. Kaukis, G. Paidere, R. Gerulis-Bergmanis, G. Mozolevskis, A. Abols, R. Rimsa, Extracellular Vesicles Isolation from Large Volume Samples Using a Polydimethylsiloxane-Free Microfluidic Device, Int. J. Mol. Sci., 24 (2023) 7971
- 31. M. Priedols, C. Bajo-Santos, G. Paidere, R. Gerulis-Bergmanis, G. Mozolevskis, A. Abols, R. Rimsa Single Step Isolation of Extracellular Vesicles from Large-Volume Samples with a Bifurcated A4F Microfluidic Device, J. Vis. Exp. (2023) 66019.
- 32. L Lanotte, L., Mauer, J., Méndez-Ferrer, S., Fedosov, D. A., Fromental, J., Clavería, V., Nicoud, F., Gompper, G., & Abkarian, M. (2016). Red cells' dynamic morphologies govern blood shear thinning under microcirculatory flow conditions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113(47), 13289–13294. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1608074113
- 33. **Clavería, V**., Aouane, O., Thiébaud, M., Abkarian, M., Coupier, G., Misbah, C., John, T., & Wagner, C. (2016). Clusters of red blood cells in microcapillary flow: hydrodynamic versus macromolecule induced interaction. Soft Matter, 12(39), 8235–8245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c6sm01165a</u>
- 34. Steffen P, Verdier C, Wagner C. Quantification of Depletion-Induced Adhesion of Red Blood Cells. *Phys Rev Lett.* 2013;110(1):018102. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.018102
- 35. Sahun M, Bernit E, Atwell S, et al. A novel red blood cell deformability biomarker is associated with hemolysis and vaso-occlusive crises in sickle cell disease. *Sci Rep.* 2025;15(1):15864. doi:10.1038/s41598-025-00152-w
- 36. Pero E, Tomaiuolo G, Guido S. The combined role of hematocrit and shear flow on the morphology of platelet aggregates by Fast Fourier Transform and 4D confocal microscopy. *CR-PHYS-SC*. 2024;5(11). doi:10.1016/j.xcrp.2024.102288
- 37. **Clavería V**, Yang PJ, Griffin MT, Ku DN. Global Thrombosis Test: Occlusion by Coagulation or SIPA? *TH Open*. 2021;05(03):e400-e410. doi:10.1055/s-0041-1732341
- 38. A. Bresette C, **Claveria V**, N. Ku D. Development of a novel point-of-care device to monitor arterial thrombosis. *Lab on a Chip*. Published online 2025. doi:10.1039/D5LC00061K

CENTRES TARGETING EXCELLENCE

OPEN-ACCESS RESEARCH INFRASTRUCTURE

To support fundamental and application-oriented studies, **OPEN ACCESS RESEARCH CENTRES** are developed and further modernized.

Fundamental research:

- **Computing Centre:** Hosting the Latvian SuperCluster (LASC) with advanced computing capabilities. LASC is a heterogeneous high-performance computing cluster based on reliable multiprocessor servers and running the Linux operating system, with a theoretical peak performance of about 150 TFlops. It will be upgraded in the coming years to offer significantly enhanced performance and, for the first time, provide access to high-performance graphical processors, which are essential for efficient parallel data processing in emerging technologies such as artificial intelligence and machine learning.
- *X-Ray absorption knowledge excellence Centre* focuses on the study of materials structure using synchrotron radiation X-ray absorption spectroscopy. It uses advanced theoretical calculations and simulations of experimental data to gain insight in the structure-property relationships in materials.
- *Spectroscopy Centre* conducts material science research using optical, magnetic, and electron spectroscopy. State of the art commercial instruments like FTIR Vertex 80v, Raman spectrometer TriVista CRS, Spectroscopic ellipsometer RC2-XI, photoluminescence spectrometer FLS1000, TL-OSL reader Lexsyg research, EPR spectrometer Elexsys-II E500 CW, XPS/UPS system are located in close vicinity. Custom built setups based on tunable nanosecond, picosecond and femtosecond lasers for excitation and various detection systems including Time-Correlated Single Photon Counting are available at Centre.
- *Microscopy and Structure Analysis Centre:* Provides cutting edge tools for macro-to-nano scale explorations: SEM Tescan Lyra 3 dual beam system; TEM FEI Tecnai G2 F20; SEM Helios 5UX (Thermo Fisher Scientific); AFM Veeco AFM CP-II; Profiler Dektak 150; Vero interferometric AFM (Oxford Instruments).

Applied research:

- *Electrochemistry Centre:* Research in materials for lithium and sodium-ion batteries, hydrogen technology, and electrochemical characterization: 90+ electrochemical test channels, incl VMP3 potentiostat/galvanostat (BioLogic); Ar-filled glovebox; Particle size analyses equipment Litesizer 500; Differential scanning calorimeter (DSC).
- *Thin Films Centre:* advanced thin film deposition services: Roll-to-Roll PVD semi-industrial large scale PVD Magnetron deposition; Epitaxial Dual Magnetron Sputtering (HIPIMS, DC, RF); Multifunctional cluster tool R&D SAF 25/50 (HIPIMS, e-beam, organic-inorganic evaporation); PLD oxide and sulphide epitaxial grows; ALD Savannah; MOCVD; AP-CVD; Spin coater Laurell WS400/WS650.
- *Nanotechnology Centre:* Operating a 650 m² cleanroom with cleanliness level ranging from ISO 4 to ISO 8 standards for micro and nanofabrication: Mask aligner Suss MAG Gen 4; EBL Raith eLine Plus; Laser writer Heidelberg MPG 101; Wire bonder F&S Bonder 53107&5332; Dry etching facility PlasmaPro 100 ICP 300; Microfluidics Pilot Line including injection moulding and ultrasonic welding tools.

THEORETICAL MATERIAL SCIENCE AND MODELLING

State of the art

Large-scale computer simulations serve as an efficient tool for designing of new functional materials, interpretation of experiments and understanding of their electronic, structural, chemical, optical and dielectric properties [1-4]. Of special importance are nowadays nanomaterials and low-dimensional systems, as well as to modelling of processes under realistic working conditions, i.e. high and low temperatures and gas pressures, harsh radiation environment, etc. Thermodynamic approach based on the first principles total energy calculations of advanced materials and their vibrational properties is very efficient [1,2]. Most of the theoretical researches are performed in close collaboration with experiments. Of great importance is understanding the specific role of impurities in materials performance, e.g. band engineering of band gaps for water splitting, photovoltaics, and in materials radiation resistance [3,4].

Our position

The two Theoretical Laboratories at ISSP UL (Laboratory of Computer Modelling of Electronic Structure of Solids and Laboratory of Kinetics in Self-Organizing Systems) focus on multiscale computer modeling of advanced materials, combining ab initio, kinetic Monte Carlo, and Molecular Dynamics methods. Our theoretical activities [5-35] cover the entire spectrum of problems mentioned above in state of the art part.

Of special importance is the design of new materials for energy applications: piezoelectrics for energy harvesting [5], fuel cells for converting chemical energy into electricity, hydrogen production through photostimulated water splitting [6, 7], optical and dielectric materials for fusion reactors [8,9], and photovoltaics [10]. This work emphasizes the impact of defects and impurities in materials relevant for energy applications.

Both labs have a strong background in large-scale first-principles computer simulations on advanced materials, their surfaces, interfaces and nanostructures. Massive parallel computer modelling combines commercial quantum mechanical codes with custom-built thermodynamic analysis, empirical potential approaches, molecular dynamics and kinetic Monte Carlo techniques. This comprehensive approach provides reliable atomic and electronic structures of complex advanced materials and nanomaterials, and a multi-scale understanding of physical-chemical processes in a variety of materials with technological applications. For instance, we study the influence of the shape and size of perovskite nanoparticles on the piezoelectricity and photostimulated water splitting based on ab initio calculations. Different ferroelectric and semiconductor particles with defined sizes and shapes of plates, cubes and/or wires are synthesized by our partners and systematically self-assembled on a substrate, e.g., for the energy-harvesting devices. We developed theory of such self-assembling process and suggest how to control this process.

Our main focus is on the following topics:

- Defects in solid state. Computer modelling of the atomic, electronic, and magnetic structure of pristine and defective solids and interfaces, including nanostructured materials [5-35].
- 2 Materials for nuclear fusion applications [8, 9, 16, 17, 25].
- Surfaces and interfaces of materials. Calculations of surface property of nanostructured materials for efficient water splitting (e.g. 2D layered materials, titania, ABO3-type perovskites) [6, 18, 20].

- Vibrational properties of defects in materials. First principles calculations of the vibrational properties of nanostructured materials. Calculations of the IR and RAMAN spectra for hybrid nanostructures [15, 16, 17, 19, 23, 26].
- The electronic structure and processes at nanoscale. First principles calculations of electronic properties of nanomaterials and heterostructures at nanoscale [6, 18, 20, 23]. Excited state calculations of hybrid nanostructures for photocatalysis [24].
- Calculations of the properties of hybrid metallic-carbon nanotubes and semiconductor nanowires.
 First principles calculations of charge transfer processes in nanostructured photoelectrodes.
 Computer simulations of adsorption properties of Cu-decorated graphene in the presence of external electric field [29]. Analysis of mechanical properties of nanowires [30].
- Study of perspective materials to be used in UV photon sensors [6, 8, 12], water splitting [6, 7, 18, 20-24, 31], p-type conductors [12], optics for fusion reactors diagnostics and plasma heating [16, 17, 25], photostimulated hydrogen production upon perovskite nanoparticles [7, 18, 26], advanced phosphors for LED-type light sources [26, 32].
- Ab initio molecular dynamics and machine learning methods for description the structural and vibrational properties of solids and interpretation of EXAFS measurements [27, 28].
- Analysis and critical review of modelling methods and pathway search for accurate comparison of theoretical and experimental data [13, 30-35].

Future activities

Labs future activities will be focused on understanding of chemical and physical material properties in the photocatalytic processes and design of new effective photocatalysts for water splitting with hydrogen production based on perovskites crystallites and nanoparticles. This will require a combination of the band gap engineering and selection of proper catalysts, in a close collaboration with leading experimental teams in Europe Our activities in these areas are already well-recognized internationally. In most projects, we have industrial partners, which are supposed to realize our theoretical predictions into real applications.

Most of our future activities will address energy challenges, including advancements in batteries, fuel cells, photovoltaic, nuclear fuels, functional materials for fusion reactors, water splitting. For efficient water splitting using nanocrystals, we aim to identify ways to improve the efficiency of renewable energy conversion devices, focusing first on water splitting in electrochemical cells based on nano-scaled oxides.

The primary objective will be to develop multiscale modeling approaches and roadmaps that integrate various state-of-the-art theoretical methods, enabling comprehensive and advanced predictions of material properties. This effort aims to bridge knowledge gaps between different theoretical methodologies and computational codes, facilitating the discovery of novel materials for energy conversion. We will conduct large-scale computer simulations of various nano-materials, particularly those based on ABO3 perovskites and complex oxides, modeling water splitting processes, intermediate products, and assessing efficiency based on polarity and composition. In collaboration with top European experimental teams, we will also integrate machine-learning approaches with advanced computational techniques, including non-adiabatic molecular dynamics (NAMD) and time-dependent DFT (TDDFT), to understand and predict properties of heterojunction photocatalysts and defect-induced properties of solids.

Another key objective is the theoretical prediction of new cathode materials for fuel cells that can effectively operate at intermediate temperatures, transforming chemical energy into electricity. This requires understanding of: (i) the decisive structural properties for sufficient proton conductivity; (ii)

conditions for the majority of proton uptake by acid-base water incorporation or by redox reaction; (iii) link between mechanical properties and water incorporation. The primary target materials of the proposed research are perovskite-type ferrites and cobaltites.

Key research directions and objectives for developing materials in sustainable energy applications:

- 2 Development of multiscale modeling approaches and roadmaps for advanced materials modelling.
- ² Use of machine learning for design of new nanomaterials as well as optimization of heterojunction photocatalysts and other electrochemical reactions.
- ☑ The improvement of water splitting on faceted surfaces of perovskite nanoparticles and doped semiconductors.
- 2 Oxygen and hydrogen production mechanism, kinetics and thermodynamics upon water splitting.
- ² The role of defects and dopants in epitaxial growth of thin films.
- Calculations of the excited states of insulating and semiconducting materials.
- ² The properties of defects in the bulk, thin films and surfaces of binary and complex halides and oxides.
- 2 Advanced new materials for photovoltaics, halide perovskites, LED light sources.
- 2 Modelling and improvement of proton ceramic fuel cells based e.g. on double perovskites.
- 2 Employing DFT and molecular dynamics to interpret and validate experimental data on various materials, including nano- and heterostructures.

Networking

Abroad:

- 2 Belgium: Namur Institute of Structured Matter, University of Namur, Dr. M. Achehboune
- 2 China: Chongqing University of Posts and Telecommunications, Prof. C-G. Ma
- 2 Estonia: University of Tartu, Prof. A. Lushchik. Prof. M. Brik
- Germany: DESY, Hamburg, Dr. A. Kotlov; Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Prof. T. Scherer; Stuttgart, Max Planck Institut für Festkörperforschung, Dr R. Merkle; University Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Prof. K. Exner; MBN Research Center gGmbH, Prof. A.V. Solov'yov;
- 2 Greece: Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Prof. J. Kioseoglou
- Italy: University of Turin, Prof. R. Dovesi
- 2 Israel: Technion, Prof. M. Toroker; Weizmann Institute of Science, Prof. I. Lubomisrsky
- 2 Japan: Waseda University, Tokyo, Prof. T. Yamamoto
- Kazakhstan: L.N. Gumilyov Eurasian National University, Astana, Prof. Dauletbekova; Institute of Nuclear Physics, Astana, Dr. M. Zdorovets
- 2 Poland: Jan Długosz University, Częstochowa, Prof. M. Piasecki
- 2 Serbia: Vinča Institute of Nuclear Sciences, University of Belgrade, Prof. M. Dramićanin
- 2 Slovenia: Ljubljana, Jožef Stefan Institute, prof. M. Kržmanc
- 2 Spain: Madrid, CIEMAT, Dr. R. Vila
- 2 Switzerland: Paul Scherrer Institute, Dr. M. Krack
- 2 Taiwan: Taiwan National University, Prof. J.C.S. Wu
- Ukraine: Berdyansk State Pedagogical University, Zaporizhzhia, Prof. Yana Suchikova; Lviv Polytechnic National University, Prof. H. Klym
- 2 USA, University of Maryland, Dept of Materials Science and Engineering, Prof. M. Kuklja

References

1. R. A. Evarestov, Quantum Chemistry of Solids. (Springer series in solid state, vol. 153, Berlin, 2018).

- 2. C. Franchini, Hybrid functionals applied to perovskites. (Topical review). J.Phys.: Cond. Matt., 26, (2014) 253202.
- 3. M. Stoneham, Theory of Defects in Solids (Oxford University Press, 2003).
- 4. N. Itoh, A.M. Stoneham, Materials Modification by Electronic Excitation (Cambridge Uni. Press, 2000)
- 5. G. Zvejnieks, L.L. Rusevich, D. Gryaznov, E.A. Kotomin. Interface-induced enhancement of piezoelectricity in the (SrTiO3)m/(BaTiO3)M-m superlattice for energy harvesting applications. -- Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 21 (2019) 23541-23551.
- D. Bocharov, S. Piskunov, Yu.F. Zhukovskii, and R.A. Evarestov. Ab Initio calculations on the electronic structure and photocatalytic properties of two-dimensional WS2 (0001) nanolayers of varying thickness. -- Phys. Status Solidi RRL, 13 (2019) 1800253.
- M. Sokolov, Yu.A. Mastrikov, D. Bocharov, V. Krasnenko, G. Zvejnieks, K.S. Exner, E.A. Kotomin. Computational study of oxygen evolution reaction on flat and stepped surfaces of strontium titanate. Catal. Today 432 (2024) 114609.
- 8. V. Seeman, A. Lushchik, E. Shablonin, G. Prieditis, D. Gryaznov, A. Platonenko, E.A. Kotomin, A.I. Popov. Atomic, electronic and magnetic structure of an oxygen interstitial in neutron-irradiated Al2O3 single crystals. Sci. Rep., 10 (2020) 15852.
- 9. E.A. Kotomin, V.N. Kuzovkov, A. Lushchik, A.I. Popov, E. Shablonin, T. Scherer, E. Vasil'chenko. The annealing kinetics of defects in CVD diamond irradiated by Xe ions. Crystals 14 (2024) 546.
- 10.J. Grechenkov, A. Gopejenko, D. Bocharov, I. Isakovica, A.I. Popov, M.G. Brik, S. Piskunov. Ab initio modeling of CuGa1–xInxS2, CuGaS2(1–x)Se2x and Ag1–xCuxGaS2 chalcopyrite solid solutions for photovoltaic applications. Energies 16 (2023), 4823.
- 0. Pacherova, 11.M. Tyunina, L.L. Rusevich, E.A. Kotomin, Т. Kocourek, A. Dejneka. growth of perovskite oxide films facilitated by vacancies. Epitaxial oxygen J. Mater. Chem. C 9 (2021) 1693-1700.
- A. Chesnokov, D. Gryaznov, N.V. Skorodumova, E.A. Kotomin, A. Zitolo, M. Zubkins, A. Kuzmin, A. Anspoks, J. Purans. The local atomic structure and thermoelectric properties of Ir-doped ZnO: hybrid DFT calculations and XAS experiments. J. Mater. Chem. C, 9 (2021) 4948–4960
- 13. G. Zvejnieks, L.L. Rusevich, E. Heifets, E.A. Kotomin, D. Gryaznov. A visual representation for accurate local basis set construction and optimization: A case study of SrTiO3 with hybrid DFT functionals. Crystals 14 (2024) 671.
- D. Zablotsky, L.L. Rusevich, G. Zvejnieks, V. Kuzovkov, E. Kotomin. Manifestation of dipole-induced disorder in self-assembly of ferroelectric and ferromagnetic nanocubes. Nanoscale 11 (2019) 7293-7303.
- 15. A. Platonenko, V. Pankratov, E.A. Kotomin, A. Dauletbekova, A.I. Popov. Ab initio study on the vibrational and electronic properties of radiation-induced defects in potassium bromide. Crystals 14 (2024) 161.
- L.L. Rusevich, E.A. Kotomin, A.I. Popov, G. Aiello, T.A. Scherer, A. Lushchik. The electronic, vibrational and dielectric properties of diamond crystals with neutral vacancies: first principles study. Opt. Mater. 150 (2024) 115222.
- L.L. Rusevich, E.A. Kotomin, A.I. Popov, G. Aiello, T.A. Scherer, A. Lushchik. The vibrational and dielectric properties of diamond with N impurities: First principles study. Diamond & Relat. Mater., 130 (2022) 109399.
- O. Lisovski, S. Piskunov, D. Bocharov, S. Kenmoe. 2D slab models of nanotubes based on tetragonal TiO2 structures: validation over a diameter range. Nanomaterials 11 (2021), 1925.
- A. Platonenko, D. Gryaznov, A.I. Popov, R. Dovesi, E.A. Kotomin. First principles calculations of the vibrational properties of single and dimer F-type centers in corundum crystals. J. Chem. Phys. 153 (2020) 134107.

- 20. M. Sokolov, Yu.A. Mastrikov, G. Zvejnieks, D. Bocharov, E.A. Kotomin, V. Krasnenko. Water splitting on multifaceted SrTiO3 nanocrystals: a computational study. Catalysts, 11 (2021) 1326.
- 21. Y.-Y. Tai, J.C.S. Wu, W.-Y. Yu, M. Maček Kržmanc, E.A. Kotomin. Photocatalytic water splitting of improved strontium titanate for simultaneous separation of H2 in a twin photoreactor. Appl. Catal. B, 324 (2023) 122183.
- 22. Y.-G. Lee, Y.-C. Cheng, Y.-T. Lin, J.C.S. Wu, W.-Y. Yu, M. Maček Kržmanc, S. Gupta, E.A. Kotomin. Photocatalytic water splitting of Al-doped RhxCr2–xO3/SrTiO3 synthesized by flux method: Elucidating the role of different molten salts. J. Phys. Chem. C 127 (2023) 9981–9991.
- V. Krasnenko, L.L. Rusevich, A. Platonenko, Y.A. Mastrikov, M. Sokolov, E.A. Kotomin. Water Splitting on Multifaceted SrTiO3 Nanocrystals: Calculations of Raman Vibrational Spectrum. Materials, 15 (2022) 4233.
- 24. Y.-P. Lin, E. Neilande, H. Bandarenka, S. Zavatski, I. Isakovica, S. Piskunov, D. Bocharov, E.A. Kotomin. Excited state calculations of Cu-doped anatase TiO2 (101) and (001) nanofilms. Crystals 14 (2024) 247.
- 25. V.N. Kuzovkov, E.A. Kotomin, A. Lushchik, A.I. Popov, E. Shablonin. The annealing kinetics of the F-type defects in MgAl2O4 spinel single crystals irradiated by swift heavy ions. Opt. Mater. 147 (2024) 114733
- 26. L.L. Rusevich, M.G. Brik, D. Gryaznov, A.M. Srivastava, I. Chervyakov, G. Zvejnieks, D. Bocharov, E.A. Kotomin. First-principles linear combination of atomic orbitals calculations of K2SiF6 crystal: structural, electronic, elastic, vibrational and dielectric properties. Materials 17 (2024) 4865.
- D. Bocharov, M. Krack, Yu. Rafalskij, A. Kuzmin, J. Purans. Ab initio molecular dynamics simulations of negative thermal expansion in ScF3: The effect of the supercell size. Comput. Mater. Sci., 171 (2020) 109198.
- 28. A.V. Shapeev, D. Bocharov, A. Kuzmin. Validation of moment tensor potentials for fcc and bcc metals using EXAFS spectra. Comput. Mater. Sci., 210 (2022) 111028.
- 29. O. Lisovski, S. Piskunov, D. Bocharov, Yu.F. Zhukovskii, J. Kleperis, A. Knoks, P. Lesnicenoks. CO2 and CH2 adsorption on copper-decorated graphene: predictions from first principle calculations. Crystals, 12 (2022), 194.
- 30. S. Vlassov, D. Bocharov, B. Polyakov, M. Vahtrus, A. Šutka, S. Oras, V. Zadin, A. Kyritsakis. Critical review on experimental and theoretical studies of elastic properties of wurtzitestructured ZnO nanowires. Nanotechnol. Rev., 12 (2023) 20220505.
- 31. S. Zavatski, E. Neilande, H. Bandarenka, A.I. Popov, S. Piskunov, and D. Bocharov, Density functional theory for doped TiO2: current research strategies and advancements, Nanotechnology, 35 (2024) 19.
- 32. M. G. Brik, C. G. Ma, T. Yamamoto, M. Piasecki, A.I. Popov. First-principles methods as a powerful tool for fundamental and applied research in the field of optical materials. Phosphor Handbook, CRC Press, (2022) pp. 1-26.
- 33. I. Derkaoui, M. Achehboune, R.I. Eglitis, A.I. Popov, A. Rezzouk. Overview of the structural, electronic and optical properties of the cubic and tetragonal phases of PbTiO3 by applying Hubbard potential correction. Materials, 16 (2023) 4302.
- 34. M. G. Brik, A. M. Srivastava, A.I. Popov. A few common misconceptions in the interpretation of experimental spectroscopic data. Optical Materials, 127 (2022) 112276.
- 35. H. Klym, I. Karbovnyk, S. Piskunov, A.I. Popov. Positron annihilation lifetime spectroscopy insight on free volume conversion of nanostructured MgAl2O4 ceramics. Nanomaterials, 11 (2022) 3373.

SPECTROSCOPY TECHNIQUES FOR ADVANCED MATERIALS RESEARCH

State of the art

With the advancement of modern science, the investigation of materials at the atomic and molecular scales has increasingly relied on sophisticated spectroscopic techniques. These methods are indispensable for examining the electronic structure, chemical composition, and dynamic behaviour of materials across diverse applications – from photonics and quantum technologies to energy storage and catalysis. Spectroscopy offers a non-destructive, element-specific, and often time-resolved perspective into the fundamental properties of matter.

Core techniques such as UV-Vis, infrared (IR), Raman, photoluminescence (PL), and fluorescence spectroscopy remain foundational in characterizing optical and vibrational properties. Meanwhile, more advanced methods like X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS), electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) soft X-ray and VUV radiation offer deep insights into electronic states, oxidation environments, and molecular structures. These tools are indispensable in studying bulk materials, glasses, thin films, nanomaterials, quantum dots, and hybrid systems.

Our position

The **Laboratory of Spectroscopy** is a state-of-the-art research centre dedicated to the optical, electronic, and magnetic characterization of advanced materials. It is dedicated to the development and application of cutting-edge spectroscopic techniques and methodologies.

Recent advances in data acquisition and computational analysis have transformed spectroscopy into a high-throughput, data-rich discipline. Machine learning and multivariate analysis are increasingly used to interpret complex spectra, identify hidden patterns, and accelerate materials discovery. Our lab actively develops and applies these tools to enhance the precision and efficiency of spectroscopic investigations.

In addition to standard instrumentation, we design and build custom setups tailored to specific research challenges. This flexibility allows us to explore novel materials and phenomena, including those relevant to nonlinear optics (NLO), quantum computing, photovoltaics, and catalysis.

By combining experimental innovation with theoretical modelling and data science, the **Laboratory of Spectroscopy** plays a central role in advancing materials research and enabling next-generation technologies.

Core Capabilities and Instrumentation

The lab is equipped with a comprehensive suite of advanced instruments that enable both steady-state and time-resolved spectroscopic investigations:

- **UV-Vis-NIR spectroscopy:** based on Cary 7000 Spectrophotometer a high-precision instrument for absorption and reflectance measurements in spectral range from 200 to 3300 nm with unprecedented dynamic diapason up to OD 8. Allows to determine linear optical properties of materials and nanostructures in solutions and in solid state like crystals, powders, thin films and in optical fibres.
- **Spectroscopic Ellipsometry**: The Woolam RC2-X/Basic-NIR (spectral range 210 1690 nm) spectroscopic ellipsometer offers full Mueller matrix measurement capabilities, precise azimuthal

rotation, and temperature control, allowing detailed studies of various complex material systems. Such crucial characteristics for applications of multilayer systems and optical coatings as film thicknesses, and spectra of complex refractive index could be determined.

- **FTIR Spectroscopy**: The Bruker Vertex 80v Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectrometer (spectral range: 10,000–10 cm⁻¹) probes vibrational modes and chemical bonding in organic, inorganic, and hybrid materials. Equipped with a high-resolution microscope and a cryostat, it enables spatially resolved measurements and temperature-dependent studies. This setup is ideal for investigating molecular structure, phase transitions, and chemical composition with high sensitivity and spectral resolution under vacuum conditions.
- **Raman Spectroscopy**: The TriVista CRS Confocal Raman Microscope (TR777) provides high spatial and spectral resolution vibrational analysis for studying crystal structure, internal stress, phonon interactions, and phase transitions. The system is equipped with a confocal microscope, making it ideal for the investigation of thin films, nanowires, and other micro- and nanoscale materials. It features ultra-narrow band notch filters enabling low-frequency Raman measurements down to 10 cm⁻¹, and offers high spectral resolution <0.1 cm⁻¹, allowing precise detection of subtle vibrational features.

Ultrafast Time-Resolved Spectroscopy

- **Femtosecond Wavelength-Tuneable Laser Spectroscopy System**: The Light Conversion PHAROS/ORPHEUS system, used as an excitation source in combination with Time-Correlated Single Photon Counting (TCSPC) by the PicoQuant HydraHarp 400, is a powerful platform for advanced photonics research. This setup enables the investigation of ultrafast carrier dynamics, exciton lifetimes, and other transient phenomena. Its wavelength tunability and high temporal precision make it ideal for studying a wide range of materials and photo-induced processes.
- Picosecond Wavelength-Tunable Laser Spectroscopy System (PL2210A-1k-SH-TH+PG403-SH) with a Streak Camera (HAMAMATSU C10910-01 with a spectrometer Kymera 328i-B2): The system offers a broad excitation spectral range from 210 to 2600 nm. It is integrated with a high-performance streak camera and a spectrometer, enabling high-resolution time-resolved photoluminescence studies. The streak camera provides time resolution better than 20 ps and operates in the 200–850 nm wavelength range, allowing precise registration of ultrafast optical signals. This setup is particularly suited for scintillator research and the investigation of fast emission dynamics in advanced materials.

Spectroscopy of Nonlinear optical properties of materials

- Spectroscopy of first hyperpolarizability related NLO properties of materials by means of Hyper Rayleigh Scattering and Second Harmonic Generation (Maker fringe and Kurtz powder) is realized in custom built setups based on femtosecond tunable laser system as excitation source.
- Spectroscopy of nonlinear optical phenomena related to the second and higher hyperpolarizability is studied by Polarization-resolved Z-scan, Beam-Deflection and Third Harmonic Generation methods with femtosecond and picosecond tunable laser systems as excitation source.

Defect and Trap State Analysis

• Electron Paramagnetic Resonance and Optically Detected Magnetic Resonance: The Bruker Elexsys-II E500 CW EPR spectrometer and the Oxford Instruments SM4000-8 ODMR system are advanced tools for the identification and characterization of paramagnetic defects, impurity centres, and charge trapping mechanisms. The EPR system operates in both X-band and Q-band frequency ranges, offering high versatility for probing a wide range of spin systems. It also includes

CW-ENDOR capabilities in X-band for enhanced resolution of hyperfine interactions. With an absolute sensitivity of 1.0×10^9 spins and a magnetic field range up to 17 kG, it enables precise detection and analysis of weak paramagnetic signals in complex materials. The ODMR system supports multiple detection modes, including Photoluminescence-EPR, Recombination Luminescence-EPR, and Magnetic Circular Dichroism-EPR. It is capable of operating across a magnetic field range of 0–8 T, allowing detailed studies of spin-dependent optical transitions and magnetic field effects on luminescence. Together, these systems provide a comprehensive platform for advanced magnetic resonance studies, enabling deep insights into the electronic and spin properties of a wide variety of functional materials.

• Thermally Optically Stimulated Luminescence Reader: The Lexsyg Research LMS system from Freiberg Instruments is a versatile luminescence reader equipped with both X-ray and beta (Sr-90) radiation sources, primarily designed for dosimetry applications. It supports the measurement of Thermally Stimulated Luminescence and Optically Stimulated Luminescence glow curves and spectral analysis. This system enables detailed characterization of trap states and charge carrier dynamics, offering valuable insights into thermal stability, recombination processes, and defect-related phenomena in luminescent materials. Its precise control over stimulation and detection parameters makes it a powerful tool for both fundamental research and applied studies in radiation dosimetry and material science.

Surface and Chemical Analysis

• X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy: The Thermo Fisher ESCALAB Xi system provides highresolution surface chemical analysis with exceptional sensitivity, enabling detailed investigation of elemental composition, oxidation states, and chemical bonding environments within the top few nanometers at the surface of a material. Equipped with a monatomic and cluster Ar ion gun, it also supports depth profiling, making it ideal for analysing compositional gradients and layered structures in thin films and interfaces.

Beyond conventional XPS, the system includes **Reflection Electron Energy Loss Spectroscopy** (REELS), which enables analysis of electronic structure, including band gap estimation, surface plasmon excitations, and dielectric properties. This technique complements XPS by offering insights into near-surface electronic transitions and energy loss mechanisms.

Additionally, the system is equipped with **Ultraviolet Photoelectron Spectroscopy** (UPS), which uses ultraviolet photons to probe the valence band structure, work function, and density of states near the Fermi level. UPS is particularly valuable for studying the electronic properties of semiconductors, metals, and organic materials, especially in optoelectronic, photovoltaic, and surface engineering applications. Together, these integrated techniques form a comprehensive platform for advanced surface and electronic structure characterization, supporting a wide range of materials research and device development efforts.

Future activities

Building on its strong foundation in luminescence research and optical spectroscopy, the **Laboratory of Spectroscopy** aims to expand its research and technological capabilities through the following key initiatives. These efforts will be driven by a commitment to innovation, interdisciplinary collaboration, and the pursuit of real-world impact.

1. **Integration of In Situ and Operando Spectroscopy.** Future efforts will focus on enabling realtime monitoring of materials under operational conditions, particularly for catalytic, electrochemical, and battery systems. This will provide insights into dynamic changes in electronic and structural properties.

- 2. **Expansion of Synchrotron Collaborations.** The lab plans to deepen its partnerships with synchrotron facilities such as MAX IV and DESY, while also establishing new collaborations with emerging light sources across Europe. These efforts will ensure continued access to cutting-edge instrumentation not available in standard laboratories.
- 3. **Exploration of Quantum Materials and Nanostructures.** Research will increasingly target lowdimensional and quantum-confined systems, including 2D materials, perovskites, and quantum dots, with a focus on their optical and electronic behaviour under extreme conditions.
- 4. **Development of Optical Sensors and Functional Devices.** The laboratory will pursue the design and fabrication of novel optical sensors based on luminescent and photoactive materials. These sensors will be tailored for applications in environmental monitoring, biomedical diagnostics, and industrial process control.
- 5. **Implementation of Machine Learning for Spectral Analysis.** The lab will adopt data-driven approaches to enhance the interpretation of complex spectroscopic data, enabling faster and more accurate identification of material properties and behaviours.
- 6. **Exploration of New Application Areas.** In parallel with fundamental research, the lab will actively seek interdisciplinary collaborations to apply spectroscopic techniques in emerging fields such as cultural heritage preservation, space science, and smart materials.
- 7. Education, Training, and Public Outreach. The laboratory is committed to fostering scientific literacy and developing human capital through comprehensive education and training programs. This includes mentoring students and early-career researchers, organizing workshops and summer schools, and participating in international exchange initiatives. Public outreach activities such as science communication events, open lab days, and collaborations with schools will be expanded to engage broader audiences and highlight the societal relevance of spectroscopy.

Networking

To access high-resolution analytical capabilities otherwise unavailable in standard laboratory settings, the Laboratory of Spectroscopy maintains active collaborations with leading synchrotron radiation facilities, including **MAX IV** (Lund) and **DESY** (Hamburg). These partnerships enable the use of cutting-edge soft X-ray and vacuum ultraviolet (VUV) radiation for the excitation of luminescence, as well as for detailed analysis of luminescence spectra and decay kinetics. These partnerships significantly expand the lab's analytical capabilities and support frontier research in quantum materials, nanostructures, and functional interfaces.

- Sarsuns K., Kemere M., Karzinins A., Klimenkovs I., Berzins A., Sarakovskis A., Rekis T. Fine-Tuning Solid State Luminescence Properties of Organic Crystals via Solid Solution Formation: The Example of 4-Iodothioxanthone-4-Chlorothioxanthone System (2022) Crystal Growth and Design, 22 (8), pp. 4838 - 4844
- 2. Kim V.V., **Butikova J., Grube J., Sarakovskis A.**, Ganeev R.A. Plasma Dynamics Characterization for Improvement of Resonantly Enhanced Harmonics Generation in Indium and Tin Laser-Produced Plasmas (2022) Photonics, 9 (9), art. no. 600
- Pankratov V., Pankratova V., Popov A.I. Luminescence and Vacuum Ultraviolet Excitation Spectroscopy of Nanophosphors under Synchrotron Irradiation (2022) Physica Status Solidi (B) Basic Research, 259 (8), art. no. 2100475

- Sutka A., Malnieks K., Zubkins M., Pludons A., Šarakovskis A., Verners O., Egliitis R., Sherrell P.C. Tribovoltaic Performance of TiO₂ Thin Films: Crystallinity, Contact Metal, and Thermoelectric Effects (2023) ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 15 (27), pp. 33140 - 33147
- Botella R., Cao W., Celis J., Fernández-Catalá J., Greco R., Lu L., Pankratova V., Temerov F. Activating two-dimensional semiconductors for photocatalysis: a cross-dimensional strategy (2024) Journal of Physics Condensed Matter, 36 (14), art. no. 141501
- Ignatane L., Ignatans R., Prikulis J., Trausa A., Tipaldi C.F., Vanags E., Zubkins M., Smits K., Sarakovskis A. Fabrication of Large-Area High-Resolution Templates by Focused Ion Beam Combined with Colloidal Nanoparticle Dimer Deposition for SERS Substrates (2024) Nanomaterials, 14 (22), art. no. 1784
- 7. **Doke G., Krieke G., Rodionovs P., Nilova D., Antuzevics A.** Trap properties of a novel UV-A persistent phosphor Sr₃MgSi₂O₈:Ce³⁺ (2025) Journal of Rare Earths, 43 (4), pp. 676 683
- 8. Matthews T., Chabalala M.P., Mbokazi S.P., Zikhali M., Dolla T.H., **Sarakovskis A., Vaivars G.**, Yusuf T.L., Mohamed R., Maxakato N.W. Improving the electrocatalytic activity of Pd nanoparticles through electronic coupling interaction with a Ni₂P-MoS₂ hybrid support for ethanol electro-oxidation in an alkaline medium (2025) Sustainable Energy and Fuels, 9 (6), pp. 1552 1564
- Grundmanis N., Sarakovskis A., Lupilov A., Gostilo V., Owens A., Pudzs K. The X- and gamma-ray detection properties of CsPbBr₃ perovskite crystals grown by the Bridgman–Stockbarger method (2025) Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research, Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment, 1073, art. no. 170305
- 10. Amirulloieva N., Susinska J., Trimdale-Deksne A., **Ignatans R., Zubkins M., Gabrusenoks J., Sarakovskis A.**, Kunakova G. Growth and magnetotransport properties of semi-metallic WTe₂ nanoribbons (2025) APL Materials, 13 (4), art. no. 041128

THIN FILM AND COATING TECHNOLOGIES

State of the art

The global thin film and coating technologies market is projected to experience robust growth over the next several years, driven by advances in various industries such as electronics, automotive, medical devices, solar energy and glass industry including smart windows. By 2030, the thin film coatings market is expected to reach a value between \$17 billion to over \$40 billion, growing at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of around 5% to 5.4% depending on the specific segment and application [1]. Technological advancements such as Physical Vapor Deposition (PVD), Chemical Vapor Deposition (CVD), and Atomic Layer Deposition (ALD) are also shaping the industry. PVD holds a dominant share due to its versatility and cost-effectiveness, while CVD and ALD are gaining popularity for their precision in advanced applications like semiconductors. These technologies are considered as Green Nanotechnologies [2] and essential in enhancing the performance of optical, electronic, and photovoltaic devices, owing to their superior electrical, optical, and chemical properties.

The coatings find critical applications in various fields, from smart windows and solar cells to advanced sensors in emerging 5G communications, underscoring their importance in both energy efficiency and technological innovation. The European Union's commitment to achieving climate neutrality by 2050 highlights the role of thin films in supporting global sustainability goals [3]. Despite the anticipated growth,

the market faces challenges, including the relatively low efficiency of thin film materials and the fragmented use of individual materials in production.

Smart windows represent a transformative innovation in the quest for energy-efficient buildings, particularly in their ability to adapt to varying environmental conditions [4]. Traditional windows, which are static in nature, cannot dynamically adjust their optical properties, limiting their efficiency to specific seasons. This has led to the exploration of chromogenic materials, particularly those that exhibit reversible colour changes in response to external stimuli such as temperature (thermochromic) or light (photochromic). These materials allow the development of smart windows that can automatically regulate light and heat transmission, significantly enhancing energy savings [5]. Current state-of-the-art smart windows often rely on electrochromic devices, which, while effective, are complex and costly due to their multi-layered construction involving electrodes, electrolytes, and electrochromic films. This complexity has impeded their widespread adoption. In contrast, smart windows utilizing photochromic materials offer a more accessible and passive alternative. These windows are activated by solar light, functioning without the need for electricity or external control systems, thus simplifying their design and reducing costs. By automatically adjusting to environmental changes without human intervention, photochromic - thermochromic smart windows hold the potential to revolutionize building efficiency, offering a practical and cost-effective solution for reducing energy consumption across diverse climates and conditions.

Antimicrobial resistance and healthcare-associated infections (HAIs) are critical public health challenges, with HAIs affecting approximately 9 million people annually in Europe [6]. As the effectiveness of antibiotics diminishes, new strategies are urgently needed to reduce HAIs, particularly in clinical settings where high-traffic surfaces are hotspots for pathogen transmission. One promising approach is the application of antimicrobial coatings to surfaces prone to contamination [7]. These coatings, often termed antibacterial or antimicrobial surfaces, can prevent pathogens from attaching to surfaces or kill them upon contact.

Our position

With over 35 years of experience in vacuum deposition thin-film technologies and a well-equipped facility featuring advanced instruments and various characterization methods, ISSP UL has become a recognized centre of excellence for thin-film nanotechnologies in the Baltic region. This expertise significantly contributes to achieving Sustainable Development Goals, European targets for Clean Energy for all Europeans, the Smart Specialisation Strategy of Latvia, and contribute to the European Research Area.

Thin Films Laboratory (TFL) primarily focuses on the deposition of a diverse range of inorganic materials using various deposition techniques – magnetron sputtering, including High Power Impulse Magnetron Sputtering (HiPIMS), thermal and e-beam evaporation, Pulsed Laser Deposition (PLD), Metal Organic Chemical Vapour Deposition (MOCVD), and Atomic Layer Deposition (ALD). The laboratory's current scientific projects are dedicated to the development of novel smart materials and coatings. A list of selected publications and patents related to this activity is given below [8-23].

Recently, TFL has developed deposition method and conducted comprehensive studies on photochromic oxygen-containing yttrium hydride (YHO) [8-10], metastable yttrium monoxide (YO) [11,12], rhenium trioxide (ReO3) with metallic conductivity [13], layered WO3/ReO3, and mixed ReO3-WO3 [14] films. Notably, the photochromic contrast has improved from 40% with YHO alone to 55% in the two-layered structure of YHO/MoO3 [15] under specific measurement conditions. The advanced photochromic properties of YHO forms the basis for further research. The TFL team was recognized by the Latvian Academy of Sciences in 2023 for their outstanding achievements in applied science. The team demonstrated a notable photochromic effect, light-induced resistivity changes at room temperature and ambient pressure, and a superconducting filament effect in YHO and yttrium hydrides [16]. A roll-to-roll

(R2R) system for large-area coatings will be installed at ISSP UL and will primarily be used for developing chromogenic film deposition via magnetron sputtering.

HiPIMS offers significant potential for creating films with superior morphology, density, and smoothness, far surpassing those of conventional DC sputtering technologies. Recent developments include HiPIMS deposition technologies for aluminum-doped zinc oxide [17] and rhenium oxide films with varying rhenium oxidation states [18,19]. The antimicrobial properties of transparent and conductive WO3/Cu/WO3 [20,21] and ZnO/Cu/ZnO [22] coatings have been demonstrated, with improved stability of these properties achieved. The TFL has developed a deposition method at cryogenic temperatures to obtain metastable phases, such as amorphous ZnO-ZnO₂ [23]. The SAF25/50 R&D cluster plant (installed 2015, upgraded 2019) is a multifunctional, expandable, modular, and flexible system designed for the development of thin-film technologies. The plant includes an input/output chamber with an ion gun, a central substrate transfer chamber with a radial telescopic transport arm, and up to seven deposition chambers (thermal and e-beam evaporation, and magnetron sputtering) connected to the glovebox.

Future activities

The future research directions of the TFL will be closely aligned with recent trends in the European research area, as summarized in the Strategy Report and Roadmap developed by the European Strategy Forum ("Vision and Roadmap for European Raw Materials"). These activities will be in compliance with several goals and RIS3 priorities. The research will leverage the available ISSP UL clean room and thin-film facilities, in strong collaboration with industrial partners in Latvia and across the EU.

The "Smart Windows for Zero Energy Buildings" (SWEB 2023-2027) project (www.swebwindow.eu), led by the ISSP UL, is a significant research initiative under the Horizon Europe program, with a budget of \in 2.4 million. Over the next five years, SWEB aims to develop cutting-edge smart window (SW) technologies, materials, and products that contribute to the growth of zero-energy buildings, addressing EU-wide climate challenges. ISSP, a leader in Functional Materials and Coating research in Latvia, will focus on the development of advanced chromogenic materials - such as photochromic, thermochromic, and electrochromic films - using scalable, cost-effective deposition techniques. The project seeks to build a world-class research team by merging existing expertise at ISSP with new knowledge, particularly in the areas of chromogenic SW materials and technology transfer. This collaboration will not only enhance the research excellence and global visibility of ISSP but also support the broader European Research Area (ERA) by fostering innovation and industry-academic partnerships. Ultimately, SWEB aims to drive the EU towards sustainable zero-energy buildings, smart cities, and smart villages, contributing to long-term environmental goals and the EU's innovation capacity. Rare-earth oxyhydrides (REHO), specifically thin films of yttrium oxyhydride (YHO), a colour-neutral photochromic effect, making them promising for glazing applications. YHO films demonstrate high transmittance in the visible spectrum and can undergo significant photochromic darkening when exposed to solar light, achieving a contrast of 30-50%. These films can be produced using scalable methods suitable for the industry. Based on the study of existing literature, no other family of photochromic materials is able to combine all these desirable properties. However, challenges remain, including the need to optimize photochromic properties, a limited understanding of the photochromic mechanism, and degradation caused by humidity. The TFL proposes to address these issues by producing and studying RE-doped YHO films and multilayer coatings, including large-area coatings on polymer substrates produced using the R2R process.

The TFL aims to develop sustainable, non-toxic antibacterial coatings suitable for large-scale production. This involves exploring eco-friendly alternatives to traditional antibacterial agents, focusing on materials like TiO₂, WO₃, and ZnO, which generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) under UVA or blue light. TFL planning to develop functional multilayer metal oxide (MO) coatings capable of eliminating bacteria and preventing biofilm formation. The innovation lies in the use of ion-assisted techniques and magnetron

sputtering, which allow large-scale production, low deposition temperatures, and surface modification. The goal is to optimize lab-scale deposition technologies for large-scale applications using R2R technology.

Roll-to-roll (R2R) PVD magnetron deposition is an advanced manufacturing technique widely used in industries for creating thin films on flexible substrates. The R2R magnetron sputtering machine FHR RC-200-3 (GMBH) will be installed at ISSP UL in 2024. The R2R systems are designed for **continuous**, **large-scale production** of thin films on flexible substrates, such as polymers, metals, or foils. These systems are crucial for applications in **electronics**, **energy storage (e.g., flexible batteries)**, **sensors**, **photovoltaics and smart windows**. R2R PVD magnetron deposition technology is advancing the production of flexible batteries by enabling the deposition of electrodes, barrier layers, and electrolytes on flexible substrates.

Networking

Latvia:

- Sidrabe Vacuum;
- GroGlass;
- KEEP EU;
- RD ALFA Microelectronics;
- AGL Technologies.

Abroad

- Stockholm, Royal Institute of Technology (KTH);
- Stockholm, RISE Research Institutes of Sweden;
- Department of Engineering Sciences, Uppsala University;
- Fondazione Bruno Kessler, Centre for Materials;
- Germany, Fraunhofer Institute or Surface Engineering and Thin Films IST Braunschweig,;
- Norway, Institute for Energy Technology (IFE).

- 1. Thin Film Material Market Size, Share & Industry Analysis, By Type (CdTe, CIGS, and a-Si), By End-use Industry (Photovoltaic Solar Cells, Electrical & Electronics, Optical Coating, and Others), and Regional Forecast, 2024-2032. <u>https://www.fortunebusinessinsights.com/thin-film-material-market-107350</u>.
- 2. G.B. Smith, C.G. Granqvist, Green Nanotechnology: Solutions for Sustainability and Energy in the Built Environment, Nanotechnology 2010 CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- 3. EUROPEAN COMMISSION, The European Green Deal, Brussels, 11.12.2019, COM(2019) 640 final, COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION. https://commission.europa.eu
- 4. M.N. Mustafa et al., Smart window technology and its potential for net-zero buildings: a review, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 181 (2023) 113355.
- 5. S.Z. Sheng et al., Nanowire-based smart windows combining electro-and thermochromics for dynamic regulation of solar radiation, Nature Communications 14 (2023) 3231.
- 6. D. Iancu et al., Evaluating Healthcare-Associated Infections in Public Hospitals: A Cross-Sectional Study, Antibiotics 12 (2023) 1693.
- 7. S. Agarwalla et al., Antimicrobial Coatings: Current Mechanisms, Challenges, and Opportunities, Functional Coatings: Innovations and Challenges (2024) 231-274.
- 8. **M. Zubkins** et al., Optical properties of oxygen-containing yttrium hydride thin films during and after the deposition, Vacuum 203 (2022) 111218.
- 9. **H. Arslan** et al., Evidence of local structural distortions and subtle thermal disorder in transparent photochromic yttrium oxyhydride, Applied Physics Letters 124.15 (2024).
- 10. **H. Arslan** et al., Chemical state and atomic structure in stoichiovariants photochromic oxidized yttrium hydride thin films, Zeitschrift für Physikalische Chemie 0 (2024).
- 11. **H. Arslan** et al., Reactive pulsed direct current magnetron sputtering deposition of semiconducting yttrium oxide thin film in ultralow oxygen atmosphere: A spectroscopic and structural investigation of growth dynamics, Vacuum 211 (2023) 111942.
- 12. **H. Arslan**, A method for deposition of yttrium monoxide film and yttrium monoxide coating (EP No. EP4033003A1), European Patent Office (2022).
- 13. **B. Polyakov** et al., Understanding the conversion process of magnetron-deposited thin films of amorphous ReOx to crystalline ReO3 upon thermal annealing, Crystal Growth & Design 20 (2020) 6147-6156.
- 14. **B. Polyakov** et al., Unraveling the Structure and Properties of Layered and Mixed ReO3–WO3 Thin Films Deposited by Reactive DC Magnetron Sputtering, ACS omega 7 (2022) 1827-1837.
- 15. **E. Strods** et al., A photochromic double layer coating with enhanced contrast and darkening speed (EP application No. EPLV202400000056895), Patent Office Republic of Latvia (2024).
- 16. J. Purans et al., Local electronic structure rearrangements and strong anharmonicity in YH3 under pressures up to 180 GPa, Nature Communications 12 (2021) 1765.
- 17. **M. Zubkins** et al., High power impulse magnetron sputtering of Zn/Al target in an Ar and Ar/O₂ atmosphere: The study of sputtering process and AZO films, Surface and coatings technology 369 (2019) 156-164.
- 18. **M. Zubkins** et al., Tailoring of rhenium oxidation state in ReOx thin films during reactive HiPIMS deposition process and following annealing, Materials Chemistry and Physics 289 (2022) 126399.
- 19. **M. Zubkins** et al., A method for high power impulse magnetron sputtering deposition of rhenium oxide thin films (LV Patent No. LV15743A), Patent Office Republic of Latvia (2023).
- 20. **M. Zubkins** et al., A stability study of transparent conducting WO3/Cu/WO3 coatings with antimicrobial properties, Surfaces and Interfaces 41 (2023) 103259.
- 21. **V. Skvorcova** et al., An antimicrobial multilayer thin-film materials coating (EP No. EP4421207A1), European Patent Office (2023).
- 22. V. Vibornijs et al., Analysis of Antibacterial and Antiviral Properties of ZnO and Cu Coatings Deposited by Magnetron Sputtering: Evaluation of Cell Viability and ROS Production, Coatings 14 (2023) 14.
- 23. **M. Zubkins** et al., Amorphous ultra-wide bandgap ZnOx thin films deposited at cryogenic temperatures, Journal of Applied Physics 128 (2020) 215303.

MORPHOLOGY AND STRUCTURE

State of the art

In recent decades, material research has increasingly focused on nano-sized and nanostructured materials and devices. Consequently, high-resolution imaging and analytical measurement systems operating at these critical scales are essential for advancing new materials and technologies. Techniques like electron microscopy (EM) and atomic force microscopy (AFM) remain fundamental in characterizing nanomaterials, structures, and devices. Since its inception, EM has improved resolution dramatically—over a 10,000-fold increase in nine decades—enabling sub-Ångstrom-scale imaging with standard laboratory equipment.

While the pursuit of higher resolution has slowed, efforts now emphasize enhancing microscopy systems' versatility. Innovations include integrating spectroscopic techniques, developing advanced detectors, and refining in situ capabilities such as heating, cooling, and electrical biasing. These developments have enabled breakthroughs in studying challenging materials, including soft matter, biological samples, 2D materials, and systems requiring dynamic chemical and structural analysis.

Currently, computational microscopy is gaining prominence, driven by increased computational power and the vast data from ultra-fast detectors. Machine learning is improving image acquisition, automating data analysis, and enabling sample reconstruction from large datasets. Such methods, combining imaging with analytical techniques, are increasingly used to enhance accuracy and efficiency.

The Microscopy Laboratory focuses on advanced measurement techniques, developing cutting-edge microscopy methodologies to push the boundaries of material science research. Alongside specialized measurements, we prototype and create custom setups for unique research needs, contributing to both discovery and practical applications.

Parallel to advances in EM, other analytical methods have become routine in material studies, focusing on chemical composition. Notable examples include EDS (Energy Dispersive X-ray Spectroscopy), WDS (Wavelength Dispersive X-ray Spectroscopy), EELS (Electron Energy Loss Spectroscopy), XPS (X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy), ToF-SIMS (Time-of-Flight Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry), and XRD (X-ray Diffractometry). These methods, often paired with microscopy images, provide detailed insights into sample homogeneity, composition, and structure.

Modern microscopy systems now extend beyond imaging and analysis to include nanoscale manipulation. Advanced electron and ion microscopy systems, like SEM-FIB (Scanning Electron Microscopy-Focused Ion Beam), equipped with nano-manipulators, gas injection systems, and precision tools, enable nanofabrication alongside in situ electrical and optical measurements. These platforms facilitate rapid prototyping and testing of novel nanoscale devices, accelerating R&D processes. Additionally, SEM-FIB systems play a crucial role in specimen preparation for volumetric studies, enabling precise cross-sectioning and 3D reconstruction via slice-and-view techniques.

Our position

Microscopy laboratory was established in 2020. It focuses on the study of materials structure, morphology and composition, by using modern experimental and theoretical methods. This is a method-based laboratory, which provides services to other research laboratories.

The laboratory has four main pillars: electron microscopy imaging and spectroscopy (I), X-ray and electron diffraction methods (II), microhardness and nanoindentation methods (III) and atomic force microscopy (IV).

I. Electron microscopy is a relatively new direction at ISSP UL; however, a significant effort has been involved to obtain the expertise in this field. This has led to multiple research publications already each year electron microscopy contributing to around 30 research papers. In the past 10 years, three SEMs and one TEM were acquired. The newest addition is a state of the art SEM-FIB system Helios G5 UX. This microscope is equipped with a variety of detectors and add-ons (EBSD and EDS) allowing high-level analysis. Contrary to the conventional SEM systems, this one enables analysis and visualization not only of the specimen's surface, but volume as well and can be used for 3D reconstruction of material [1]. In addition, all measurements can be performed at low acceleration voltage with super-high resolution: 0.7 nm at 1 kV for SEM and 2.5 nm at 30 kV for FIB. The high resolution and low voltages of ion beam column

allows high quality lamella preparation even for challenging materials like polymers and porous nanostructured ceramics and thin films [2-4]. Focused ion beam system has been used to fabricate non-standard experimental vacuum trinode microelectronic device, which shows potential of using FIB not only for sample preparation, but also in prototype device fabrication [5]. Additionally, in-house computer script permits easier correllative microscopy between SEM and other instruments [6]. The other installed SEM-FIB system, Tescan Lyra is tailored to perform non-conventional studies right in the microscope, such as electrical, optical and force measurements. It is equipped with 5 nano-manipulators for *in situ* measurements and prototyping. Recently this instrument has been employed for *in situ* study showing in real time electromechanical resonance of Ga_2O_3 nanowires [7]. Both SEM-FIB systems are equipped with electrical and optical inputs for in-situ electrical and optical properties measurements.

II. X-ray diffraction (XRD) is one of the most used characterization methods at ISSP UL. As with most characterization methods, the analysis of the results is as important as the acquisition itself; therefore, the laboratory maintains access to the newest databases and has experience in efficient application of them. Two instruments are in active use: PANalytical X'Pert PRO and Rigaku MiniFlex Benchtop X-Ray diffractometer. X'Pert PRO device (max. 2.2 kW, 60 kV) can be used to provide high-resolution powder diffraction data, phase identification and quantitative phase analysis, analysis of thin films and coatings, crystallite size and strain determination, as well as has the ability to perform kinetic and non-ambient experiments. In addition, highly controlled in situ XRD measurements in temperature range from -170 to +450 °C can be performed. At the moment the system has been *in-house* modified so that the simultaneous heating/cooling, electric characterization or electric biasing experiments can be done while also getting insights into crystal lattice dynamics, this addition is very recent, and the articles are in the preparation stage. The second XRD device (MiniFlex benchtop X-ray diffractometer) is a multipurpose powder diffraction instrument used for rapid phase identification and quantitative phase analysis offering easy and fast sample loading and unloading, which is highly beneficial with large sample series and in industrial research.

Advanced XRD analysis of the results is available: Rietveld refinements of the XRD data are used to analyze X-ray diffraction data by fitting experimentally obtained spectra with theoretical models. Rietveld method is used to determine the phase distribution, sizes and shapes of crystallites and bond lengths of the material, as well as to identify structural defects and to solve crystal structure of the powder sample. The XRD data analysis can be used in combination with electron diffraction measurements done in TEM (SADP) and SEM (EBSD) and has been compared with the results obtained by EXAFS spectroscopy [8], showing reliability of the XRD machine and Rietveld refinement technique even on a laboratory based instrument.

III. Surface properties of samples are essential for many fields and applications and can be studied using advanced techniques like microhardness testing and nanoindentation. Our laboratory team has decades of expertise in these methods and operates a modern, high-precision nanoindentation system (Agilent G200) for detailed surface characterization. This setup allows us to accurately measure mechanical properties such as hardness, elastic modulus, and wear resistance at micro and nanoscale levels, making it valuable for research in materials science, engineering, and nanotechnology as demonstrated on diamond-like thin films [9]. Our facility is equipped to handle a broad range of materials, ensuring high-quality, reliable measurements for diverse applications.

IV. Atomic force microscopy (AFM) nowadays is used only for very specific studies of samples. Despite that, the researchers from the laboratory successfully apply this technique to various materials and structures, as reflected in published results. With the expansion of the laboratory, purchase of new hardware for AFM is being considered to replace outdated instruments. Looking ahead, we plan to further expand our capabilities by acquiring a state-of-the-art Atomic Force Microscope (AFM) with a variety of spectroscopy modes. This will enable us to perform even more comprehensive surface analysis, including mechanical, electrical, and chemical property measurements at the nanoscale, complementing our existing

expertise in microhardness and nanoindentation. Recently AFM was used to investigate adhesive properties of gold nanorods/nanoparticles on Si surface [6].

Scientific output in form of publications is accompanied by the fulfilment of multiple industry contracts, and laboratory provides services for third parties.

Future activities

The top priority for the laboratory is to continue providing high-quality support to other laboratories within the Institute, while also addressing the needs of industry. As a method-based support laboratory, our strategic development will focus on modern characterization techniques. Two parallel development threads will guide our growth: advancing instrumentation and refining analytical methods.

Instrumentation and Methods. To enhance our capabilities, the laboratory aims to expand the use of correlative microscopy, integrating multiple characterization techniques to analyze materials at various length scales. This includes the adoption of in situ microscopy, which allows real-time observation of materials under working conditions, providing critical insights for industrial R&D.

Although we already possess a broad range of measurement setups, upgrading and expanding them is crucial. For instance, our current AFM setup, which is limited to imaging, will be enhanced with advanced features such as Conductive Probe AFM, I-V Spectroscopy, Electrostatic Force Microscopy (EFM), Kelvin Probe Force Microscopy (KPFM), Piezoelectric Force Microscopy (PFM), and Scanning Capacitance Microscopy. These methods will significantly improve our ability to conduct extended R&D.

Our state-of-the-art SEM-FIB systems already offer excellent performance, but we plan to add in-situ SEM capabilities, such as "In-SEM" AFM, to enable simultaneous data acquisition from both devices for improved versatility. In addition, we are working on custom integration of optical light detection/injection with SEM imaging, an approach particularly beneficial for photonics-related research.

To further expand our elemental analysis, Time-of-Flight Secondary-Ion Mass Spectrometry (TOF-SIMS) and Wavelength-Dispersive Spectroscopy (WDS) will be added to the SEM-FIB system. These enhancements will provide comprehensive spatial, spectral, and in-volume analysis, enabling full data acquisition within a single system.

In the future, it would be highly beneficial to upgrade our TEM system with Electron Energy Loss Spectroscopy (EELS) detectors or replace it with a next-generation TEM featuring probe correction and a monochromator for enhanced resolution. This upgrade would significantly improve our capabilities in STEM and EELS, allowing for more detailed material analysis and enabling advanced studies in combination with X-ray absorption spectroscopy

Another recent initiative is the introduction of in situ mechanical/electrical/optical/ environmental A promising initiative is the introduction of in situ mechanical, electrical, optical, and environmental property probing in XRD. This approach enables the correlation of macroscopic material properties with atomic-level changes, providing valuable insights for both fundamental research and industrial applications.

Data Analysis and Machine Learning In addition to hardware upgrades, we are incorporating advanced data analysis methods. Machine learning (ML) and artificial intelligence (AI) will play an increasingly important role in our workflow. ML algorithms will help automate data analysis, identify hidden patterns, and provide deeper insights, while AI can simulate complex systems and optimize R&D processes. These technologies will enhance both the speed and accuracy of our research, supporting more efficient material characterization.

Complementary Methods and Industrial Applications A single technique often cannot provide complete information about a material. Therefore, we employ complementary characterization methods, mapping

local chemistry, crystallography, molecular structure, and functional properties. By cross-correlating data from various methods, we gain a deeper understanding of material behavior. Additionally, in situ measurements enable us to study materials and devices under real-world operating conditions, which is highly relevant for industrial R&D. Our goal is to incorporate these modern characterization methods into industrial R&D workflows, providing companies with the critical data they need to overcome technological barriers. The ability to design safe new materials and develop reliable manufacturing processes is key to rapid up-scaling and maintaining high-quality control, a priority for industry leaders.

Networking

As a support laboratory, we actively collaborate with colleagues from various local institutes and international research institutions, as well as industry partners. In fact, approximately half of our publications are the result of these collaborative efforts

References

- 1. M. Dunce, E. Birks, M. Antonova, L. Bikse, S. Dutkevica, O. Freimanis, M. Livins, L. Eglite, K. Smits, A. Sternberg, Influence of sintering temperature on microstructure of Na0.5Bi0.5TiO3 ceramics, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 884 (2021).
- K. Mālnieks, S. Kļimenko, P.C. Sherrell, A. Šarakovskis, R. Eglītis, K. Šmits, A. Linarts, A. Šutka, Niobium-Doped Titanium Dioxide: Effect of Conductivity on Metal-Semiconductor Tribovoltaic Devices, Advanced Materials Interfaces (2024).
- S. Bakhet, A. Tamulevičienė, A. Vasiliauskas, M. Andrulevičius, S. Meškinis, S. Tamulevičius, N. Kašėtienė, M. Malakauskas, R. Lelešius, D. Zienius, A. Šalomskas, K. Šmits, T. Tamulevičius, Antiviral and antibacterial efficacy of nanocomposite amorphous carbon films with copper nanoparticles, Applied Surface Science 670 (2024) art. no. 160642.
- 4. K. Laganovska, D. Olsteins, K. Smits, I. Bite, L. Bikse, Formation of translucent nanostructured zirconia ceramics, Journal of the European Ceramic Society 41 (13) (2021) pp. 6641-6648.
- L. Avotina, L. Bikse, Y. Dekhtyar, A.E. Goldmane, G. Kizane, A. Muhin, M. Romanova, K. Smits, H. Sorokins, A. Vilken, A. Zaslavskis, Tungsten–SiO₂–Based Planar Field Emission Microtriodes with Different Electrode Topologies, Materials 16 (17) (2023) art. no. 5781.
- 6. A. Trausa, C.F. Tipaldi, L. Ignatane, B. Polyakov, S. Oras, E. Butanovs, E. Vanags, K. Smits, Heat-Induced Fragmentation and Adhesive Behaviour of Gold Nanowires for Surface-Enhanced Raman Scattering Substrates, ChemEngineering 8 (1) (2024) art. no. 15.
- 7. A. Trausa, S. Oras, S. Vlassov, M. Antsov, T. Tiirats, A. Kyritsakis, B. Polyakov, E. Butanovs, Elastic modulus of β -Ga₂O₃ nanowires measured by resonance and three-point bending techniques, Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology 15 (2024) 704–712.
- 8. G. Krieke, G. Doke, A. Antuzevics, R. Ignatans, I. Pudza, A. Kuzmin, Structure and persistent luminescence of novel Pr-doped Mg3Lu2Ge3O12 garnet, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 957 (2023) art. no. 170421.
- H. Zhairabany, V. Dovydaitis, H. Khaksar, E. Vanags, E. Gnecco, L. Marcinauskas, Influence of molybdenum concentration on the microstructure and nanotribological properties of diamond-like carbon films, Journal of Materials Science 58 (33) (2023) pp. 13437-13448.